Beyond Lisbon 2010: perspectives from research and development for education policy in Europe

Beyond Lisbon 2010





2010: The 20th Anniversary of CIDREE

Beyond Lisbon 2010: perspectives from research and development for education policy in Europe

Edited by Sheila M. Stoney



© CIDREE: Consortium of Institutions for Development and Research in Education in Europe 2010

All rights reserved. No part of the publication may be reproduced, stored in an information storage and retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and recording, without prior permission in writing from the publisher.

Editor:

Sheila M. Stoney

Authors:

Jan van den Akker Roger Standaert Chris Van Woensel Seamus Hegarty Anne Looney Johan C. van Bruggen Alejandro Tiana Ferrer Olivier Rey Gábor Halász Stefan C. Wolter

Published in 2010 by the National Foundation for Educational Research The Mere, Upton Park, Slough Berkshire SL1 2DQ www.nfer.ac.uk

With thanks to Stacey Jackson, Patricia Lewis, Roger Wright, Janet Shipston and B&B Press.

ISBN: 978 1 906792 70 1

Order address: CIDREE Administration Landgoed – Abdijsite Roosendael B-2860 Sint-Katelijne-Waver Belgium cidree@roosendael.be www.cidree.org

How to cite this publication: Stoney, S.M. (Ed) (2010). Beyond Lisbon 2010: Perspectives from Research and Development for Education Policy in Europe (CIDREE Yearbook 2010). Slough: NFER.

Contents

	Foreword Jan van den Akker	V
	Editorial overview Sheila M. Stoney	vi
1	European education and the nation state: a globalisation perspective Roger Standaert	1
2	Unity in diversity: the cross-Europe debates surrounding key skills and competences Chris Van Woensel	27
3	Schooling for the 21st century: a personal view Seamus Hegarty	47
4	Teacher professional identity: restoration or reset? Anne Looney	69
5	The role of school inspection in ensuring quality in education: past, present and future Johan C. van Bruggen	85
6	Teachers in charge? Internal school assessment and evaluation in Europe Alejandro Tiana Ferrer	119
7	The use of external assessments and the impact on education systems Olivier Rey	137
8	The role of educational research and innovation in improving educational systems: a CIDREE perspective Gábor Halász	159

9	Building bridges: how research may improve curriculum	175
	policies and classroom practices	
	Jan van den Akker	
10	Efficiency in education: 20 years of talk and no progress? Stefan C. Wolter	197

Foreword

Jan van den Akker

Welcome to the CIDREE yearbook for 2010, *Beyond Lisbon 2010: perspectives from research and development for education policy in Europe*.

Every yearbook is special, but this volume is particularly special. Not only is this our 10th yearbook but it also highlights the celebration of CIDREE's 20th anniversary. Moreover, it is a fairly ambitious book. The title refers to a big theme that effectively captures the mission of all national CIDREE institutions: contributing through research and development to educational policy-making. It underlines the supranational, European challenge. We all work on more or less similar tasks and there is a lot to learn from one another.

Under the general heading, the various chapters address an interesting diversity of educational issues (as clearly introduced by Sheila Stoney in her editorial overview), from the effects of globalisation to measuring efficiency. The authors have been encouraged to both reflect on the past and to look to the future. And all have been encouraged to include a personal perspective. It did help that they were invited to write about a topic that characterises their work and experience, perhaps even their own professional mission and passions. And, of course, the scope and quality of the writings illustrate that the authors are, or have been, in leadership positions in national agencies and often, also, on a European level. Broad and stimulating visions are presented.

This book will be a rich addition to our anniversary conference in Oxford's academic setting in November 2010. However, I am sure it will also have an impact beyond this: at later stages other readers from policy as well as research and development will find inspiration in the writings.

At this point, I would like to express our sincere thanks to the excellent work of Sheila Stoney, the yearbook's editor. Having been a long-time prominent CIDREE colleague, she has been an inspiring, careful and able editor. And, of course, our thanks also go to all the authors who have contributed to this very memorable CIDREE yearbook.

Jan van den Akker CIDREE President 2009–2010 Director General SLO (Netherlands Institute for Curriculum Development)

Editorial overview

Sheila M. Stoney

About CIDREE

Through the publication of this yearbook and related activities, we celebrate 20 years since CIDREE was launched as 'a self-managing network of educational bodies that play a recognised national role in the field of curriculum development and/or educational research'.

A central aim of CIDREE has always been to 'mobilise and share high-level knowledge and information', and to, 'make new knowledge available through collaborative activities'. Despite having varied missions, all CIDREE institutions are aimed at supporting national policy-making in education. By generating, identifying and/or using the best available knowledge, they seek to improve the schools, curricula, teaching and assessment regimes within their own national systems. Membership of CIDREE has often contributed to their knowledge on how to do this. In fulfilling their missions, CIDREE institutions all share the same overarching goals of helping improve and transform the educational outcomes and life chances of children and young people and helping prepare them for citizenship within ever-changing national, European and world contexts.

The European policy context

Despite education being a national concern and outside the 'competence' of the EU, the last 20 years have seen growing activity to coordinate and bring more commonality to educational policy-making across member states. The Lisbon Treaty objectives for education and training have provided the key context for this over the last decade.¹ They have been set within an overall target of making Europe "the world's leading knowledge economy by 2010".² They have been enacted using the open method of coordination which involves exchanges of experience and good practice; joint policy development; benchmarking; and measurement of progress.

Progress reports and evaluations show that, whilst there was some progress towards meeting the ambitious 2010 objectives,³ there is still much to do. In 2009, a new strategic framework was agreed (ET2020).⁴ This has four strategic objectives: making lifelong learning and mobility a reality; improving the quality and efficiency of education and training; promoting equity, social cohesion and

active citizenship; and enhancing creativity and innovation, including entrepreneurship, at all levels of education and training.

When we came to plan this special yearbook, the Editorial Committee reflected on the themes which the publication should address in 2010, given the policy concerns shared by many states and the new joint agenda set by ET2020. We decided to be especially ambitious and to tackle some of the major issues faced by European educators as we enter the second decade of this millennium.

About the authors and chapters

Our yearbook agenda relates especially to the second objective of ET2020: improving the quality and efficiency of education. But its scope is considerably wider than this. Our list of chosen topics includes: the relevance and nature of schooling and the changing demands upon teachers; the roles that external and internal assessment and inspection can play in helping assure and improve school quality and outcomes; the new ways in which research and curriculum development can support effective policy-making; and the increasingly important question of assessing efficiency in education. At the same time, we have commissioned one or two chapters that look at the bigger picture and set educational developments within a European and world context.

The yearbook authors are all past and present leaders of CIDREE, or experts from CIDREE organisations. As their biographies, given at the beginning of each chapter, clearly demonstrate, they hold or have held key positions within national organisations and often play significant roles on the European and world educational stages. As such, they bring a unique wealth of experience and breadth of view to the challenging topics that they have each selected from our list of themes.

In preparing their chapters, we invited each author to reflect upon the development of their chosen area over the last 10 to 20 years, to take a European view and to help chart the best way forward. We wanted the pieces to be a personal perspective, based upon experience, and to be thought-provoking, challenging and constructive. We have been more than delighted with the results.

A glimpse into the yearbook

The chapters are diverse in style, scope and analysis, but a number of shared themes and messages for educational policy-making and improvement ring out from the varied texts. These will be highlighted in the commentary that follows.

Globalisation and education

The yearbook begins with a learned, global perspective from **Roger Standaert** (Belgium) who offers a layered analysis of the forces, trends and events that have shaped education within European nation states. He identifies *'the worldwide level', 'the level of the civilisation', 'the European level'* and the *'level of the nation state'*. He then documents the coordinating structures of the EU for education and examines the challenges facing European education. In particular, he views the economic imperative as being over-dominant in educational policy thinking. He sees this as promoting an over emphasis on student testing, at the expense of educational developments based on cultural diversity, sound values and pedagogical principles. Roger looks to the future and identifies three areas that need concerted and shared action: responding to the reality of English as a *lingua franca*, putting more effort into teaching children science and technology, and placing renewed emphasis on child-centred education with teachers being back in charge.

A European 'core curriculum'?

In Chapter 2, **Chris Van Woensel** (Belgium) examines one specific area of European cooperation within education and ably charts the development and implementation of the EU's Framework for Key Skills and Competences. She sees this as the best attempt that educators have made so far to define a core curriculum for Europe and to provide a joint response to the question: *'what should young people be able to know and to do'*? This is particularly in the light of shared concerns about how well European states are preparing young people for adult and working life, but also with an eye to them becoming effective and mobile European citizens. Chris cites a range of examples showing how different states are implementing the competences, drawing upon evidence from the recent CIDREE key skills programme and 2008 yearbook.⁵ She concludes that there has been a diversity of implementation, depending upon the traditions and priorities of different countries and feels that, *"the main concern for the future will not be which key competences are taught, but how they are taught, learned and evaluated"*.

Personalising future schooling

viii

The notion of schools offering a much more learner-centred environment for young people, flagged up by Roger Standaert, is elaborated further by **Seamus Hegarty** (England), in Chapter 3, who offers a powerful polemic on the state of schooling and what it should look like in the future. He argues that current school curricula are too subject oriented and are not well suited *"to the task of equipping every young person with the knowledge and skills they need for a fulfilling adult life"*. He then takes us through his idealised curriculum consisting of nine

core strands of learning and a number of cross-cutting themes (the latter resonating in part with the key competences described in Chris Van Woensel's chapter). He advocates the use of individual learning pathways and personal mentors to guide students along their personalised route. Inevitably, such a seachange in curricular thinking suggests a changed role for teachers. He sees them as needing a new skill-set and orientation, and becoming "managers of learning and supported by a wide range of other adults". Finally, Seamus throws down the gauntlet to education leaders who must "face down the many vested interests in the status quo and develop forward-looking strategies for education".

Teaching profession in transition

The large issue of a changed role for teachers who need to respond to the '*new learning paradigm*' that places the learner at the heart of the educational reform agenda, is addressed in more depth by **Anne Looney** (Ireland). In her eloquent article in Chapter 4 Anne questions whether the teaching profession is simply in need of '*restoration*' (a return to its core identities and tasks), or '*reset*' (a complete overhaul). She notes that there is a tension and duality in a teacher's '*professional identity*', how teachers see themselves, and '*teacher professionalism*', how teachers are seen by others. Using research evidence, she charts the reconfiguration of what constitutes '*a good teacher*' (the ability to operate effectively within the new learner-centred milieu) and teachers' redefinition within '*a knowledge profession*'. She reflects positively on the recent development of more broadly based European teacher competences and the idea of '*the European teacher*', which offers new opportunities for the teaching profession.

The next three chapters deal with three system functions: inspection, external assessment and internal self-evaluation. These are all targeted at assuring and improving the quality and outcomes of schools and teachers. These chapters also take up a frequently cited message within this yearbook, that effective improvement needs to be a co-produced and co-owned endeavour between school leaders, teachers, external support agencies and a range of other stakeholders.

Inspecting for improvement

In his detailed and masterful overview of school inspection (Chapter 5), **Johan van Bruggen** (Netherlands) draws upon his long involvement with the Standing International Conference of Inspectorates of Education in Europe (SICI), and uses evidence from his recent comparative study of 18 European inspection regimes. He focuses on periodic full school inspections: how they are designed and implemented, and the thinking behind them. He addresses the important question of whether the latest forms of inspection do really lead to school improvements. Johan concludes: "The first rounds of full inspection in most countries have indeed brought change, movement and real improvement to many schools. For further development, however, a simple repetition of this type of inspection after three or four years is not enough."

He sees that the adaptations necessary will "depend on real cooperation between local schools (clusters), the inspectorate and the local or regional authorities and the support agencies who provide guidance, coaching, school-focused curriculum help, inservice training for teachers and quality circles for heads and senior teachers".

He ends, however, by urging inspectorates to make more specific judgements about good and bad teachers. He calls for the quicker development of new teacher certification systems and more focused school-based strategies for selfevaluation and improved teacher development.

Trends and innovation in school self-evaluation

The issue of school self-evaluation as a teacher-owned improvement strategy is tackled persuasively by Alejandro Tiana Ferrer (Spain), who in Chapter 6 seeks to answer: 'what has been the role of internal evaluation and what has been its impact?'. He presents the rationale for school self-evaluation in terms of schools needing to become both more accountable and autonomous, with critical reflection and selfreview being important to their development. "To make progress," he maintains, "they need to reflect on their strengths and weaknesses and to account for their outcomes. In other words, they need to become learning organisations". By reference to the academic literature, he examines the theories and European trends in selfevaluation before describing the results of a EU study, which he coordinated, on innovative approaches to school self-evaluation. Alejandro concludes that the self-evaluation movement started with expensive researcher-led models, which proved difficult to replicate, and that the way ahead may lie with more pragmatic, low-cost strategies. These will, he suggests, need a clear understanding of their limitations and require effective partnerships to be developed between researchers, teachers and other local agencies. Whilst also heralding a new form of accountability, "school evaluation is a powerful incentive to institutional change and, at the same time, a support to facilitate this process".⁶

International assessment and its impact

х

If self-evaluation is indeed a powerful improvement and accountability strategy, what then is the role of external assessment? **Olivier Rey** (France) answers this effectively in Chapter 7 by first noting that, "*external assessments are increasingly at the core of education policies*", and, "*this development marks a shift from steering by inputs to steering by outputs. It also responds to a widespread concern to monitor and improve the quality of educational services in Europe, in line with the Lisbon objectives.*" The article traces the rise of the use of standardised assessments cross-nationally,

before examining the differential impact of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development's (OECD) Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA), comparing and contrasting the responses of different European nation states. He then takes a more researcher-based perspective and looks at questions of methodology and the rightful uses and limitations of external assessments. Throughout, Olivier comments on the tensions existing between researchers and policy-makers in how external assessments are viewed and used, calling for more shared understandings and joint endeavours. Finally, he seeks funding for studies that provide more meaningful and context-based explanations of the headline findings and better pointers for policy and school practice.

Educational research and 'the triple helix'

Whilst Olivier Rey sees data as creating both a connection and a tension between the 'realms' of educational research and policy-making, Gábor Halász (Hungary) conceives of research and development as being at the interface of a triangular relationship with policy and practice. It is at the intersection between these different worlds that CIDREE institutions reside. As Gabor muses in Chapter 8: "Mediating between the worlds of research, policy and practice is both challenging and inspiring. All past and present leaders of CIDREE institutions have stories about conflicts between the demands of these three different worlds, but they also have stories of success about creating common language and enhancing dialogue". He provides an engaging analysis of the changing relationship between educational research, policy and practice and notes that national research institutions have to acquire a particular 'identity', which mixes the identities of academics, politicians and professional practitioners. He speaks about 'the triple helix model' whereby "we find institutions doing educational research in a complex and dynamic ecosystem of actors producing and applying knowledge and we can see the emergence of a great variety of possible configurations". He sees new opportunities, and an increased potential for influence, through the evidence-based movement, enhanced European cooperation, and national and sectoral innovation strategies. He finishes optimistically by stating that, internationally, there is "not only growing support for educational research, but also a change in its meaning and a new place for it in the broader education sector innovation system".

A new approach to curriculum development

In his compelling article, **Jan van den Akker** (Netherlands) in Chapter 9 also addresses research's relationships, but this time with the development of curriculum policy and the improvement of classroom practice. "*Curriculum development is almost notorious for its weak relationship with research,*" he states, before continuing: "*Altogether, one may conclude that curriculum development is hardly an evidence-based enterprise, in contrast to much policy rhetoric nowadays.*" Moreover, "curriculum reform has a tendency to fail". But this essay is not about negativities. Rather, it articulates a new research-based strategy for curriculum development which Jan presents, having first described the different ways in which curricula are generally conceived and developed with a view to "creating balance and consistency between the various components". He describes his new approach, design and development research, as being especially applicable to "complex, innovative interventions for which only very few validated principles are available [...]. The aim is not to elaborate and implement complete interventions, but to come to (successive) prototypes that increasingly meet the innovative aspirations and requirements. The process is often iterative, cyclic or spiral". A key requirement of the strategy is effective collaboration between researchers, developers and teachers, who work together through the different stages of: preliminary investigation; theoretical embedding; empirical testing; and documentation, analysis and reflection on process and outcomes "until a satisfying balance between ideals and realisation has been achieved". The article concludes with the view that since design and development research is a new science, there is much opportunity for international cooperation and exchange, with a suggestion that CIDREE, inter alia, may wish to provide a suitable forum for this.

Measuring efficiency in education

Xİİ

In an article that will be informative for educationists, researchers and policy colleagues alike, Stefan Wolter (Switzerland) in Chapter 10 takes a critical look at the difference between the rhetoric and the reality of measuring efficiency and cost-effectiveness in education. "There is hardly a statement of educational ministers nowadays," he notes, "that does not stress the need for more efficiency in educational processes. On the other side, it is a fact that in the empirical research literature one finds hardly any convincing analyses of efficiency in education". The essay then takes the reader by the hand through the concepts, terms and methodologies of efficiency measurement. Stefan highlights what data is needed, what must be taken into account and what can, or more often cannot, be concluded from efficiency analyses. He uses practical examples to explain the technicalities and, like Olivier Rey, he cites experience from the PISA project. He concludes that efficiency measurement is still very underdeveloped and that, "in the absence of scientifically proven measures of efficiency, it will be substituted by individual and collective subjective measures. Irrespective of these being wrong or right, these subjective measures will then influence policy-making". To counter this, he calls for researchers "to double our efforts and come up with some solid and valid measures" for the benefit of all.

I commend the yearbook to you, and hope that the reader will find inspiration and pointers for future directions in education within Europe from the richness of analysis, ideas, commentary and recommendations that it contains.

Notes

- 1 See Roger Standaert's chapter for an up-to-date analysis of the EU's Lisbon objectives and their impact, and Chris Van Woensel's chapter for specific objectives relating to key competences.
- 2 The CIDREE Yearbook for 2003 provides a detailed examination of the indicators, benchmarks and work programmes of the Lisbon Treaty and the differing early responses to these. The Lisbon objectives eventually became known as 'Education and Training, 2010'.
- 3 EU (2009). Progress Towards the Lisbon Objectives in Education and Training. Analysis of Implementation at the European and National Levels. Brussels: SEC (2009) 1598. COM(2009) 640.
- 4 EU (2009). Council conclusions of 12 May 2009 on a strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training ('ET2020'). *Official Journal of the European Union*, 28 May 2009.
- 5 Van Woensel, C. (Ed.) (2008). A Toolkit for the European Citizen. CIDREE 2008 Yearbook. Brussels: CIDREE/DVO.
- 6 One of CIDREE's most ambitious collaborative programmes focused on school self-evaluation in the late 1990s. There is a range of written publications still available from: cidree@roosendael.be. See Alvik, T. (1996). *Self-Evaluation: What, Why, How, by Whom, for Whom.* Dundee: CIDREE.

European education and the nation state: a globalisation perspective

Roger Standaert



Dr Roger Standaert began his career as a lecturer in a teacher training college in 1969 after his studies in educational sciences at the University of Louvain (Belgium). From 1976 onwards, he was the leader of a large-scale project on comprehensive education in Flanders. With his co-author F. Troch he received the state prize for the best pedagogical publication on education

and learning in 1980. He obtained his PhD on a comparative study about the rationality of educational policy in 1989. In 1991 he was appointed Director of the newly established Department for Educational Development at the Ministry of Flanders. He was granted the State Prize of the Community of Flanders for his work on attainment targets and core curricula in Flanders. In 1997 he became Chairman of the Consortium of Institutions for Development and Research in Education in Europe (CIDREE). In 1998 he was appointed Professor in Comparative Education at the University of Ghent (Belgium). Nowadays, he is Secretary-General of CIDREE. His research and academic interests lie in the field of comparative education, globalisation in education and educational policy (especially curriculum).

Email: roger.standaert@UGent.be

European education and the nation state: a globalisation perspective

Roger Standaert

Abstract

By 2050 the unification of Europe will certainly be covered in history manuals. At the moment 27 European countries are in the middle of a process of Europeanisation. Due to the diversity of the European nation states' cultures and languages, the process is difficult and time-consuming. However, in the meantime, the expanding Europe has gradually become an important stakeholder in the legislation of the nation states. In many cases, it concerns legislation with an economic scope. It may be that cultural and educational matters will also be subject to intervention from Europe, partially as a derivative of their economic influence. At the same time, Europe extends its influence to other cultures and civilisations around the world. In turn, Europe's culture is influenced by world culture, especially in the domains of economy, climate sciences and conflict handling. My contribution will consist of three elements. In the first instance, I will explore how I see globalisation as a layered mechanism within the context of educational goals and objectives. Secondly, I will attempt to trace the consequences of such a perspective for a European education policy in connection with the member states. In the third and final part, I will make an educated guess as to the position of the EU within the global world.

Introduction: levels of globalisation

Globalisation is usually linked to worldwide concerns such as the economic crisis, climate change and the eradication of poverty. Of course, we can also refer to the globalisation of sport, mobility, the fight against crime, art, culture, medical innovation and so on. We can also do some hard thinking about the impact of globalisation on education. However, this impact is less obvious and the available literature is diverse. Trends can be observed, but a global and general view has not emerged yet. Nevertheless, I will try to show various trends in an orderly fashion – and from a perspective that shows four layers of interrelated influences.

We situate this process of globalisation in a process of worldwide influence ranging from the widest to a rather narrow layer. The first layer can be considered as *'the global world'*. The second level is that field of activity which Huntington (1996) has called *"a civilisation"* in his remarkable book *The Clash of*

Civilizations. A civilisation is to be considered as a pattern of life that forms a common unifying concept for a number of countries and peoples. This leads to a common culture. The third layer is that of *'supra-national organisations'* that exist within a civilisation. Within Western civilisation, the EU can be considered an example of such an organisation. The lower entities of the nation state all form the fourth layer.

It is my conviction that the diverse levels of an organisation can, each in their own way, influence the underlying levels, but they can also exercise an influence of resistance to the upper levels. An example of this low-down influence is, for instance, the resistance Ireland, Poland and Czech Republic have shown towards the EU's obligation for extended integration. Europe, in turn, can resist certain aspects of Western civilisation such as those to be found in the Anglo-Saxon countries (USA, Canada, Australia and New Zealand). Western civilisation can also play the role of a filter for those ideas that are promoted on a global scale.

In the following paragraphs I will focus on these four levels, with a special interest in the place and functioning of the EU in this forcefield.

On the global level, we recognise issues such as climate change, the abolition of poverty, and the rules used in sports. But also, and this becomes a pertinent theme, there are the worldwide economic forces of the free market system with its typical features such as competition, the growing discrepancy between rich and poor, capital transfers, outsourcing and so on. Also, the relentless onward march of the information superhighway and global communications are combined with the free market's economic forces.

In fact, we can proceed to the level of civilisation, with the necessary critical view, as outlined by Huntington (1996), who has delineated eight civilisations of which the eighth, the African, can be considered a speculative process. The remaining seven are:

- Islamic
- Chinese
- Hindu
- Japanese
- Latin American
- Orthodox
- Western.

Noticeable in such an outline of civilisation, which is legitimised by historical arguments, is the role or function of religion as a central, unifying concept. Christianity, Islam, Hinduism, Confucianism and Orthodoxy are, in certain civilisations, extremely relevant. Such a cultural unity can even become a key

factor in a civilisation. Civilisation and culture have a strong influence on values, behavioural standards, institutions and patterns of thinking, which remain of essential value generation after generation.

The third level of globalisation is the supra-national one. The EU is a well-known example of such an institution, uniting different nations and people. Regarding the influence it exerts, it is a very strong institution. Other examples are groupings like NAFTA, MERCOSUR, ASEAN and UNASUR which reflects a new trend in Latin America for countries to evolve together.¹

In applying the process and progress of globalisation, we are faced with a complex filter system which operates from '*above*' to '*below*', but there are also opposing forces which operate to preserve the lower levels in relation to the upper ones. Thus, we are faced with two forcefields (global and local) operating in two directions. In order to clarify these processes, the sociologist Robertson (1992) popularised the term '*glocalization*' – it neatly combines the two forcefields and shows how they are mutually influencing each other.

This term offers the possibility to trace out the diverse trends into a global picture. Of course, there are several conceivable combinations possible: all of them reflecting the complexity of the situation. This leads to the observation that the mutually influencing forces differ within the process of globalisation. The forces and trends of, for example, climate change, information and sports are clearly defined and visible. But these are different in areas such as culture and education.

There are some exceptions, for instance, the international baccalaureate, the ISCED methodology (International System of Classification of Education Structures) and the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO) programme, Education for All (EFA). Indeed, across the world, more than 100 nation states recognise the international baccalaureate as preparation for their own higher education. On the same scale, UNESCO, with the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and the EU, has approved the (ISCED) meta-system for comparing education structures. Finally, the EFA programme runs like a thread through many developmental initiatives.

I will focus on a few hypotheses which, by common consent, are more or less generally accepted and are described in the literature. I will confine myself to the area of education as a key trend within globalisation. I will focus on those lines which are most clear: the forces of influence which operate from the higher to the lower level. Afterwards, I will continue this introduction by answering the following questions.

• To what extent does the process of globalisation have a direct effect on education?

- What is the influence of certain civilisations on our education system?
- To what extent is the EU influencing our education?
- In which fields do we see resistance being offered to the trends outlined above and which operate from the higher to the lower level?
- Can the EU become the go-between in the space between worldwide globalisation and some powerful civilisations?

Worldwide globalisation

The question arises: how are we confronted with the influence of globalisation in our field of work? This issue also relates to the impact of the free market on education and the relationship between education for its own merit, and education as a process of economic investment.

The influence of the global world cannot be considered a mechanical one, originated by one well-defined source or mechanism. In fact, different types of actors, such as non-governmental organisations (NGOs), universities, powerful and dominant nations, United Nations agencies, consultants, multinational corporations and charitable institutions are all involved in globalisation's broad diversity of networks. All these actors interact with one another and often even compete in ideologies or concepts. Globalisation forces are multiple in their forms and influences. Well known are examples such as the World Bank, UNESCO, the United Nations Development Plan, the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the Soros Foundation, the OECD, Microsoft and many NGOs working in the field of developmental aid. In the end, all these initiatives are aiming to influence local situations, inclusive of nation states.

An interesting concept for understanding the diversity of global influences has been formulated by Castells (2000). He distinguished between a "space of places" and a "space of flows". 'Places' refers to the geographical setting of human behaviour. It refers to people who are situated in the same place of living and, in many cases, a nation state. 'Flows' refers to social interaction, dislocated from place and strongly connected with a huge explosion of possibilities due to electronic communication. The influence from the flow side is a sort of togetherness of social interaction without a connection with a given territory. The two spatial influences of flow and place, could be considered different in their impact and consequences on education. The 'flows' content can be defined as general principles for action in the sense of, for example, respect for diversity, delivering manpower for the labour market, education for skills rather than knowledge, equality and equity and mass schooling. The 'space' content, on the other hand, is the elaboration of those ideas and principles, in the given and specific space of a nation state, which depends on historical factors, values and local contexts. So, it is not quite obvious that the global flow of ideas and principles leads to the same interpretations and elaborations at the local stage of the nation state.

Nevertheless, looking for a sort of panoramic view, the bulk of the global literature on education policy refers to forms of neo-liberalism and to there being high expectations in favour of an extended free market. At the same time, the global literature stresses the rather unconditional progress of sciences.

Starting from the aftermath of World War II, aspects of a world culture also affecting education can be observed. Education for all is a common social goal across the world. It's a world ideology that considers education both an individual and a collective good. Societies carry the obligation to provide this opportunity for all. In affluent societies, mass schooling has evolved into the new pursuit of higher education for all. The goals of education have a lot to do with the economic pressure towards a free market that is based on competition, efficiency and excellence. The free market requires investment in human resources, skills for the labour market, entrepreneurship, innovation and workforce brainpower. Other current concerns influencing world education policy include human rights, gender inequality and rural–urban gaps. Nevertheless, it is not obvious that these concerns are accepted in all civilisations or cultures. The economic ideology of the free market, more or less mitigated by a certain social control is, however, a vehicle for education worldwide.

Another weight-bearing principle in a world ideology for education is the powerful position of science. We are living in a rationalised global world in which virtually all aspects of human life and behaviour are subject to scientific analysis. The belief in science as an overarching paradigm for progress and efficiency is a strong steering mechanism for education and how it is organised. Scientific thinking leads to technology in a vast array of domains, including learning and teaching.

The forces of economic competition combined with a belief in science and its technological applications represent an education culture of efficiency and achievement. An international testing boom is an example for this sort of thinking. Efficiency is expressed in results in mathematics, sciences and languages. Objections to this utilitarian, economic focus are met by broadening the principle of measurement to civics and social studies.

The global ideology of education shows itself in a testing system that is not built on the uniqueness of national education systems or aims to investigate the differences between the systems. On the contrary, testing and assessment represent a change in perspective, comparing the results and the achievement of education systems and practices (Kamens and McNeely, 2010). This perspective was first mentioned by one of the founding fathers of the international testing movement, Torsten Husen, in the early days of the International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA, established in 1958).

The global free market ideology, with a pursuit of scientifically based, objective output data, can be found in worldwide organisations such as the World Bank, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Trade Organisation. It can also be found in sub-organisations of the United Nations, such as the United Nations Development Plan and even UNESCO. The declarations of the World Education Forum in Jomtien (1990) and Dakar (2000) concerning the EFA programme strongly promoted systems of periodical assessment. Indeed, it was necessary to define acceptable levels of learning acquisition for educational programmes and to improve and apply systems for assessing learning achievement.

The logic underpinning this model of assessment is the promotion of decentralisation, market competition and consumer accountability. Benveniste (2002), a World Bank specialist for East Asia, said assessment and decentralisation operate under competing logics. National assessments incarnate a centralising force that mandates universal normative criteria. Central prescriptions can and often do supersede site-specific formulations. In a decentralised environment, national assessments may signify a way for the central state to preserve its core position and offset the power-sharing logic of decentralisation (Benveniste, 2002, p. 118). The following global trends can be observed:

- priority given to competition versus cooperation
- priority given to higher education and innovation within the field of competition
- priority given to mathematics, science and technical skills
- the emerging market of tests and indicators
- the call for privatisation and less power for the central state
- the tendency for uniformity within the field of certificates
- a classification which allows comparison of higher education (bachelor, master and doctorate).

The level of civilisation

From the literature associated with the process of globalisation in civilisations certain points of interest require our attention. Firstly, it seems that in Chinese, Hindu and Japanese civilisations prime attention is paid to mathematics, science and technical skills within the educational process. In China, India and Japan, in those places with three billion inhabitants, this forms the DNA, as it were, of economic growth. It is not unthinkable that Western countries will be left somewhat behind in terms of economic prosperity. We also see in China, India and Japan high demands on, and expectations of, students and the adult workforce. With regard to this focus, certain education experts warn against a too radical overhaul of how children and youth are educated in the, as yet, rich West.

Should we not, therefore, make a case that would allow students to learn in a more challenging way? In such a scenario, we do not have to operate against pedagogical or didactical principles by placing too many demands on youngsters. '*Challenging*', in this context, means having higher expectations for achievement, on the understanding that the challenges are adapted to students' capabilities. This could be interpreted as a student-centred pedagogy.

A further trend is the use of English as the *lingua franca* in the world. We see that the vast majority of people in the world learn English. In China, English has been the obligatory second language for students. While in India, with more than one billion citizens, English remains the only language of general communication. Thus it is not necessary, for example, to learn Chinese. Therefore, should not every student learn English as a second language? A further study of various civilisations might show that Latin America is the leader in education for sustainable development and call for a return to a Latin American heritage of culture, nature and human relationships.

If we look at sub-Saharan Africa, with fertile and not too densely populated regions, most people would have managed pretty well if left to themselves. Most of the inhabitants did not need their states, which were usually too weak to do much harm, and, if they grew too troublesome, could probably be bypassed by a retreat into village self-sufficiency (Hobsbawm, 1994, p. 352). Turning back to the theme of the reciprocal influences existing between the worldwide and civilisation levels, I make the following observations. We saw a stagnation of the negotiations around the World Trade Organisation (WTO) at the Roundtable of Geneva in July 2006 concerning intellectual ownership, the service sector and agriculture. The resistance of some civilisations here was obvious. The World Bank moderated its previously tough Structural Adjustment Program (SAP) strategy for developing countries in 2006, in response to the views and varying characteristics of the different beneficiary cultures. Concerning China, we see a powerful Bank of China competing with the IMF to deliver important services to African nations. On the other hand, China has to live with the challenges it has in closing the borders for the flow of the global internet as can be seen in the interventions of Google.

An analysis of the impact of the most important civilisations reveals the following (and here I focus on those civilisations which form a demographic majority in the world – especially China, India, the East Asiatic countries and Japan):

- the priority given to science, maths and technical skills
- the use of English as a world language
- a focus on the group rather than the individual
- high demands and expectations for achievement
- educational ambition as a basis of prosperity, both for the community and the individual.

The European level

Currently, there are lots of matters, both fundamental and rather trivial, that are settled on a European level. Lots of people are, strangely enough, not really aware of this: it is almost happening silently. Actually, there is not really one domain left with which the EU is not now engaged.

The EU website gives an overview of 32 different subjects that are of importance for European intervention. It covers foreign affairs, international trade, energy policy and environmental and cultural matters, as well as humanitarian aid and fishery. However, there are different accents of power as can be seen in the four different levels of decision making in the EU: regulations, directives, decisions and recommendations. The bulk of the power of the EU is situated in the economic field: agriculture, trade and, of course, the Euro. As for the railways, the postal services and the telephony, the borders of Europe are opened for competition. In some cases, the directives are rather vague, leaving space for member states to make them operational. In other cases, legislation is very strict. The level of noise of a lawnmower is fixed very precisely, as is the speed of a tractor's wipers.

If it is clear that the economic function of Europe seems to be of great importance. We can guess that the EU has an enlarged role and impact on the structure and the stress on an economically directed function of education. The role formerly played by cross-country visits, observations and imitations has been, at least partially, substituted by supra-national bodies such as the EU or the Council of Europe.

'*The market*' is the dominant European discourse. There is a constant pressure for the delivery of common taxes, rules of production and consumption, and joint initiatives and innovations that the market needs. The space for education in Europe today exists within this discourse. It may be considered a first step towards a shared identity. This identity means a demand for labour skills, mobility and innovation across the market.

Since the Lisbon Summit in March 2000, the overarching idea of Europe has been an economic one, translated into the strategic objective:

"To become the most competitive and dynamic knowledge-based economy in the world capable of sustainable economic growth with more and better jobs and greater social cohesion."

In the wake of this ambitious agenda, and after preparatory work by the European Commission, strategic objectives for education were proposed by the European education ministers and adopted by the European Council. These objectives were consequently further specified and settled in a process of formulating indicators and benchmarking. A system was set in motion (the open method of coordination) for coordinating the Lisbon process, measuring progress and enabling European member states to make mutual comparisons. This extremely ambitious agenda has not been very successful. For a new period, from 2010 to 2020, a revision of this agenda is planned. There will be more moderate benchmarks, supervision of the process and sanctioning of member states which are not involved enough in the elaboration of the defined benchmarks.

Steering initiatives from the EU

Notwithstanding the reluctance of the Maastricht Treaty to legislate over cultural and educational matters, Europe has been very active in using the mechanisms of indicators, benchmarks, intervision, projects and exchanges of good practice through the open method of coordination. The results are different steering projects with a stress on the economically oriented function of education.

This can be clearly illustrated by the following observations:

- the focus on a general basis curriculum and compulsory education through eight basic competences (voted as a recommendation in 2006)
- the European Qualification Framework, which aims to introduce a compatible structure of career-directed education
- a uniform system of higher education through the principles agreed upon within the Bologna process
- the introduction of European indicators and benchmarks
- the social correction, from a typically European perspective, of the extreme elements of the free market system.

In what follows, these privileged domains of European intervention will be described in more detail.

Eight key competences

In a Recommendation of the European Council and Parliament, a European reference framework of key competences for lifelong learning has been

developed (Recommendation 2006/962/EC). The main aim of the reference framework is to identify the key competences necessary for every citizen in Europe. Competences are defined in the framework as a combination of knowledge, skills and attitudes appropriate to the context. Key competences are those which all individuals need for personal fulfilment and development, active citizenship, social inclusion and employment. The reference framework sets out eight domains of key competences:

- communication in the mother tongue
- communication in foreign languages
- mathematical competence and basic competences in science and technology
- digital competence
- learning to learn
- social and civic competences
- sense of initiative and entrepreneurship
- cultural awareness and expression.

The key competences are all considered equally important. Many of the competences overlap and interlock: aspects essential to one domain will support competence in another. Digital competence is an essential vehicle for learning, and learning to learn supports all learning activities. Van Woensel (2009) elaborates on these key competences in different European education systems in more detail in Chapter 10.

The European Qualification Framework

The European Council and Parliament decided on a Recommendation for the European Qualifications Framework for Lifelong Learning (Recommendation, 23 April 2008). This framework aimed to link education and work, and to make the system for qualifications transparent across Europe. The framework consists of eight levels in complexity, responsibility and autonomy. The advantages of the framework are obvious:

- clarifying learning pathways
- flexibility in learning programmes
- developing mobility in employability
- recognising non-formal and informal learning.

A logical consequence of applying the framework is the development of different instruments. The most important instrument is the European Credit System for Vocational Education and Training (ECVET), also adopted as a recommendation of the European Council and the Parliament on 18 June 2009. The main aim of the

ECVET is, of course, the recognition of learning outcomes and units. A unit is a component of a qualification, consisting of a coherent set of knowledge, skills and competence that can be assessed and validated. To guarantee this sort of assessment, it is necessary to describe the results of a learning process in terms of learning outcomes. Part of this assessment is also the allocation of a certain number of points as a numerical representation of the relative weight of a unit in relation to the qualification. Other instruments for implementing the European Qualification Framework are the Europass; systems of counselling and guidance; and creating a portal site for, for example, an inventory of qualifications.

The European Higher Education Area

The creation of a European area of higher education and research originated in a meeting of the ministers of education for France, Germany, Italy and the UK at the Sorbonne in May 1998. The resulting proposals promoted increased mobility and collaboration between European universities. A year later, 29 countries gathered in Bologna to continue the effort. It was the start of the so-called Bologna Process.

Two concepts are important. One is the European Higher Education Area (EHEA) and the other is the Bologna Process. The notion of a EHEA follows the idea of the European Economic Area, which extended the European Community's single market to the members of the European Free Trade Association (EFTA). By analogy, the Sorbonne and Bologna declarations widened the European Community's area for higher education to other European countries. The Bologna Process refers to an intergovernmental arrangement of nearly all European countries, both EU and non-EU members, plus the European Commission, which meet more or less regularly to discuss the actions agreed upon. It has an institutional structure, composed of a Follow-Up Group, Board and Secretariat. Every two years, a large conference is organised to discuss the implementation of the process and to agree upon new aspects. The first of these large-scale conferences was in Prague (2001), followed by Berlin (2003), Bergen (2005), London (2007) and Louvain (2009). In summary, the Bologna Process has led to ten important actions:

- adoption of a system of easily readable and comparable degrees
- adoption of a structure based on two cycles (undergraduate and graduate)
- a European credit transfer system
- promotion of mobility by overcoming obstacles
- promotion of European cooperation in quality assurance
- promotion of the European dimension in higher education
- promotion of lifelong learning

13

- student involvement
- promotion of the attractiveness and competitiveness of the EHEA to other parts of the world
- synergies within the European Research Area (ERA).

European indicators and benchmarks

The *'opening up'* of education initiated a wide-ranging debate in the Council of the Ministers, resulting in the adoption of several conclusions and resolutions. Existing European education programmes were strengthened and new ones launched; for instance, Erasmus, Leonardo, Comenius, Socrates, Lingua and Grundtvig. In 1998, the ministers decided to create a working committee to define a range of quality indicators in education. The final report in 2000 summarised 16 priority indicators, covering four areas (Directorate-General for Education and Culture, 2000):

- 1. attainment (seven indicators): mathematics, reading, science, foreign languages, learning to learn, ICT and civics
- 2. success and transition (three indicators): drop-out rates, completion of upper secondary education and participation rates in tertiary education
- 3. monitoring of school education (two indicators): parental participation, and evaluation and steering of school education
- 4. resources and structures (four indicators): educational expenditure per student, teacher training, participation rates in pre-primary education and the number of students per computer.

Meanwhile, the European Council launched the ambitious programme at the Lisbon Summit in 2000 with the open method of coordination, defined in paragraph 37 as:

- The EU will set guidelines and specific timetables for achieving the goals.
- Quantitative and qualitative indicators and benchmarks will be established as a means of comparing best practices.
- Exchange of good practices will be promoted by comparative analysis, peer review and bilateral projects.

In 2003, the Education Council took another ambitious step in moving forward the Lisbon Strategy in the area of education and training by adopting five European benchmarks to be reached in 2010.

• An EU average rate of no more than 10 per cent of early school leavers.

- The total number of graduates in mathematics, science and technology in the EU should increase by at least 15 per cent while at the same time the level of gender imbalance should decrease.
- At least 85 per cent of 22 year olds in the EU should have completed upper secondary education.
- The percentage of 15 year olds with insufficient abilities in reading literacy in the EU should have decreased by at least 20 per cent compared to the year 2000.
- The EU average level of participation in lifelong learning should be at least 12.5 per cent of the adult-working-age population (25–64 age group).

At the end of the period of the Lisbon Strategy in 2010, the results were not as planned. The benchmarks seemed to all be too ambitious. For the period from 2010 till 2020, a new set of six benchmarks was adopted by the Council in May 2009, which was named the *Strategic Framework for European Cooperation in Education and Training* (ET 2020). The benchmarks to be achieved by 2020 are (http://ec.europa.eu/education/lifelong-learning-policy/doc28_en.htm):

- At least 95 per cent of children between the age of four and the age for starting compulsory education should participate in early childhood education.
- The share of 15 year olds with insufficient abilities in reading, mathematics and science should be less than 15 per cent.
- The share of early leavers from education and training should be less than 10 per cent.
- The share of 30–34 year olds with tertiary educational attainment should at least be 40 per cent.
- An average of at least 15per cent of adults (age group 25–64) should participate in lifelong learning.

The question of social cohesion

The Lisbon declaration of 2000 mentioned the EU becoming:

"The most competitive and dynamic knowledge-based economy in the world capable of sustainable economic growth with more and better jobs and greater social cohesion."

Although the core business of the EU is an economic one, social cohesion is of some importance. We find social cohesion partially referred to in the elaboration of 13 associated objectives of the Lisbon Strategy, established after the Summit of Stockholm in 2001. They are:

15

- improving teacher training
- developing skills for the knowledge society (literacy, numeracy, key competences and learning to learn)
- ensuring access to ICT for everyone
- increasing recruitment to scientific and technical studies
- making the best use of resources (for example, quality measurement and targets)
- open learning environments (for example, recognition of acquired skills and career guidance)
- making learning more attractive
- supporting active citizenship, equal opportunities and social cohesion
- strengthening the links with working life and research, and society at large
- developing the spirit of enterprise
- improving foreign language learning
- increasing mobility and exchange
- strengthening European cooperation (for example, networks, accreditation systems and mutual recognition of diplomas).

Nevertheless, in this impressive list of associate objectives, the place of social cohesion and its related aspects seems rather moderate.

The level of the nation state

Is there, in a modern context, a viable place for the nation state and its own educational system?

If it is more or less a given fact that within the process of globalisation the nation state is evolving towards a form and level that offers a kind of psychological certainty, then it is worthwhile to use as a starting point those elements that are experienced within the nation state. From this starting point, we can build towards the EU becoming the level between civilisations and global issues. The Treaty of Maastricht (1992) sets a clear, but restricted, remit in article 149:

"The community shall contribute to the development of quality education by encouraging co-operation between Member States and, if necessary, by supporting and supplementing their actions, while fully respecting the responsibility of the Member States for the content of teaching and the organisation of educational systems and their cultural and linguistic diversity." Article 150 sets out similar provisions in relation to vocational training activities.

Discourses on the connection between globalisation and the nation state do not always give an optimistic view of the remaining role of the nation state. Some authors utter strong doubts about the future of the nation state. Others are more reserved about the power of supra-national entities over the nation states.

As has been sketched above by Castells (2000), the '*place*' becomes an important power, aside of and maybe in competition with the '*flow*' of influence. This has been lucidly illustrated by Beech with the introduction of the global concept of '*competences*' in the curricula of the hard-working Latin American countries, Brazil and Argentina. In his research, the interviewees interpreted the new curricula regulation as a legitimisation of their existing practices (Beech, 2009). Consequently, they felt that there was no need for them to adapt their practices to the new official discourse. Rather, they felt that the new official discourse could be adopted to describe their existing practices.

In the same line of thinking, Waldow mentioned a sort of *'welfare state nationalism'*, based on his observations on the Swedish education system. He referred to nations having a *'natural feeling of supremacy'* concerning their own educational system (Waldow, 2009). Inspiration from organisations, congresses and projects from abroad are interpreted almost exclusively in the national context. As such, the individual national system more or less ignores the international impact (Waldow, 2009).

The historian Landes stated in his important work on the differences between the poor and rich that there are significant differences between nation states in terms of what he called the *'cultural potential'* (Landes 1998, p. 321) of a nation state. Characteristics of cultural potential are: hard work, honesty, tenacity, patience and also openness to change, especially to equal rights for women (Landes, 1998). Countries with a high degree of such a cultural potential will strongly resist the influences of globalisation. In many cases, this results in a limited adaptation of foreign influences into one's own traditions. On the contrary, nation states with a low cultural potential are more liable to be influenced from abroad.

Moreover, transnational borrowing occurs mainly at the level of policy talk. What gets translated into local or national policies, and what finally gets implemented at school level, does not necessarily reflect the borrowed model. Lessons learned *'from abroad'* are often reduced to political rhetoric that helps make domestic school reforms sail under the flag of internalisation and adaptation to *'international standards'* in education. In fact, we are witnessing a huge international market of buzzwords in educational reform, such as *'effectiveness'*, *'outcome-based education'*, *'multiculturalism'*, *'quality assessment'*, that all mean something entirely different in various cultural contexts (Steiner-Khamsi, 2002).

Focusing on educational outcomes in France, Germany, Japan, Singapore, Sweden, the UK and the USA, Green concluded that there are very broad cultural characteristics, which seem to underlie national educational achievement, and that can be manifested in a set of related institutional characteristics. He noted that high-achieving countries have what he calls an *"inclusive learning culture"*, which is characterised by the high premium which society places on learning for all groups (Green, 1997).

This does not necessarily require all decisions to be made at a central government level – or for a government to make all such decisions on its own – but it does require a high degree of state regulation where the government acts in a concerted fashion at different levels to define and make the system operational, including defining and enabling the roles of the different social partners within it. Contrary, therefore, to the present vogue for decentralised systems and the development of *'markets'* and *'quasi-markets'* in order to supposedly enhance *'quality'* in education, Green's important comparative work suggested quite strongly that the most effective education systems appear to show signs of *'tight regulation'* in the critical areas, with high levels of policy coherence, institutional systematisation, and close articulation between levels of the education and training system and between this system and the labour market (Green, 1997).

Recent literature teaches that the highest pressure of resistance to the trend of globalisation emerges from the cultural system of norms and values. This is generally interpreted as a defence mechanism working in opposition to the stronger forces which operate on the level above the nation state. This can be interpreted as a form of psychological search for established values within the threatening forces seen to be operating in the globalisation process. This process of resistance is reflected in all nation states, in various degrees of operation, and it comprises the following elements:

- the retention of established educational systems and curriculum (cf. Maastricht Treaty)
- the rise in popularity of nationalistic political parties
- the care and attention paid to individual cultural inheritance
- the call for a *'canon of values'* to conform to the common identity of the nation state (for example, history of the country, literature, heroes of the country, national symbols and gastronomy).

In many cases, we can see resistance to importing educational models from abroad. After a period of goodwill, we can see a period in which stakeholders downplay externalisation and instead emphasise the local adaptation and interpretation of the borrowed model (Steiner-Khamsi, 2002).

The most visible sign in Europe is the tendency of politicians to refer to other continental European countries and to distance themselves from countries

outside of Europe. This newly emerging European space for policy borrowing is still, more often than not, imagined. Although for some countries in central and Eastern Europe it is not imagined but real, as they look for ways of distancing themselves from an undesired past (Steiner-Khamsi, 2002).

Nevertheless, in accordance with the worldwide tendency for assessing progress, many nation states do interpret the aims of combining central assessment with decentralisation in a rather paradoxical way. Instead of supplying schools with up-to-date information in order to support local management and greater school autonomy, we can observe a contradictory tendency. National tests are implemented centrally yet, if programmes and learning processes fail, the responsibility is shoved away from the central policy to the local level. In fact, we see, as remarked on the worldwide level, a competition between assessment and decentralisation. By implementing national tests, the tendency for centralisation is reinforced, by leaving a lot of responsibility for the success of programmes in the hands of the local schools and the teachers. The rise of the *'evaluative state'*, with schools ranked and classified, illustrates the ease with which nation states are taking over the competitive and accountability culture of free market worldwide globalisation.

The power of the local context should not be underestimated. The translation of global and European trends in the own political context is often interpreted in different ways, because of the existence of opposing parties or groups in a given nation state.

The position of the EU on education

This concluding section analyses the globalising forces which impact on the European education environment. The discussion then considers the positive lessons for Europe as it responds to these global pressures, on the one hand, and the countervailing forces which are detracting from educational developments, on the other.

Lessons to be learned

A clear trend we cannot ignore in Europe is the expansion of English as the *lingua franca* in the world. In absolute terms, English is not the most commonly spoken language by the world's population. However, taking into account the numerous countries where English is used as the official second language or is well ingrained, it reaches the larger part of the world's population. In China with its 1.3 billion inhabitants, English is a mandatory course in the education system. And in India, with more than one billion inhabitants, English is a connecting language between many local languages. Looking at the language policy in

Europe, we know the sensitiveness concerning the position of local languages, but would it not be realistic to recommended English as the second language as a standard policy?

It is also notable that the upcoming strong civilisations (China, India and South-East Asia) put an emphasis on teaching sciences and technology. The innovative power of a society is closely related to its level of technological know-how. It is important for Europe, with a long and remaining history of gymnasium-type contents of status subjects in the sense of pure and not utilitarian, to think about a valorisation or revalorisation of applied sciences. This idea could be a serious challenge for curriculum creation in Europe and for possible collaborations. The Consortium of Institutions for Development and Research in Education in Europe (CIDREE) could be an initiator or a central leverage point for such initiatives.

In the upcoming civilisations, one can observe willpower, strength in labour and study ethos. Several educationalists have identified this ethos and compared it to that in Western and European countries. As Damon, the well-known educationalist, argued, educational approaches in Western societies tend to be too 'coddling'. As a consequence, Western youth lack ambition, willpower and perseverance. Damon argues that Western educators confuse child-directedness with a sort of *laissez-faire* mentality (Damon, 1995). This interpretation is also open to our European educators. Should we not consider education practices that challenge children in the direction of what Vygotskij (van Parreren and Carpay, 1972, p. 113) called the "zone of the immediate nearly development"? This means it is perfectly possible to differentiate challenges for all sorts of children, thereby taking them always one little step further in complexity.

Ways forward for European education

Market thinking is the dominant European emphasis, and this fits in perfectly with the global trend. It is not difficult to identify the strong economic approach in a lot of texts concerned with the education policy of the processes of Lisbon, Copenhagen and Bologna. Nonetheless, let us be realistic: efficiency is of vital importance for the labour market; therefore, objectives for economic efficiency are logical for the world of work and production. But this is less obvious when handling compulsory general education and even university. Lots of texts are full of economic jargon such as: 'accountability', 'indicators', 'benchmarks', 'HRM', 'output assessment', 'competition', 'effectiveness', 'market orientation' and 'private investment'. The whole focus sometimes looks like a team of engineers developing an assembly line for a new car model: they design the machines, construct the robots, train the workers for various sub-functions and, at the end of the line, the programmed car will appear.

A striking example of this use of language is in the European Commission's report, *Mobilising the Brainpower of Europe* (European Commission, 2005), as these quotations illustrate.

"Most universities are ill prepared for worldwide competition over talent, prestige and resources."

"Europe's universities need quality seals with international credibility."

"In an open, competitive and moving environment, autonomy is a precondition for universities..."

"Universities should be responsible: setting specific medium-term priorities... and targeting the collective effort of their staff towards achieving these; professionally managing their faculties (owning, running and developing them), financial resources (welding budgets, investments and borrowing) and external communication (image building)."

"This requires more competition-based funding in research and more output-related funding in education."

These kinds of messages are, to a large degree, a break with the European traditions of universities and higher education. In this context, the messages of privatisation, commercialisation, specialisation and flexibility are based on strongly market-oriented thinking. Thinking, which results from extreme flexibility and diversity, finally leads to a *'supermarket'* higher education, or even more negatively, the *'zapping'* of higher education. It is not surprising that this can result in an increasing lack of cohesion and coherence in higher education programmes. An illustration of this trend can be found in secondary education in the USA. Fifty-three percent of new high school graduates are in need of extra schooling, including more help with written communication (Scheele, 2005).

In this view, Europe follows the worldwide economic trend of the exaggerated stress placed on an uncontrolled free market. Novoa and Lawn (2002) explained these processes as *"fabricating Europe"* and called it rhetorically *"planet speak"* in *"an illusion of a single course for educational issues"* (p. 135). The erosion of valueoriented thinking within European politics in favour of a narrow economydirected thinking leads to relentlessness among different social and religious inspired circles.

The late Dutch diplomat Altes represented this uneasiness by pleading in favour of a spiritual renewal in Europe (Korthals Altes, 1999). The Dutch politician van Burg elaborated on a similar idea in his dissertation, *The Western Culture Out of Balance*, (van Burg, 2001). He stated that, in dominant economical thinking, man is reduced to a *"homo economicus"*. Such an economical model man is not a man of flesh and blood, but an abstraction. This economical model man strives to make big profits and produce and consume with minimum costs and efforts. He
is a rational, materialistic individual, his eye fixed on self-interest. Referring to Sen (1999), this kind of man is called a "*rational egoist*" who is looking exclusively for behaviour and situations with a high degree of utility for his own good. In this case, the creation of an all-penetrating structure of competition, combined with a never-ending expansion drift, is not far away. In this context, slogans such as '*standing still is going backwards*' and '*business is war*' are common.

Based on these ideas, this article concludes by proposing some relevant paths for Europe and its education policy. First of all, the question of the global tendency for over-testing should be placed under consideration. A further point for attention is the impact of a worldwide common language. From the upcoming civilisations with dense populations, European education has also to pay attention to the importance of the subjects relating to science and technology. Finally, Europe must think about a re-interpretation of the principles of childcentred pedagogy.

We can observe a sort of economic culture of evaluating education against a more pedagogical culture. In this context, Lundahl spoke of the rise of psychometrics as a "quick language" that reduces complexity by creating a shared language and facilitating a smooth transmission of information within education. This quick language is sustained by overarching myths from the scientific world. It appears as particularly 'modern', 'rational' and 'scientific'. It can function as a powerful source of legitimisation (Lundahl and Waldow, 2009). As explained before, one of the striking characteristics of worldwide globalisation is precisely the translation of the scientific progress ideal. The price of using this sort of quick language is the loss of complexity in favour of forms of simplified communication. The form in which this 'quick data' is presented looks like 'league tables' and standards for so-called literacy. In this form, the data furnishes a usable and efficient quick language for public discussion. As Lundahl mentioned, the quick language follows the logics of numbers, counting, labelling, comparing and ranking in purpose of choosing (2009). In a critical contribution, De Ketele pointed out the restrictions of the existing psychometric models, including the frequent use of the item-response model. This sort of measurement is well adapted to the evaluation of basic knowledge, but comes unstuck with the measurement of more complicated and multi-dimensional behaviour. There is a risk that the measurement of more complex behaviour is left undone (De Ketele, 2009).

The testing explosion, also seen more and more in Europe in the wake of the global trend, is not in harmony with the prominence given to the diversity of values, structures, financial resources and concepts found within education systems across European nation states.

A negative consequence of the rise of this evaluation hype is that greater responsibility is put on teachers and schools by accountability procedures and the one-sided attention to output at the expense of processes, and a strong emphasis on the evaluation of teachers and schools. The logical next step in this evolution is schools seeking to climb up the rankings by means of subtle mechanisms of recruitment and by excluding some categories of learners.

Maybe Europe is too kindly disposed to the global testing movement, assuming that accusations will be directed towards it of having insufficient efficiency in the quality of its education. The overarching competition logic of the free market opposes the value and ethical sides of education. It sees education as strongly connected to notions of consumer needs and is based on the right to choose and consumers' purchasing power. But this is only one side of education. The school is not an enterprise.

Of course, there is no question of banning tests and measurements from the educational world. But European nation states and the EU should seriously reflect on the aims of measurement as well as on the locus of the evaluation processes. For training objectives related to the labour market, it seems to be rather logical to speak in terms of economic efficiency. This is less obvious when dealing with compulsory education and even higher and university education.

Recognising the diversity in the nation states, and also the professionalism of teachers in managing the pedagogical processes in the classrooms, other ways are possible. For example, why don't we leave the bulk of the evaluation processes in the hands of the teachers, the true guardians of the pedagogical act? The accountability of schools can be considered in a more meta-approach to quality. Give teachers good evaluation instruments and count on their professionalism for their application and interpretation. Meta-approaches for the accountability of schools could be grounded on a system-based assessment of performance (without the possibility of ranking) and on promoting the self-evaluating potential of the learning school, where capable and caring educator professionals are at work. The objective can change: but the judgement of teachers should not be replaced with the '*objectivity*' of external tests; rather it should improve this.

Without doubt, the testing issue is a very important one, but the question of having a common worldwide language is also very meaningful for Europe, and has implications for European language policies in education. As mentioned and explained above, English is on its way to becoming the *lingua franca* of the world. Youngsters are interested in mastering English as well as their mother tongue.

Let's not forget the importance for Europe of being competitive in sciences and technology. There is a real danger of underestimating the learning and teaching of sciences and technology. Finally, new ideas on the interpretation of a generally accepted principle of child-centred education will force themselves on Western educational practice.

References

Beech, J. (2009). 'Policy spaces, mobile discourses and the definition of educated identities', *Comparative Education*, **45**, 3, 347–364.

Benveniste, L. (2002). 'The political structuration of assessment: negotiating state power and legitimacy', *Comparative Education Review*, **46**, 2, 89–118.

Castells, M. (2000). The Rise of the Network Society. Oxford: Blackwell.

Commission of the European Communities (2005). *Mobilising the Brainpower of Europe: Enabling Universities to Make Their Full Contribution to the Lisbon Strategy* (COM 152 Final). Brussels: European Commission [online]. Available: http://ec.europa.eu/education/policies/2010/doc/comuniv2005_en.pdf [6 September, 2010].

Damon, W. (1995). *Greater Expectations. Overcoming the Culture of Indulgence in America's Schools and Homes.* New York, NY: The Free Press.

De Ketele, J.M. (2009), 'L'évaluation de l'école par les standards intermédiaux', *Revue Internationale d'Education de Sévres*, **52**, 69–76.

Directorate-General for Education and Culture (2000). *European Report on Quality of School Education. Sixteen Quality Indicators.* Brussels: European Commission.

Green, A. (1997). 'Educational achievement in centralized and decentralized systems.' In: Halsey, A.H., Lauder, H., Brown, P. and Wells, S. A. (Eds). *Education: Culture, Economy, and Society*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Hobsbawm, E. (1994). *The Age of Extremes. A Histroy of The World* 1914 - 1991. New York: Vintage Books.

Huntington, S.P. (1996). *The Clash of Civilizations and the Remaking of the World Order*. London: Simon and Schuster.

Kamens, D.H. and McNeely, C.L. (2010). 'Globalization and the growth of international educational testing and national assessment', *Comparative Education Review*, **54**, 1, 5–25.

Korthals Altes, E. (1999). *Heart and Soul for Europe. An Essay on Spiritual Renewal*. Assen: Van Gorcum.

Landes, D.S. (1998). Arm en Rijk. Utrecht: Spectrum.

Lundahl, C. and Waldow, F. (2009). 'Standardisation and 'quick' languages: the shape shifting of standardised measurement of pupil achievement in Sweden and Germany', *Comparative Education*, **45**, 3, 365–386.

Novoa, A. and Lawn, M. (Eds) (2002). *Fabricating Europe. The Formation of an Education Space*. London: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Robertson, R. (1992). Globalization, Social Theory and Global Culture. London: Sage.

Scheele, K. (2005). *Acceleratie in Het Hoger Onderwijs in de Verenigde Staten* [Acceleration in Higher Education in the USA]. Utrecht: The Dutch Inspectorate.

Sen, A. (1999). Development as Freedom. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Steiner-Khamsi, G. (2002). 'Reterritorializing educational import: explorations into the politics of educational borrowing.' In: Novoa, A. and Lawn, M. (Eds) *Fabricating Europe: the Formation of an Education Space*. London: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Van Burg, J.A.C. (2001). *Westerse Cultuur uit Balans. Naar een Nieuw Evenwicht in the 21ste Eeuw* [Western Culture Out of Balance. Towards a New Equilibrium for the 21st Era]. Budel: Damon.

Van Parreren, C.F.and Carpay, J. (1972). *Sovjetpsychologen aan het Woord* [Soviet Psychologists Speaking]. Groningen: Tjeenk Willink.

Van Woensel, C. (Ed.) (2009). *A Toolkit for the European Citizen*. The Implementation of Key Competences. Challenges and Opportunities. Brussels: CIDREE.

Waldow, F. (2009). 'Undeclared imports: silent borrowing in educational policymaking and research in Sweden', *Comparative Education*, **45**, 4, 477–494.

Further reading

Below are references used for background purposes and for further reading.

Balarin, M. and Bebavides, M. (2010). 'Curriculum reform and the displacement of knowledge in Peruvian rural schools: exploring the unintended local consequences of global education policies', *Compare*, **40**, 3, 311–325.

Beck, U. (1997). *Was ist Globalisierung? Irrtümer des Globalismus – Antworten auf Globalisierung*. Frankfurt/M: Suhrkamp Verlag.

Dale, R. (2009).'Les modéles mondiaux, européens et nationaux en éducation', *Revue Internationale d'Education de Sévres*, **52**, 51–60.

Halsey, A.H., Lauder, H., Brown, P. and Wells, S.A. (Eds) (1997). *Education, Culture, Economy, Society*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Mons, N. (2008). 'Autonomie et controle des enseignants. Une enquête dans les pays européens', *Revue Internationale d'Education de Sévres*, **48**, 109–117.

Revue Internationale d'Education (2009). *Dossier n° 52: un Seul Monde, une Seule Ecole?* Sévres: Centre International d'études Pédagogiques.

Standaert, R. (Ed.) (2003). *Becoming the Best. Educational Ambitions for Europe*. Brussels: CIDREE.

Sultana, R. G. (2002). 'Quality education and training for tomorrow's Europe: a contrapuntal reading of European Commission documents.' In: Novoa, A. and Lawn, M. (Eds). *Fabricating Europe. The Formation of an Education Space*. London: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Note

 NAFTA – North American Free Trade Agreement MERCOSUR – Mercado Commun del Sur. Southern Common Market (English) between Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay and Uruguay ASEAN – Association of Southeast Asian Nations UNASUR – Union of South American Nations

2 Unity in diversity: the cross-Europe debates surrounding key skills and competences

Chris Van Woensel



Chris Van Woensel (Belgium Flemish Community) graduated in 1977 in Latin and Greek from the Catholic University of Leuven and has been working as a teacher in secondary education for 25 years. From 2000 to 2010 she worked as an advisor at the Curriculum Division, Ministry of Education and Training of the Flemish Community in Belgium, which is responsible for the core

curriculum. She was a member of the EU Working Group B (New Basic Skills) and EU Cluster Group Key Competences – Curriculum Reform. In 2007 she organised a peer learning activity concerning learning to learn. From 2008 to 2010 she was involved in the TOS21 project follow-up, a project concerning the learning and teaching of technological literacy in compulsory education. In September 2010, she moved over to the inspectorate.

Email: Chris.VanWoensel@gmail.com

Unity in diversity: the cross-Europe debates surrounding key skills and competences

Chris Van Woensel

Abstract

In December 2006, a European Parliament and Council recommendation, referring to key competences for lifelong learning, was communicated to the EU member states (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2006). This contribution not only looks at the development of the resulting framework, it also takes a close look at the impact and implementation of the framework in a number of member states taking different lines of approach.

Indeed, as well as looking at the usual implementation path of an educational innovation, this article addresses a number of conceptual and policy-making points of interest. Examples are given of the functioning of the European framework within some member states in terms of the education content and core curriculum in compulsory education. Although it is not possible to give the whole picture, it is clear that due to the framework interesting and inspiring events are happening in Europe.

Introduction

However necessary, unification of Europe under the auspices of the EU is a major task, as ongoing comments in the press reveal. Moreover, the diversity of our continent is expressed in the diversity of our individual education systems, which are closely entwined with the history and culture of each country or region. One of the EU's problems is its complicated structure, with which few people are familiar. This contribution is not intended to familiarise readers with the labyrinth of commissions, councils, working parties, types of resolutions and powers. We will trace a single route: the development and implementation of what carries the official title of: Recommendation of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2006 on Key Competences for Lifelong Learning (European Parliament and the Council of the European Union, 2006). This is trying to achieve a limited form of harmonisation in all European education systems as far as content is concerned. This event may justifiably be called historic: a European core curriculum. With the exception of the European schools, there is not a *'European'* education in the sense of an education system organised and managed by the EU. Education systems and, not least, their content are the responsibility of national governments, as stated in the Treaty of Maastricht (1992).¹

This contribution looks at what is behind the title of the aforementioned document, and how a number of countries deal with this recommendation.

Creation and development of the EU framework

The Lisbon European Council of 23–24 March 2000 concluded that education has an important role to play in strengthening Europe's position in the world. Education is one of the factors which the Lisbon strategy says plays a welldefined role in helping Europe "to become the most competitive and dynamic knowledge economy of the world" (European Parliament and thr Council of the European Union, 2006, p. 3). A report on progress in the Lisbon process was published in 2004 by Wim Kok, who chaired a group of high-level experts. Education is mentioned, here, in the context of employment and greater investment in 'human capital'; more precisely, the creation of a highly qualified and creative group of employees, who are able to acquire additional knowledge and skills through life long learning (Kok, 2004, p. 33).

As far as education is concerned, this boils down to the fact that training and education systems in the EU member states respond to the requirements of the knowledge society; and they increase the level and quality of employment, and education and training. It was agreed that a European framework was to be defined which described up-to-date '*new*' basic skills. '*New*' was used in the sense of being necessary in today's society; being able to read and write, and being numerate, were no longer seen as sufficient for participation in a complex society. A work programme was endorsed at the European Councils of Stockholm (23–24 March 2001) and Barcelona (15–16 March 2002), which was renamed in 2004 as Education and Training 2010. This programme includes skills for the knowledge society and also specific objectives for promoting language learning, developing entrepreneurship and enhancing the European dimension, in general, in education.

The basic skills working group

The European Commission established a number of working groups in 2001 in order to flesh out agreements reached at a European level at Lisbon 2000. One of these was the working group New Basic Skills, which was to look into which competences are needed by European adult citizens. The working party comprised the representatives of the then member states. The group was supplemented in 2003 with representatives of the candidate member states at that time.

This working group was charged with selecting and defining the new basic skills necessary for all citizens of the EU, an exercise which had already been undertaken at a global level by the OECD as part of its Definition and Selection of Key Competences (DeSeCo) project (OECD, 2010). This working group, which abolished the name New Basic Skills and replaced it with Key Competences, produced a working document containing a European framework for key competences in 2004.

The European Commission based its resolution to the European Parliament on this working document. Following the necessary negotiations and discussion, the framework was adopted by the Council and the European Parliament who published, *The Key Competences for Lifelong Learning: a European Framework*. This was an annex of the *Recommendation of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December, 2006* that was published in the Official Journal of the European Union on 30 December 2006/L394 (European Commission, 2010).

The word 'recommendation' in the title is relevant. EU resolutions and directives are comparable with national laws and are, therefore, binding. A recommendation, as is evident in the word itself, is not binding. It is, however, expected that education contributes to the realisation of the aims of the Lisbon Strategy. In this connection, the Commission has strengthened political cooperation in education, especially by means of the open method of coordination. This method is applied in areas which fall under the competency of the member states, such as employment, social protection, social inclusion, education, and youth and vocational education and training. It is based mainly on the joint establishment of objectives to be achieved, which have been approved by the Council. Specifically, we are talking about jointly defined measuring instruments in the form of statistics, indicators, guidelines and benchmarking; in other words, comparison of the performance of member states. Lastly, the exchange of good practices (Europa Glossary, 2010)² and a peer review are also included. In a peer review, one country invites other member states to take a critical look at their policy choices, and to use these as inspiration for their own policies.

Following this open method of coordination, the Council approved five European benchmarks in 2003.³ These are closely related to the acquisition of key competences. Study visits were arranged for the exchange of good practices, and a new generation of working parties was established to organise peer reviews (see the later discussion on peer learning activities (PLAs)).

A recommendation is not binding and must logically, therefore, result in differences, not least in a domain such as education, which is closely entwined

with a country's history and culture. The EU, however, uses the strategies referred to above for the purpose of lending this recommendation a measure of support. And so, despite the fact that this recommendation is not binding, and does not have the force of law, its effect is not dissimilar.

A closer look at the EU parcel of key competences

A first question is: what are (key) competences? Eurydice concluded from a study in 2002 (Eurydice, 2002) that the efforts of many people (scientists, policy-makers and philosophers) to arrive at a common definition of the concept of *'competence'* have achieved nothing. It does not become any easier when we are talking about *'key competences'*, because this begs the question: what does *'key'* stand for? Depending on the answer to this question, different lists of key competences will be compiled. Each definition of a key competence (p. 13) is based on the scientific and social role of those who present the definition. Its origin, therefore, is a first characteristic of the European Framework of key competences.

The background of the selected EU key competences is sketched in the December 2006 recommendation mentioned earlier. It contains a reference to globalisation and a rapidly changing world in which everything is connected. The following role is assigned to the education of European citizens:

"Education in its dual role, both social and economic, has a key role to play in ensuring that Europe's citizens acquire the key competences needed to enable them to adapt flexibly to such changes."

(European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2006, p. 3)

It is emphasised that there are groups of people who need special support due to educational disadvantage caused by personal, social, cultural or economic circumstances. Specifically, there are references to people with limited basic skills in reading and writing, early school leavers, the long-term unemployed, people who enter employment after an extended period of leave, immigrants and people with disabilities.

The key competences have been selected and defined for adult European citizens in relation to "*personal fulfilment and development, active citizenship, social inclusion and employment*" (Euopean Parliament and Council of the European Union, p. 13). We could say that this list contains a number of areas of tension. Selfdevelopment is an individual dimension, while social cohesion is a social dimension, and employability an economic given. How these different dimensions weigh up against each other, especially where they conflict, is determined by the level of influence and power that specific groups or people have in society. It is also the intention that all young people by the end of compulsory education possess these key competences to a sufficient level that enables them to continue learning, working and living without further support. The framework produced a common European instrument to develop these key competences during one's entire life (adult education and retraining), and to update or improve them (for example, day-release and in-service training). The reference framework is meant to be an instrument to offer common objectives at a European level for policy-makers, education and training providers, employers and citizens. We could speak of a European '*core curriculum*', which is applied by the member states and, to the best of their ability, implemented, adapted and/or supplemented.

Let us now briefly look at the list and the way in which key competences are formulated in the European recommendation. The reference framework sets out eight key competences:

- communication in the mother tongue
- communication in foreign languages
- mathematical competence and basic competences in science and technology
- digital competence
- learning to learn
- social and civic competences
- sense of initiative and entrepreneurship
- cultural awareness and expression.

We also point out a number of concepts which feature repeatedly in the reference framework, because they play a role in all key competences. These are:

- critical thinking
- creativity
- initiative
- problem solving
- risk assessment
- decision taking
- constructive management of feelings.

Each key competence is defined and then fleshed out in detail in terms of essential knowledge, skills and attitudes. The word '*essential*' is very relevant. This term denotes that there are other knowledge, skills and attitudes which may also be listed in relation to each competence. We are faced here with a selection from which the most essential items have been retained. What is deemed to be essential also depends, of course, on the background and objectives of the EU framework. A different organisation with a different line of approach would probably select different '*essential*' knowledge, skills and attitudes. National education authorities, for instance, are able to insert their own emphasis here, as they obviously take into account their own educational context and priorities.

Impact and implementation of the EU framework

The impact of the EU framework is supported by a number of strategies. As well as the establishment of benchmarks, which are deemed to be related to the mastery of key competences, exchange of good practice and mutual learning (PLAs, for instance) are also structurally organised. These two activities are always aimed at the policy level. The EU wishes to support the member states in their education policy development by collecting policy-makers around a particular theme and, in doing so, not lose sight of European education policy. To this end, the following new working groups have been established:

- Cluster on Modernisation of Higher Education
- Cluster on Teachers and Trainers
- Teachers and Trainers in Vocational Education and Training
- Cluster on Making Best Use of Resources
- Cluster on Maths, Science and Technology (MST)
- Cluster on Access and Social Inclusion in Life Long Learning (LLL)
- Cluster on Key Competences
- Cluster on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT)
- Cluster on Recognition of Learning Outcomes
- Working Group on the Adult Learning Action Plan
- European Lifelong Guidance Policy Network (ELGPN).

PLAs stimulate exchanges of information on different policy options and can help advance reforms in national education and training systems. The PLAs are organised by the existing peer learning clusters or other working groups (consisting of national delegates, experts and representatives of the European Commission) interested in specific topics.⁴

The Cluster on Key Competences – Curriculum Reform comprises experts from a number of member states,⁵ who discuss and elaborate on the possibilities and difficulties relating to the EU framework's implementation. The cluster group has been meeting regularly in Brussels since 2007, and has since completed the organisation of five PLAs. The reports on these PLAs can be found at http://ec.europa.eu/education/school-education/doc834_en.htm. Based on the

experiences of the PLAs, recommendations to the member states have been formulated, and a summary of the main policy conclusions can be found on the same website.

The working group focuses mainly on those key competences (learning to learn, social and civic competences, sense of initiative and entrepreneurship, cultural awareness and expression) which are considered to be cross-curricular and, therefore, more difficult to apply because there is a strong '*subject culture*' in secondary education in all member states. A specific problem has arisen concerning how to assess and evaluate key competences. The cluster group is, therefore, preparing a manual for policy-makers including guidelines for the assessment of key competences.

The European framework in practice in the member states

The way in which the different member states deal with the European framework depends on the type of key competence, as well as on the education traditions and culture in the country in question. A number of key competences, such as communication in the mother tongue and mathematical competence, are, of course, easily integrated into existing subjects. However, in the case of the mother tongue, for example, all subject teachers should give attention to the language, concepts and terminology they use in the classroom. Indeed, teaching (and learning) happens primarily by means of language. Certain other key competences, such as learning to learn, and social and digital competence, clearly cross subjects or can be either subject-based or cross-curricular. With the aid of contributions from the CIDREE Yearbook (CIDREE, 2008), we now look at a number of ways in which the European framework is dealt with in different member states.

European and national concepts (Sweden and Ireland)

When the European framework first lands in the education culture of a country, problems can arise, as happened in, for example, Sweden. The present Swedish curricula and syllabuses work with four types of knowledge: facts, insight, skills and experiences acquired. These various aspects of knowledge are always present in practical as well as theoretical learning. The qualities of knowledge within a domain, which are expressions of insight, skills and acquired experience, are included in the national documents. The direct subject and course contents are defined mainly within the school; this is the result of the decentralisation planned at that time. The authorities decide on objectives and expected results. Content and methods are the responsibility of those who must carry out the task and ensure that the objectives are achieved.

A curriculum reform is currently being prepared in Sweden in the compulsory education sector for 2011. Proposals for renewed objectives, with an in-built evaluation system and a more clearly defined place for knowledge in the curriculum, are being discussed. The way in which the European framework will be dealt with has also been included in these discussions. Key competences are certainly present in the current Swedish curricula; these are, however, based on the Swedish concept of *'knowledge'*.

The model presently being developed in Sweden is based on three dimensions, namely:

- knowing (the knowledge dimension)
- thinking (the cognitive dimension)
- doing (the action dimension).

This system is a compromise between the concept used in Sweden and the concept of key competences used in the European framework. The various dimensions are interpreted differently, depending on the level of development of the students and the learning material. For instance, more knowledge will be incorporated in a course for beginners than for advanced students. There may also be different levels in the thinking dimension and the doing dimension, depending on the target group and the domain in question. Expanding the learning line to the ultimate objective, the competence or key competence envisaged, is important for aligning the various educational levels, amongst other things.

Another example can be found in Ireland, where a curriculum reform in higher secondary education was finalised in 2002. They did not wish to abandon the concept of '*skills*', which is deemed to be synonymous with '*competence*'. The National Council for Curriculum and Assessment (NCCA) conducted a broad-based social survey, and based its development of a Key Skills Framework on national and international research (NCCA, 2010). No less than 35 frameworks were studied closely, including the European Framework for key competences. The result was a dedicated Irish framework comprised of five key skills: information processing, communication, personal efficacy, cooperation, critical and creative thinking. Each key skill was further elaborated into essential components indicating which knowledge, skills, aptitude and attitudes the learners develop. Each of these key skills has been defined, included and fully integrated into the subject-based learning. The Key Skills Framework is incorporated into the syllabuses and integrated into the learning results of the subject in question at each review of subject-based learning results.

Selection of key competences (France and Spain)

The examples referred to above showed that key competences, as defined in the European framework, sometimes turn up implicitly or drastically modified in official education documents. The European framework for key competences does explicitly feature in the education legislation of two countries, namely France and Spain, where it has been variously adapted to each nation's educational context.

In France, for instance, an act dated July 2006 (re)organises the content of the *socle commun*, a common package of basic knowledge and skills in the compulsory education sector. A comparison between the *socle commun* (Ministere Education Nationale Enseignement Superior Recherche, 2006) and the European key competences throws up similarities and differences (see Table 2.1).

Table 2.1: Comparison between France's *socle commun* and the European key competences

Socle commun (France)	EU key competences
1. La ma"trise de la langue française	1. Communication in the mother tongue
2. La pratique d'une langue vivante étrangére	2. Communication in foreign languages
 Les principaux éléments de mathématiques et la culture scientifique et technologique 	3. Mathematical competence and basic competences in science and technology
4. La ma"trise des techniques usuelles de l'information et de la communication	4. Digital competence
5. L'autonomie et l'initiative	5. Learning to learn
6. Les compétences sociales et civiques	6. Social and civic competences
	7. Sense of initiative and entrepreneurship
7. La culture humaniste	8. Cultural awareness and expression

Looking at one example in more detail, we see that *'learning competence'*, as such, is not mentioned. The *socle commun* does, in fact, contain elements of the European learning competence. However, it approaches the competence from the perspective of students' autonomy and, as far as implementation is concerned, places more emphasis on intellectual capabilities, and less on occupation and employment skills. Moreover, physical skills and awareness are added (for example, knowledge of one's own physical limits, such as being able to swim).

Autonomy is combined with the development of initiative. And, entrepreneurship has clearly been abandoned.

Spain, in comparison, adopted the European framework almost in its entirety, and its legislation fleshes out the evaluation process for key competences in the form of a generic diagnostic assessment. A concrete example of this is given in the CIDREE Yearbook (CIDREE, 2008, pp. 113–20).

Making key competences more concrete (Belgium–Flemish community)

An example is found in Belgium (Flanders), where the key competence, 'basic competency in technology', has been elaborated into a framework for technical literacy. The Techniek op School voor de 21ste eeuw⁶ (TOS21) work group, a joint initiative between the Flemish Minister for Work, Education and Training, and the Flemish Minister for the Economy, Trade, Science, Innovation and Foreign Trade, has developed a conceptual framework for technical education from preschool education through to the end of secondary education (pupils aged 2.5 to 18 years old).

Technology and learning technology are described in an analytical fashion. This analytical method gave rise to a framework with 19 standards translated into reference points that are modified to suit a student's age and developmental stage.

Four fundamental 'core components' have been selected to enable an understanding of what technology comprises, its specific characteristics, and how it is distinguished from science and other subjects. These core components are technological systems, processes, resources and choices. The concept of 'learning technology' has also been clarified by means of three perspectives or 'dimensions': learning what technology is (understanding), learning to use technology (using) and placing it in a wider framework (making sense). The technology framework, with its 19 standards, is set out in Table 2.2.

Technological literacy		Key components of technology			
		Technological Systems	Technological Process	Resources	Choices
Dimensions of learning about technology	Understanding	Understanding that the components of technological systems are attuned to each other Understanding that technological	Understanding that the technological process is cyclical	Understanding that 'resources' means everything that is required to enable technological systems to function, to produce those	Understanding that societal choices determine the use and development of technological systems
		Understanding that technological systems require planned maintenance in order to ensure their longevity, quality and proper functioning		systems and to analyse how they operate	
		Understanding that technological systems are subject to quality control			
		Understanding that technological systems are invented or optimised			
	Using	Using technological systems efficiently Taking an inquisitive approach when technological systems fail to function properly Maintaining technological systems	Running through the technological process in a cyclical way to produce a technological system	Using resources as a means to achieve the applicable objective	

Table 2.2: Flemish Technology Framework

Technological literacy		Key components of technology			
		Technological Systems	Technological Process	Resources	Choices
Dimensions of learning about technology	Making sense	Realising that technological systems are based on a need Realising that the use of technological systems can have positive and negative effects Realising that technological systems evolve over time	Realising that the technological process affects the society that people live in Realising that scientific insights play a role in the technological process		Understanding that choices are essential for the use and development of technological systems

Table 2.2: Flemish Technology Framework continued

An example of reference points classified according to dimensions, key components and age levels are shown in Tables 2.3 to 2.6.

Table 2.3: Age levels

Age level	Educational level	Age group
А	pre-school education	from 2.5 to 6 years
В	primary education	from 6 to 12 years
С	first-level secondary education	from 12 to 14 years
D	second- and third-level secondary education	from 14 to 18 years

Table 2.4: Understanding technological systems

А	В	С	D	
Understanding that the components of technological systems are attuned to each other				
Understanding technological systems	Understanding that technological systems comprise various components that fulfil predetermined objectives in relation to each other	Understanding that all components of technological systems have a specific function	Understanding that thinking in terms of systems involves studying the intercon- nected nature of the components of technological systems	

Table 2.5: Using systems

Α	В	С	D	
Using technological systems efficiently				
Using technological systems carefully to achieve a certain objective	Using technological systems in the appropriate context	Using technological systems effectively	Making optimal use of technological systems by seeking out information	

	-			
А	В	С	D	
Realising that technological systems are based on a need				
Realising that technological systems are created to meet individual needs and requirements	Realising that technological systems are created to meet societal needs	Realising that the driving forces behind the development, acceptance and use of technological systems are all of a societal nature	Realising that the transfer of technological systems from one society to another causes societal changes	

Table 2.6: Making sense of systems

The TOS21 project was concluded on 31 August 2008. The TOS21 framework has a broad base with many intermediary actors, including the inspectorate, pedagogical support services and teacher training institutes actively involved in its development. Researchers and experts from different domains of science and technology were also consulted. The TOS21 framework was completed with wide-ranging consultation and consensus between partners in education and outside. It became the basis for the modernisation of the technology curriculum objectives in basic education, which became effective in September 2010.

Research into the function of key competences (Greece and Austria)

The European framework also gives rise to research. An attempt is made to answer questions which, in fact, are posed in each country in one form or another. For instance, one question asked is: which subjects contribute to which key competences? One can approach a subject such as maths or physics from one's own discipline-bound content and skills, or one may study what these discipline-bound content and skills contribute to, for instance, learning competences and communication in a mother tongue. In addition, there is an important question relating to didactics: to what extent does the development of key competences amongst students give rise to different didactics?

An example is found in Greece, where an attempt was made to map the relationship between learning and digital competences, and the competences necessary for school-level physics. Based on an analysis of all competences relating to knowledge, skills and behaviour, elements were singled out and combined within a matrix. The conclusion was that the way students learn and are taught (in other words, the didactic and pedagogical choices made by teachers) are crucial for developing key competences amongst young people. Learning in a way which develops competences demands an explicitly process-based approach and corresponding evaluation. As part of the evaluation, researchers also asked questions about the influence of the national final exam, for which they noted: *"The assignments and questions do not always match the many pedagogical learning and evaluation innovations introduced at prior education levels."* (CIDREE, 2008, p. 179)

In Austria, the transversal, or cross-subject, competences of autonomous learning, such as acquisition and processing of information, cooperation, critical and reflective thinking, are combined with maths competence. There are work sheets for teachers and pupils, entitled *Mathematik-Methoden*, in which both types of competences are combined by means of process-based instruction and assignments. This strategy is considered to have a number of benefits. It prevents the situation arising where nobody feels responsible because all teachers have a shared responsibility to work towards transversal competences. Offering the transversal competences in this way to maths teachers means they are integrated easily into day-to-day school life without affecting the often strict hourly timetables, which turn interdisciplinary and cross-subject working into an organisational headache.

Systematic thinking in relation to European key competences (Hungary)

Legislation and official documents are not a guarantee for the successful introduction of innovative elements in the educational curriculum. Ultimately, it is the intention that something should change in the class and in schools. The trials and tribulations of reorganising the educational world have been the subject of much writing. It is certainly not the intention to look at all these in this context. We will consider a single recurring idea amongst that raft of literature: systematic thinking.

Education is a complex system, in which everything is connected to everything else. In order to instigate changes, it is necessary to try and influence as many factors or variables as possible. For instance, this approach was applied in

Hungary when the European key competences were introduced into the education system. The national core curriculum contains the explicit key competences in the vision texts as well as in the concrete framework syllabuses. The educational programmes and packages are approved only if they include tasks and assignments which are suitable for the development of competences. All these documents serve as a reference for the publishers of learning materials, for the setting of national exams and other forms of evaluation, and for the teaching teams who develop the local curricula. All this will be supplemented with targeted extra training for teachers.

Conclusion

The principle indicated in the title of this article, *Unity in diversity*, is a difficult balancing act, which gives rise to many differences of opinion between, as well as within, European member states. The Maastricht researcher Versluis concluded, following an empirical study of two cases, that there are large differences between EU member states, even when European policy is actually applied. ⁷ She is of the opinion that large differences can be explained by the differences in national circumstances. She does not put forward the view that all EU member states have the same traditions and cultures when dealing with policy. Rather, the various member states each respond in their own way to EU directives and recommendations. The response is said to depend mainly on the structure of the political and administrative system in each country. She concludes:

"Only when science understands better the differences between countries in how they apply EU policy at national level, will we be able to gain greater insight in the extent to which European integration will actually result in European unification."

Applied to the educational dimension of Europe, things are a little bit different. Complete unification is neither desirable nor advisable. The European framework is a meta-framework, which leaves room for member states to give emphasis to their own priorities. Nevertheless, developing a common core of such competences will stimulate not only (economic-driven) mobility in the EU, but also foster understanding between the citizens of the different member states. The way these key competences are made concrete for different age groups is the responsibility of the member states, as part of their general responsibilities for determining the curricular content. Meanwhile, schools and teachers have specific responsibility for the pedagogical and didactical methods used. The *'main'* concern for the future will not be which key competences are taught, but how they are taught, learned and evaluated. A core EU content has now been defined, stimulating the different member states to reflect and give an appropriate answer to the question: what should young people be able to know and to do? But now is the time to emphasise the other influential factors in the educational system in order to make competence-based learning possible.

References

Consortium of Institutions for Development and Research in Education in Europe (CIDREE) (2008). *A Toolkit for the European Citizen: the Implementation of Key Competences. Challenges and Opportunities.* Brussels: CIDREE [online]. Available: http://www.cidree.be/uploads/documentenbank/52d4eddca5f913 bbd6696e6f41a07fff.pdf [3 September, 2010].

European Commission (2010). *The European Framework for Key Competences* [online]. Available: http://ec.europa.eu/education/lifelong-learning-policy/doc42_en.htm [3 September, 2010].

European Parliament and the Council of the European Union (2006). *Recommendation of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2006 on Key Competences for Lifelong Learning* [online]. Available: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/ LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2006:394:0010:0018:en:PDF [3 September, 2010].

Eurydice (2002). *Key Competences: a Developing Concept in General Compulsory Education*. Brussels: Eurydice [online]. Available: http://www.see-educoop.net/education_in/pdf/compulsary-edu-oth-enl-t05.pdf [3 September, 2010].

Kok, W. (2004). *Facing the Challenge. The Lisbon Strategy for Growth and Employment*. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities [online] available: http://www.la-moncloa.es/NR/rdonlyres/ CB725FCC-0156-492A-A05E-0A4C9F426460/74755/KOKReportNov2004.pdf [3 September, 2009].

Ministere Education Nationale Enseignement Superior Recherche (2006). *Le socle commun de connaissances et de compétences* [The Common Base of Knowledge and Skills]. Paris: Ministere Education Nationale Enseignement Superior Recherche.

National Council for Curriculum and Assessment (NCCA) (2010). *Key Skills Framework* [online]. Available: http://www.action.ncca.ie/en/key-skills/key-skills-framework [3 September, 2010].

Organisation for Economic and Co-operation Development (OECD) (2010). *Definition and Selection of Competences (DeSeCo)* [online]. Available: http://www.oecd.org/document/17/0,3343,en_2649_39263238_2669073_1_1_1_1,00.html [3 September, 2010].

Further reading

Standaert, R. (2003). *Het vergelijken van onderwijssystemen* [Comparing Educational Systems]. Leuven: Acco.

Van Woensel, C. (2009). 'De Europese sleutelcompetenties: een hefboom voor een Europees kerncurriculum?' [European key competences: the key for a European core curriculum?] *Impuls*, **39**, 4, 176–185.

Websites

Results of the public consultation on schools http://ec.europa.eu/education/school21/sec2177_en.pdf

EU brochure about key competences, available in all member state languages http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/education_culture/publ/pdf/ll-learning/keycomp_en.pdf

Strategic framework for education and training *http://ec.europa.eu/education/lifelong-learning-policy/doc28_en.htm*

Glossary http://europa.eu/scadplus/glossary/open_method_coordination_en.htm

Monitoring progress *http://ec.europa.eu/education/lifelong-learning-policy/doc34_en.htm*

Reports of the PLAs *http://ec.europa.eu/education/school-education/doc834_en.htm*

EU mobility and lifelong learning instruments :

There are several related initiatives to help make qualifications, experiences and skills better appreciated and easier to recognise throughout the EU. *http://ec.europa.eu/education/lifelong-learning-policy/doc40_en.htm*

Main policy initiatives and outputs in education and training since the year 2000 *http://ec.europa.eu/education/lifelong-learning-policy/doc1120_en.htm*

In 2008, the European Commission made a series of proposals to modernise school systems in its 'Improving Competences for the 21st Century: An Agenda for European Cooperation on Schools' Communication. http://ec.europa.eu/education/school-education/doc838_en.htm

Peer learning activities http://www.kslll.net/PeerLearningActivities/Default.cfm

45

Europe 2020: A strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth *http://ec.europa.eu/eu2020/index_en.htm*

Eurydice Network http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/index_en.php

Core curriculum in Belgium (Flemish Community) *www.ond.vlaanderen.be/dvo*

What is CIDREE? www.cidree.org www.kennislink.nl/web/show?id=161602 (in Dutch)

Notes

- 1 Article 149: "The Community shall contribute to the development of quality education by encouraging cooperation between Member States and, if necessary, by supporting and supplementing their actions, while fully respecting the responsibility of the Member States for the content of teaching and the organisation of educational systems and their cultural and linguistic diversity."
- 2 http://europa.eu/scadplus/glossary/open_method_coordination_en.htm
- 3 http://ec.europa.eu/education/lifelong-learning-policy/doc34_en.htm
- 4 http://www.kslll.net/PeerLearningActivities/Default.cfm
- 5 Austria, Belgium (BEnl), Bulgaria, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Greece, Spain, Croatia, Hungary, Ireland and Lithuania
- 6 Technology in the school of the 21st century
- 7 Europese enwording (European unification) www.kennislink.nl/web/show?id=161602

3 Schooling for the 21st century: a personal view

Seamus Hegarty



Seamus Hegarty was Director of the National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER) from 1994 to 2005. He was part of the group that founded CIDREE, a member and then Chair of the Executive Committee of CIDREE, and its President from 2001–2003.

He is currently Chair of the International Association for the Evaluation of Educational

Achievement, holding visiting professorships at the University of Warwick and three other universities, and a Marie Curie research fellowship at Trinity College Dublin. His research and academic interests span special and inclusive education, Education For All (EFA), assessment, the school of the future, and the management and evaluation of research. He has published widely, especially in inclusive education, and is founder editor of the European Journal of Special Needs Education, now in its 25th year. He is a member of the advisory panel for the Assessment and Teaching of 21st Century Skills project. He is also a member of the UK National Commission for UNESCO, where he chairs the EFA Working Group.

He has acted as an advisor and expert for UNESCO, European Commission, Council of Europe and OECD, as well as for many national bodies, most recently in Chile, Finland, Ireland, Italy, Norway and the Netherlands. He has advised universities and national bodies in a number of countries on research strategy and leadership.

Email: seamus.hegarty@talktalk.net

Schooling for the 21st century: a personal view

Seamus Hegarty

Abstract

This paper sets out a vision for schooling in the 21st century. It is based on a critique of current practice, an awareness of some initiatives being taken to shape the school of the future, and a conviction that radical change in how we prepare our young people for adult life is not only possible but necessary. The vision is set out in three parts: an approach to what children and young people should learn, that starts from the concept of the educated adult and the school's role in creating it, as opposed to the subject divisions of the traditional curriculum; the use of individual learning pathways for every pupil as a means whereby personal learning mentors assist them toward powerful and appropriate learning; and an expanded role for teachers that sees them as managers of learning and supported by a wide range of other adults.

Where does 'the future' come from?

There are several ways of thinking about the future. One is to analyse current trends and extrapolate from them so as to predict what will happen. This is not for the modest, or the faint of heart. The uncertain track record of economic and business analysts, with the massive resources and datasets at their disposal, should serve as a salutary warning for anybody who would attempt the even more challenging task of forecasting educational trends. A second approach is to develop different scenarios: given specified policies, resource environments and other conditions, what directions for schooling can be anticipated? This has the advantage of foregrounding policy and other levers of change and of indicating how desired outcomes can be fostered and undesirable ones avoided. It does require ambitious modelling, however; schooling, never mind education, is a complex system, with diverse component parts and many interactions between them. And a scenario approach needs sophisticated models and adequate data for it to be useful. Given sufficient time and resources, this can certainly be a suggestive way of engaging with the future.

A further approach – and the one I have opted for here – is to set out a vision of what the future should look like, taking into account current policy developments, to indicate what a young person leaving school 20 years hence

might have learned while at school. This is driven by the evident failure of so many schools to engage young people and excite them about learning, but also by examples of innovative practice, which demonstrate that schools *can* produce young people who are enthusiastic and competent learners. This vision may seem idealistic, idiosyncratic even, but sometimes it is necessary to set present reality aside. The weight of the actual can prevent us from seeing images of the future. In the real world, a totally clean sheet is seldom available but sometimes it is necessary to imagine one if we are to imagine different futures.

What are schools for?

A key purpose of schooling is to assist in the task of transforming infants into mature, adult citizens. This is problematic for at least three reasons: schooling is only one of the agencies which contribute to this transformation; the diversity of the human situation is such that mature adulthood and the routes toward it take many forms; and the process is never finished – we are all 'works in progress' for as long as we live.

Schooling is only one source of young people's learning and, in the years to come, the relationship between schooling and education will be quite different from now, in two contrasting ways. On the one hand, children and young people will have much greater access to information and sophisticated learning material independently of school than they do currently. Precisely because of that, however, they will have greater need of support to prevent them from floundering in a morass of undigested information or flitting from topic to topic in a superficial way. Likewise, some of the learning currently done within school may well be going on outside school, and it may be advantageous to have a single point of reference so that the young person's diverse learning activities are integrated into a coherent whole. Schooling will continue to be important and, indeed, will serve key new roles, but it must be situated within the broader learning arena.

A second challenge lies in the notion of mature adulthood and the role of school in relation to it. Current discourse privileges participation in the workplace as the central aspect of adult life, and the principal purpose of schooling in many eyes is to prepare young people to become productive members of the workforce. Adulthood entails much more than economic participation, however important though that is: people have families and domestic lives; belong to various formal and informal communities; pursue leisure activities; are citizens within local, national and international contexts; engage in the arts; operate within moral frameworks; and, possibly, are touched by spiritual experiences. Maturity calls for development on all fronts and, while it is not for schools to take responsibility for education across the entire human condition, the dominant emphasis on working life is unsatisfactory. Current schooling does not ignore the broader dimensions of adulthood completely but neither does it take them particularly seriously. So long as the requirements of university entrance and vocational preparation predominate, the contribution of schooling to adult life will be partial.

Regardless of what they have learned or qualifications achieved, school leavers are still at an early stage of their education. What they acquire from school is important in its own right, but its value is diminished if it does not give young people the tools and the motivation to embark on a lifelong path of learning and personal growth. Schooling, therefore, must be seen as only one stage, albeit a particularly intensive one, in a lifetime's learning.

The central questions that flow from this are: what should children and young people leaving school in the future have learned while at school; and, how do they learn best? Knowledge is constantly growing, and the world that young people will inhabit even 20 years from now will be very different from today. Ways of learning will have developed too, and it is likely that both research and practice will point to more efficient and creative use of the time spent in learning.

What should pupils learn?

There are many views of what children and young people should learn at school but the dominant voice hitherto has been that of subject specialists. School curricula are still defined essentially in subject terms, and, within subjects, topics are set out in a structured and often hierarchical way. This is all very well if the aim is to transmit a coherent body of knowledge in an area or to produce chemists or speakers of Spanish or violin players, but it is not well suited to the task of equipping every young person with the knowledge and skills they need for a fulfilling adult life.

The problems of overload, incoherence and irrelevance for many pupils that flow from the subject approach to the curriculum are familiar. A common reaction to this has been to '*negotiate*' between the competing demands of subjects, squeeze out a little extra teaching time by looking at subject overlaps and so on. This yields limited solutions, however, and is as likely to intensify territorial clashes as it is to foster transdisciplinary learning. In any case, there are other difficulties with a subject-based approach. It reflects a particular way of carving up and presenting what is deemed to be important knowledge, whereas it is only one way of classifying knowledge and owes its current pride of place to tradition rather than to reasoned argument. It draws on patterns of knowledge storage, dissemination and retrieval that are increasingly outmoded. Above all, it is out of line with a modern approach to education and a school system that must educate all pupils, not just those who will go to university. If we abandon subjects as a means of specifying the curriculum, what do we replace them with? Actually, we should not replace them with anything, at least not in the same way. (And we certainly should not replace them with anything that will last as long as the subjects have lasted!) It is for society, at a given time and place, to consider what constitutes an educated person and what schooling should do to help produce such people. It is unlikely that there will be unanimity over such views, and different concepts of what it means to be educated are likely to be articulated, but a widespread public debate would help to sharpen the issues. Such debates are taking places in a number of countries and diverse ways of conceiving the curriculum are being put forward – disciplines, key learning areas, learning standards and various combinations of these. As a contribution to this debate, I have set out a framework here; this draws on current good practice and makes concrete proposals which may provoke discussion, if not necessarily agreement.

The framework has nine core strands of learning, with a number of cross-cutting themes. This will provide a core curriculum for all pupils up to age 14/15. While the time allocations and weightings associated with the strands will vary, each is important and each will feature in every student's portfolio of achievement. The framework is set out schematically in Figure 3.1.

Figure 3.1: Framework for learning



Curriculum framework

Core learning strands

Communication

The familiar division of mother-tongue learning into reading, writing, speaking and listening provides a convenient framework for considering communication in future schools. Each of these activities will continue to be important and, indeed, the aim will still be for all learners to become competent and creative users of their mother tongue in receptive and expressive modes, and in different genres. The various activities will take different shapes, however, and their relative weights will change.

A first change is that young people's communicative competence will extend beyond words. Verbal communication will still be important but so too will graphical, numerical and (audio) visual communication. When young people leave school, they will be versed in these different communication modes, able to decode and use them, and adept at matching communication mode to content and purpose.

Secondly, oral communication will become far more important, whether it be expressing ideas coherently to a small group of peers or making effective presentations to larger groups, discussing joint projects within a team or taking part in drama activities.

Thirdly, electronic communication will be pervasive. This will have particular impact on the traditional skills of reading and writing. Much reading will be on screen in the future, and this will entail new skills for the learner as well as new challenges for those who facilitate the acquisition of reading skills. Writing, likewise, will be different, as text-entry skills supplant handwriting, and word-processing software becomes a standard tool. None of this will obviate the need for learners to understand the structure of language, or of the other communication modes they use, but the focus will be much more strongly on communicative purpose.

Learning other languages is a further aspect of communication. Early exposure to another language can give children a sense of language as a means of communication, regardless of the competence achieved in the target language. This is valuable and should be pursued for all children. Properly done, it gives them an enhanced sense of their own language and will help them to use it more effectively. And, of course, it can lay the foundations for sustained learning of another language.

Thought must be given, however, to the amount of school time devoted to learning other languages. Curriculum time is limited and there are many demands on it. If young people spend lengthy periods of time learning a language under present arrangements and do not reach a level of competence where they can communicate in it, or have the opportunity to do so, one has to question these arrangements. It may be that the traditional in-school approach to language learning cannot sustain the necessary intensity and motivation, and the most productive approach may be to seek partnerships with community and other sources of language learning.

Numeracy

Numeracy shares with communication the distinction of being important as an area of learning in its own right, a support for other areas of learning, and a key skill for the workplace and daily life. That said, much of the current discourse on maths education misses the point. By failing to distinguish adequately between numeracy and mathematics, it leads schools – and learners – down blind alleyways.

While all students need numeracy skills, not all need mathematics! To many this will sound like heresy but, in fact, much of what passes for maths education in schools is a waste of time, neither introducing young learners to the wonders of mathematics nor equipping them with numeracy skills for everyday living.

Mathematics is, in the first place, an abstract system concerned with symbolic manipulation and relationships in number, quantity and space. Mathematical knowledge is also deeply implicated in science and technology, medical and social sciences, ICT and the financial world. For the majority of students, however, neither pure mathematics nor the sophisticated mathematical algorithms that underpin the modern workplace are particularly relevant. What all learners need – and what so many schools fail to provide – is a solid numeracy for living and working in a knowledge society. This is unlikely to be produced by the mathematical operations and algebraic formulations that characterise much of maths education. What is needed is a greater emphasis on probability and statistical inference, data handling and analysis, including graphical communication, modelling, inference from uncertain data and financial literacy.

Science and technology

The impact of science and technology on people's lives and on society as a whole grows ever greater, and a thorough grounding in science and its applications will be an essential part of every pupil's schooling. This should encompass: knowledge of basic scientific facts; an understanding of scientific methods; an appreciation of the impact of science and technology on society; and a capacity to understand science-based claims. Pupils will still need to learn basic scientific facts, probably in even greater depth than now. It is unlikely that the current divide between physics, chemistry, biology and earth sciences will survive, not least because topics of major interest require an interdisciplinary approach. In any case, the changing nature of science will lead to new groupings of science topics.

Science represents a particular way of generating knowledge: assembling data, testing hypotheses, relating findings to theoretical frameworks and reporting conclusions to peers. This empirical approach is the bedrock of science and it is imperative that students acquire the fullest understanding possible of it.

Science and technology have a major impact on society. Medicine, transport, food production and communication – all are increasingly affected by, when not dependent on, science-based innovation. Young people need an awareness of the forces at work here, not merely for the wealth of vocational opportunities but also for an understanding of the world in which they live.

Science claims can, of course, be wrong, and science can be pressed into service to bolster dubious claims. This can be the result of an individual scientist's enthusiasm for findings which have not been verified (and indeed may be rejected by the research community), or it can arise from selective or mischievous use of scientific data. Recent examples that come to mind include cold water fusion and the link between the MMR vaccine and autism, likewise the succession of miracle diets allegedly based on research findings. Young people will need to leave school equipped with the resources to understand science-based claims when they are reported in the media, and challenge them when appropriate. Otherwise, they will be at the mercy of the cynical and the unscrupulous, and be ill-prepared for life in a modern society.

The arts

The arts are a vital and unique way of relating to the world. For many people they are an unequalled source of insight and delight, and artistic participation and experience are central to their quality of life. The aim for schools must be that every young person is 'touched' by the arts and will leave school with the skills, developed judgement and, above all, sense of delight in artistic experience that will allow them a lifelong engagement with the arts in all their variety.

Current provision of arts education suffers in two contrasting respects: it is seen to serve many extremely important functions; and it is not taken seriously! Arts education is held to contribute to children's education by developing creativity, exploring values, educating feeling and sensitivity, helping to understand cultural differences and so on. The arts may contribute in some of these areas (though other parts of the curriculum arguably are better placed for many of them) but that is not their function and it makes little sense to justify them on such instrumental grounds. Regardless of these grandiose claims, the arts are not core to pupils' learning in practice: low attainment in the arts is not seen as particularly problematic; there is little expectation of sustained, structured work in the arts by all pupils; and, despite pockets of excellence, teacher education in the arts leaves much to be desired.

The vision here is that all school leavers will have had a sustained engagement in the arts. (The arts are being seen broadly here to include literature and drama, cinema, music, dance and the visual arts.) Every young person will have some knowledge of the main art forms and the 'great works' associated with each – the latter are important as cultural reference points, if for no other reason – and an in-depth engagement with one or more of them. They will leave school with performance and receptive skills, they will have a developed aesthetic judgement and they will know from their own experience the delight that artistic engagement brings. They will be aware, too, that the arts constitute a major and diverse workplace and are a significant source of employment. All of this will be supported by enhanced teacher education and greater use of artists in stimulating pupils' learning and aesthetic development.

Sense of self

An important aspect of growing up is acquiring a sense of self, an understanding of who you are and where you fit into local and wider communities. School is only one source of this emerging sense of self but it is an important one. We all live at the cusp of particular historical, socio-cultural, economic, linguistic and religious forces, and an appropriate understanding of these is essential if we are to develop a sense of who we are.

Much of the learning under this heading will draw on the traditional subjects of history, geography and social studies. The focus will be quite different, however. While knowledge of historical and other social 'facts' will still be necessary, their acquisition will be seen in the context of the learner's growing sense of identity rather than in terms of mastering relatively disconnected bodies of information. Whether the focus is on the nationhood of one's own country or the movement of peoples across the globe, the changing nature of agriculture or patterns of urbanisation, the history of the book or new forms of social networking, the aim is to enable young people to know where they themselves, their families and communities, fit into the larger scheme of things. Having a sense of self gives them an understanding of the diverse forces that bear upon them and to equip them, as necessary, with the means of challenging those forces.

It will be important here to strike a balance between individual and collective identities. Children of metropolitan, ethnic minority parents do not occupy the same socio-cultural or historical space as children of parents who have lived in the same part of a country for generations. These differences must be recognised

and accommodated within pupil learning, but they do not mean that pupils will be following separate, non-overlapping learning routes. There are common features as well as differences, and multiple identities will be increasingly common. Schools have an important role to play in getting young people to recognise and respect each other's social space, and in doing so make a major contribution to social cohesion.

This learning strand extends naturally into global issues. While these are exceedingly complex, children benefit from being introduced to them from an early age. Young people in Western Europe continue to live in a very favoured part of the world. At the very least, they need to be aware of this and have some understanding of the reasons for it. It is to be hoped that this will lead to greater regard for those who are less favoured and that they will grow up with a strong commitment to justice and equity between peoples.

Citizenship and the environment

This strand will be based on current approaches to citizenship education in many countries but will go beyond them in several ways. It is important that young people learn about parliamentary democracy, the legal system and so on, but they also need to get behind the 'facts' and understand how government and the law work in practice. Why, for instance, are some votes in parliamentary elections worth more than others? Does the legal system really treat all groups of people in the same way? What is the proper response to endemic corruption in government, business and the professions? Dealing with these and similar questions will enable young people see where power lies in society and where they stand in relation to it. They will leave school able to understand the role of the media in the political process and with the skills to interpret the statements of politicians and political commentators. The aim will be to assist them in developing informed views on issues of the day and in understanding the capacity of the individual citizen to exert influence or bring about change.

The environment strand will deal with many issues of local, national and global concern. These span nature and the built environment, and will cover some of the topics covered in the traditional geography curriculum. It will also address questions relating to quality of life and sustainable development. Great attention will be paid to environmental awareness and action. Pupils will have a good understanding from science and technology of the environmental impact of human action. The task will be to build on this understanding so as to promote responsible behaviour at personal, community and workplace levels.

Daily living

There are at least four strands of consideration here: healthy living, to include personal relationships and sex; food; finance; and travel and road use. This part
of the curriculum will build on current programmes for personal, social and health education, but it will extend them considerably and ensure that they are part of core learning for all pupils.

Healthy living entails the familiar mix of avoiding the harmful and seeking out the wholesome. The former – alcohol and substance abuse, smoking, risky sexual behaviour – are relatively well covered but there needs to be a stronger focus on the latter. These cover a wide range of things from posture, diet, sleep and exercise to the need for social and mental engagement. Lest all of this is considered unnecessary and condescending, consider backache: countless numbers of people suffer pain – and miss days of work – because of conditions attributable to ignorance of the basic elements of good posture. Examples could be multiplied of learning that would greatly enhance people's everyday lives.

A focus on food is important for the dietary and health-related implications but also for the enjoyment of food and for its significance in family and social life. Children need to know much more about food – the different kinds of food, where they come from, the impact of food production and distribution on the environment, and of course how to cook.

Young people in rich countries live in an increasingly consumer-oriented society. This points to a need for specific knowledge and skills. At a basic level, some financial literacy is needed to facilitate sensible money management and enable young people to make informed decisions on matters related to housing, debt, insurance, pensions and other savings. Beyond that, they need assistance in becoming both effective and responsible consumers. This will entail, on the one hand, being able to understand advertisers' claims, compare products and prices, and so on and, on the other, becoming more aware of the environmental footprint of consumer decisions and being guided in their choices accordingly.

The topic of travel and road use is important for two reasons: despite numerous road safety initiatives, many children and young people are still being killed or injured on the roads as pedestrians, cyclists and drivers; and travel is likely to continue to be a major aspect of everyday life as well as a significant source of environmental pollution. We must not continue to allow our young people to set forth into adulthood with the deficient skills and attitudes to road use that currently result in so many casualties. There is more at stake than personal safety, however. Transport has a major impact on the environment – locally, nationally and globally. Young people need to understand this impact and how they are part of it. The travel decisions they take as consumers and in the workplace have an environmental footprint. At the very least, they need to be aware of this, and it is to be hoped that this in turn will lead to attitudes and behaviours that minimise environmental damage.

Caring and service

Caring for others and being cared for are universal human experiences. As technological possibilities expand, caring becomes more important, not less. The importance of caring relationships is evident at every stage of life from the helplessness of infancy to the reduced functioning of old age and the many stages in between. Their role is not merely functional, however: the experience of caring and being cared for is essential to the personal flourishing that characterises growth in maturity.

Schools have an important role here. It is not for them to usurp the primary role of the family but there is much they can do in reinforcing and supplementing what the family does. There will be times too when dysfunctional family behaviour or the absence of family places a larger responsibility on the school.

School staff will, of course, model caring behaviour. They will lead young people to understand and appreciate the role of caring in society. More than that, however, they will ensure that all pupils engage in caring and the service of others throughout their school careers. The form this takes will depend on pupils' age and stage of development, but it will be a serious and sustained activity that is an integral part of each pupil's learning pathway and is subject to appropriate assessment. There will be some opportunities for such service within the school but, especially as pupils get older, it will take place largely in the community, possibly in association with and supervised by service-providing agencies.

Physical education and sport

Physical education and sport will be part of every pupil's learning experience. This is important in terms of healthy living, sense of achievement and personal enjoyment. While schools' primary responsibility is to provide an enriching experience for all pupils, there will be space, too, for competition and the effort to achieve potential to the full. In this context, schools will have a particular responsibility to champion fair play and counter the negative impact of certain features of professional sport – cheating, drug use and so on.

Instruction and facilities for physical education will be of a high standard, and a wide range of physical and sporting activities will be available. There will be a good deal of community involvement and, while the school will be critical in ensuring universal access and in its teaching/learning focus, these will be only part of a pattern of provision that will help all young people to maintain an active lifestyle after they have left school.

Options

The nine learning strands set out above will constitute the core curriculum for all pupils. There will be a range of optional learning programmes in addition, of three broad kinds: more intensive work in the core strands, for those who need additional time and support and for those who go more quickly and further – these could be anything from advanced algebra to more sport, from learning the cello to an extra service assignment; programmes arising out of particular local contexts – industrial, historical, environmental, cultural, demographic and so on; and programmes responding to pupil interest and demand. The scope of these is boundless, but the more young people feel in charge of their own learning, the more dynamic and effective their learning will be.

While these optional programmes will be somewhat flexible and encourage exploratory learning, they will be taken seriously and, once selected, regarded as an integral part of the pupil's learning activity. Learning objectives and outcomes will be agreed and adequate resources will be secured. Some of these resources will be available locally but many will not; the global sharing of information will become critical in enabling each school to offer its pupils a rich diet of learning opportunities.

Cross-cutting themes

Each young person's learning will reflect a number of cross-cutting themes in addition to the core learning strands. Some of these such as team working, independence, problem solving and perseverance, are quite familiar and need no comment. Four others have been picked out for particular mention because of their importance for future learners. These are: dealing with information; thinking skills; creativity; and enjoyment and the experience of success. In addition, schools will have a particular role in respect of the real world and ensuring that young people have real experiences. As dynamic virtual experiences abound, and both learning and entertainment become increasingly driven by the electronic environment, the school will help to ensure that young people have a rich experience of physical and social reality.

Dealing with information

Young people in the future will live in an information-rich environment and – in contrast with today – will be surrounded by teachers and other adults who are adept at handling information. There will be two strands of pupils learning here: information use in its own right; and information use to support other learning.

First, pupils will need to be made aware of the multiplicity of information sources and how to access them. Sources will vary in relevance, reliability, thoroughness and so forth, and it is important to know something of the pedigree of any information source being used. They will need to be skilled in searching for desired information; this becomes all the more important as information sources multiply since inefficient techniques can be wasteful of time and effort. This is only the beginning, however: information is not knowledge, and there is little benefit in learners assembling masses of information if they do not know what to do with it. They must, therefore, learn to evaluate the information they assemble and make sense of it in relation to their learning purpose.

And of course much more than information will be available. Virtual experiences, simulations, social networking and so on will be routine elements of the young person's learning environment. Similar considerations apply to their use of these, with the additional element perhaps of cyber-danger, and schools will have a role in protecting young people and helping them protect themselves from cyber-exploitation.

These generic information skills will be honed by their use in pupils' substantive learning. Pupils will be using the internet and other information sources routinely throughout their learning strands. Efficient searching will be no less important here, but there will be a greater premium on skills of analysis and synthesis as pupils attempt to build up coherent bodies of knowledge in given areas.

Thinking skills

There are numerous current initiatives in relation to thinking skills and how pupils learn. These go under different designations – study skills, skills for learning, critical thinking, learning to learn, accelerated learning, cognitive acceleration and more – and draw on philosophy, cognitive psychology and neuroscience as well as on classroom practice and adult learning. They give many prescriptions for more effective learning, which are supported by research of varying quality.

It is to be hoped that there will be a stronger body of research and practice to clarify which approaches are most effective and how they are best used. IT will feature strongly in these approaches. Young learners will have tools to facilitate and structure their thinking and to yield more powerful learning. These tools will be developed in age-appropriate ways so that children can be introduced to them as early as possible. They will have subject-specific as well as generic applications. The more pupils become responsible for their own learning and receive less formal instruction, the more important it will be that they acquire these tools and apply them in powerful ways.

Creativity

Creativity has some overlap with thinking skills but it is worth considering separately. Like thinking skills, it suffuses all the learning strands and is best actualised in substantive areas of learning. It will by no means be confined to the arts, as is sometimes expected, and can encompass activities from solving a mathematical problem or assembling the elements of a persuasive argument to setting up a move in a game of football or responding to a challenging person in a care situation. For all learning, creativity is a core value and a criterion against which achievement is measured.

Creative response will be an integral part of pupil engagement in each learning strand. This response will take many forms and strand-specific instruction may well be necessary, but there will be benefit, too, from giving learners a general orientation toward creativity – why it matters, how to encourage it, the value of collaborative work, relating creative insights to existing knowledge, working with practical constraints and so on. A specific focus on creativity will be an integral part of every young person's learning experience and will help to ensure creative engagement – in learning, making and doing – across the curriculum.

Enjoyment and the experience of success

While the instrumental functions of education are important, schools must not lose sight of the intrinsic satisfaction of learning. Each learning strand has the possibility to bring pupils delight – in learning new things, mastering new skills, acquiring a stronger sense of self, and broadening the glimpse of personal possibility. If schools are successful at this, the eager curiosity that five year olds bring to school will burn brighter ten years on. When supported by a growing body of knowledge and competences, it is difficult to imagine a better preparation for adult life.

Associated with this is the need for every child to have regular experiences of success at school. For too many, school is a relentless succession of failures, with the all-too-familiar drop in motivation and other negative consequences. Children will not become successful learners if their constant experience is of failure. This does not mean making things artificially easy – which does children no service – but it does mean valuing a wide range of achievement. It is also necessary that each child is well known to some adults so that their achievements are understood and are recognised in an authentic way.

Individual learning pathways

The curriculum set out here is intended to provide a framework for all learning from school entry to age 14/15. (After this point, it is assumed that young people will embark on more specific learning along a variety of academic and vocational routes. The precise age at which this transition will take place is open to question.) The various strands will have a developmental progression, and the amount of time given to each will vary. It is important to emphasise, however, that each core strand is important and the expectation is that all pupils will engage in sustained learning in each, as well as in some optional programmes. Some pupils may spend more time on some strands because of special ability or need but no strand will be optional. This will be reflected in pupils' assessment portfolios where evidence of engagement and learning in each strand will be set out.

How will this be achieved in practice? How will young people with diverse interests and abilities negotiate their way through this curriculum framework? The key to this will be to ensure every pupil has a personal learning mentor. This will be an experienced adult, generally but not necessarily a teacher, who will assist the young person in selecting from the core curriculum and optional programmes. This will result in an individual learning programme for each pupil, with targets and means of determining when they have been met. Besides being rooted in the common curriculum framework, such pathways and targets will need to meet two criteria: they must be meaningful and stimulating for the pupil, and must take account of his/her interests; and they must be challenging and relevant to the outside world. Nor can they be static: as progress is made, new targets need to be put in place, and pathways may need to go in quite different directions. The selection of options, in particular, will take account of pupils' likely future learning needs and aspirations for adult life. This learning mentor role is a challenging one and, for many pupils, it will provide the bridge between individual potential and sustained learning in a social context.

Constructing and maintaining individual learning programmes in this way will be resource-intensive, but that is not sufficient reason for not doing it. Just as the world of work has recognised the importance of personal objectives in the workplace, so schooling must appreciate the benefits that flow from each pupil having an individual learning pathway throughout their time in school. Even if no extra time is made available to teachers for this specific activity, it should be given priority over other activities such as the repetitive marking of homework (much of which will be better done electronically in any case).

Learning and teaching

The task of the school will be to facilitate whatever pupil learning is agreed to be desirable. As now, it will do so by facilitating access to information, stimulating and challenging pupils, providing structure and support as required, and generally maintaining an environment that is conducive to learning. There will be at least five significant differences, however: learning will be centred on large topics that require multiple inputs and extended study as opposed to the subject-based, discrete lessons which are currently the norm; young people will have ready access to a wide range of information, learning materials and virtual experiences; young people will have greater responsibility for their own learning; schools will make use of a wide range of adults other than teachers; and the academic organisation of the school will have evolved.

Project-based approaches to learning which are already commonplace in parts of higher education – medicine and engineering, for instance – will spread to the school sector. They will take place for both epistemological and utilitarian grounds: project-based approaches eschew the artificial barriers in knowledge that traditional school subjects and the teaching practices based on them embody; and they lead to greater learner motivation, as well as being more consonant with the requirements of living and working in a knowledge economy. While project-based learning will call for greater initiative on the part of learners and will give them more autonomy, it will require careful management to ensure high-quality, interdisciplinary learning. It will also necessitate new approaches to assessment that take account of process factors – collaboration, problem solving and information gathering – as well as outcomes.

Technological developments will transform access to information sources. It is idle to speculate what forms exactly this will take. It is enough to observe what is currently possible and to note how quickly sophisticated ICT applications become widely available. Developments in digital technology and communication will ensure that young people can access an almost boundless array of information and learning materials, 'attend' presentations and performances by leading figures, tour the world's galleries and museums, engage in lifelike virtual experiences and so on.

All of this will inevitably result in young people having greater responsibility for their own learning. The teacher or personal mentor will still be important but in a different way – it is for them to provide guidance and to help learners find their way in the many worlds available to them. The ubiquity of electronic information and experiences will, however, place young people at the centre of this expanding world in a new way.

Schools will make greater use of adults other than teachers. The trend toward increased use of classroom assistants will continue, and will be developed in a

number of ways. A principal rationale for the deployment of such assistants is to relieve teachers of those tasks for which the teacher's training and experience are not required and, in so doing, to enable pupils to receive more individual attention. This practice will continue to grow, especially as assistants are given more training and role recognition within the school. But we can anticipate a range of other developments. For example, artists already work in schools successfully, and there is great scope for other adults to impart skills and share experiences from the workplace and beyond. The challenge will be to find ways of engaging people in the work of schools throughout their careers. This will bring expertise and dynamism to schools that will enhance their offering to pupils.

A particular source of fresh input to schools is the growing number of active retired people. Most schools have large numbers of older people living in their catchment areas who have between them a wide experience of life and who would welcome the opportunity to contribute to the work of their local school. Such input will need to be properly organised: background checks will need to be carried out and some training provided, and care will have to be taken that what they offer fits within an appropriate learning framework. Properly run, however, this will add greatly to what schools can provide.

The academic organisation of the school will be quite different. Instead of fixed lesson blocks, all of equal length, the pupil's day will comprise a mixture of individual learning, one-to-one interaction with a teacher or other adult, small group activity which may or may not involve an adult, and attendance at largescale lectures or presentations. Set-piece lectures will still take place to introduce and give context to topics; display their complexity and draw attention to contested views about them; suggest links with other areas of learning; give direction to pupils' own information trawls; and, above all, stimulate and enthuse. Such lectures and presentations, needless to say, should be of the highest quality pedagogically and in communication terms. There is no particular reason why they should be confined to single-class groups: a presentation might well be made to the whole of a year group or, indeed, to pupils drawn from a number of schools. Such presentations would, in general, be the responsibility of the master teacher but others might contribute from time to time, on the basis of a particular expertise or set of experiences. Care - and advance briefing - would of course be necessary to ensure that such external presentations fit into an appropriate learning framework.

All of the developments outlined here impact on the role of the teacher, an impact which will be felt from initial selection and training through to patterns of deployment, career progression and professional development. If we contrast the current expectations of a secondary subject teacher with the likely role of the teacher of the future, the differences become clear. In the first case, the teacher is the subject expert whose job it is to get pupils' knowledge of geography,

chemistry or whatever to the required level. In the second case, teachers are managers of a learning process where pupils have a greater and more explicit responsibility for their own learning; are routinely engaged in extended, multidisciplinary projects; have access to an extraordinary (by today's standards) array of learning materials; have many more adults involved in their learning activities, in school and out; and being part of a team within and across schools is the norm.

Teachers – if they are still called that – will need many more skills and a quite different role orientation. They will have to be aware of the individual learning needs and pathways of each pupil in their charge; they will have to decide on differential allocation of resources – who needs one-to-one support, how small groups are to be constituted, when whole-class (or even larger group) lecturing is appropriate; they will determine how progress is to be measured for each pupil, and ensure that it is done in a reportable way; they will lead a diverse team of adults, both staff from within the school and from the community; and they will participate in teams themselves, both within their own school and across other schools.

This points to recruitment criteria which place less emphasis on knowledge of a particular national curriculum area and more on qualities of academic leadership, collegiality, flexibility and responsiveness to the individual. Initial teacher education will need to make a similar shift. Good instructional skills and effective presentation that stimulates powerful learning will continue to be important, but some aspects, at least, of the wider skill set implied here, will have to be addressed. Not all, however, because the teacher of the future will engage in sustained professional development throughout their careers. Indeed, there will be a requirement for teachers to engage in a solid amount of professional development each year in order to maintain their licence to practise.

Concluding remarks

The vision set out here is one where young learners take greater responsibility for their learning than at present and where the teacher's role has evolved into manager and facilitator of learning. The curriculum will be broader and geared toward the full range of adult living, and will not be skewed by the requirements of university entrance. The school will be different, being both less important and more important. It will be less important because it will be only one source of learning among many, but it will be more important through its strategic role in overseeing and integrating young people's learning and from being a powerhouse of learning among many learning resources in its own community. The vision is located firmly in the electronic age but is not determined by it; digital possibilities will revolutionise learning but core human values and relationships will persist.

Much has been and is being written about the school of the future. I have deliberately refrained from citing this voluminous literature, opting to let the argument stand on its own merits. The reader who wants a flavour of the discourse could refer to the Assessment & Teaching of 21st Century Skills project (www.atc21s.org) or the 21st Century Learning Alliance (www.21stcenturylearningalliance.org). For an example at national level, see the Teach Less Learn More initiative of the Singapore Ministry of Education (www.moe.gov.sg). For examples at school level, see the Escuela Lumiar movement in Brazil (www.lumiar.org.br) or the Cramlington Learning Village (www.cchsonline.co.uk) in England.

Is this vision attainable? I argue that not only can it be attained but it, or some equivalent, must be attained if schooling is to maintain its relevance – and justify its considerable financing from the public purse. Eric Hoffer's words are more prescient than ever: "In a time of drastic change it is the learners who inherit the future. The learned usually find themselves equipped to live in a world that no longer exists." (Hoffer, 2006). Unless educational leaders are content to preside over school systems that grow ever less relevant, they must step up to the challenges of 21st century learning, face down the many vested interests in the status quo and develop forward-looking strategies for education. If they do this, they will have played their part in creating learners who are ready for uncertain but exciting futures.

Reference

Hoffer, E. (2006). *Reflections on the Human Condition*. Titusville: Hopewell Publications.

Teacher professional identity: restoration or reset?

Anne Looney



Dr Anne Looney is the Chief Executive of the National Council for Curriculum and Assessment (NCCA) in Dublin. She served as President of CIDREE from 2007 to 2009.

Anne was previously a post-primary teacher before becoming involved in teacher education and curriculum and assessment development. She is a graduate of the Mater Dei Institute in

Dublin, and of the Institute of Education in London. She has published on school ethos, religious and citizenship education, and on assessment. She is a member of the governing body of a number of teacher education institutions, and of the editorial board of Irish Education Studies.

Email: Anne.Looney@ncca.ie

Teacher professional identity: restoration or reset?

Anne Looney

Abstract

Education and schooling feature in both Lisbon 2010 and Europe 2020. Relationships between education and the labour market, readiness for further and higher education, key competences and flexible pathways through learning all feature in past and emerging EU education policy rhetoric and discourse. Each of these in turn places the learner at the heart of the education reform agenda, and as the focus of education policy-making.

This relentless emphasis on the learner has had some consequences for understandings of the role of the teacher in the education process. The professional identity of teachers and conceptualisations of the work of teaching have been challenged in this reconfiguration of policy towards and around the learner. This paper looks at some of the outcomes of this reconfiguration and some of the challenges and opportunities which have arisen as a consequence, particularly in the areas of teacher education and professional development.

A further consequence of the focus on the learner has been a move to define the work of teaching in terms of a set of competences, and the alignment of teacher education towards these competences. These competences have featured in policies of a number of EU countries over the past ten years. Other countries have retained a focus on foundation disciplines, such as sociology and philosophy, in their teacher education programmes and have continued to require engagement with these for licensing or registration as a teacher. What are the implications of these tensions across Europe in the context of a European framework of qualifications, an emphasis on an increasingly mobile workforce and the Europeanisation of teaching?

From Lisbon 2010 to Europe 2020 – from teacher to learner

Education and schooling are given prominence in both the Lisbon 2010 and Europe 2020 strategies, although the shift in emphasis over the decade is striking. The Lisbon agenda aligned education and school systems with the drive to make Europe the world's leading knowledge economy by 2010. In contrast, for the decade up to 2020, education is given a further purpose: to support a more equitable and inclusive Europe. To this end, the education targets for the Europe 2020 strategy were confirmed at the May 2010 meeting of the Council of Ministers:

"By 2020 the school drop-out rate should be less than 10% and the share of the population having completed tertiary or equivalent education should be at least 40%."

(Council of the European Union, 2010, p. 1)

The focus for 2020, as was the case for 2010, is on the learner, and on the outcomes of education for learners. This placing of the learner at the heart of the education reform agenda, and as the focus of education policy-making, has implications for teachers and teaching. The EU acknowledges this. In a discussion of learning outcomes, for example, the European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training (CEDEFOP) noted that:

"A move away from traditional curricula and assessment to approaches led through learning outcomes, is a marked shift for which, at the very least, teachers and trainers need to be properly prepared."

(2008, p. 39).

This paper suggests that such technical adjustments are only a partial response to this "*new learning paradigm*" (CEDEFOP, 2008, p. 9).

A more comprehensive response to this relentless emphasis on the learner has to consider the consequences on understandings of the fundamental role of the teacher in the education process. As shall be discussed below, the professional identity of teachers and conceptualisations of the work of teaching have been challenged in this reconfiguration. Understandings of teacher education and teacher professional development are also challenged in such a paradigm shift. The paper will also explore how the focus on the learner, while seemingly benign, can sometimes be associated with a far more malign discourse that is not so much 'for' the learner, as 'against' the teacher.

Teachers and teaching feature in the second of the four strategic objectives adopted as the Framework for European Co-operation in Education and Training, known as ET2020. They feature in the objective to improve the quality and efficiency of education and training. Before commenting on the inclusion of teachers and teaching under this objective, it is worth noting where teachers and teaching are 'not' included. They are not included in either the objective to make lifelong learning and mobility a reality; the objective to promote equity, social cohesion and active citizenship; or in the objective to enhance creativity and innovation, including entrepreneurship, at all levels of education and training. In short, it seems that for the EU, teachers and teaching are matters of quality and efficiency: "At the same time, there is a need to ensure high quality teaching, to provide adequate initial teacher education, continuous professional development for teachers and trainers and to make teaching an attractive career choice. It is also important to improve the governance and leadership of education and training institutions, and to develop effective quality assurance systems. High quality will only be achieved through the efficient and sustainable use of resources – both public and private, as appropriate – and through the promotion of evidence-based policy and practice in education and training."

(Council of the European Union, 2009, p. 4).

While no one would challenge the value of aspiring to "*high quality teaching*" and "*adequate initial teacher education*", much could be made of the assumptions underlying these phrases given their location within the framework and the apparent absence of any contestation around their meaning and implications. Of course, in the context of deliberations within EU institutions, the use of such general phrases and the absence of interrogation are not in themselves unusual. It may often be a necessary consequence of the Open Method of Coordination. However, given the debates currently underway about teachers and their work, and competing discourses about what constitutes 'high quality teaching' and, as a consequence, 'adequate initial teacher education,' the absence of such contestation from the framework is noteworthy.

Teacher professional identity and education policymaking

This paper is an attempt to reintroduce some of the contestation around teacher professional identity to the European policy-maker's discourse. The term, *'reintroduce,'* is carefully chosen. Such debates have not disappeared, but they have been distanced from the processes of policy and decision making. This paper attempts to reconnect the two. For clarity, this paper will assume that *'teacher professionalism'* relates to how teachers are viewed by others, and *'professional identity'* relates to how teachers view themselves. It is difficult to separate the two, especially, as is indicated below, because both are social constructs. Both carry widely differing definitions in the literature and in policy discourse. Here, the approach adopted to the terminology may be pragmatic, but this dualism is a useful heuristic to which the paper returns in a number of sections.

The last two decades have seen the hailing of a new era, or a new age of teacher professionalism. Writing in the 1990s, Hargreaves and Fullan (1998) suggested that the next few years would be defining ones for the teaching profession, a profession that, they claimed, *"had not yet come of age"* (p. 110). Writing in 2001,

Fullan spoke of "*professionalism at the crossroads*" (p. 133). For some, this new age marks a restoration of a '*golden age*' of high-status teachers. For others, it is a reset of all understandings of teacher professionalism. All agree, however, that for teachers and their work, things are changing across Europe and elsewhere.

Hargreaves and Fullan (1998) reflected that, until the mid 1960s, teaching was seen as demanding but not particularly technically difficult, a job that could be learned in a relatively short period of time and which required little further development in the course of a teaching career. Although this image seems outdated now, they claimed that it is a "*pervasive myth*" (p. 111) about teaching that continues to shape the views of many working outside the classroom and school, particularly those with responsibility for public policy about teachers and teaching.

Alongside this somewhat simplistic view of teachers and their work, a parallel discourse of the teacher as professional has gained ground. In this discourse, there is little that is simple or straightforward about the work of teaching. On the contrary, complexity is one of its defining features. The Irish academic and policy commentator, Coolahan (2003), summarised this complexity:

"It is only highly intelligent, highly skilled, imaginative, caring and well-educated teachers who will be able to respond satisfactorily to the demands placed on the education system in the era of the knowledge society. If society's concern is to improve quality in education and to foster creative, enterprising, innovative, self-reliant young people, with the capacity and motivation to go on as lifelong learners, then this will not happen unless the corps of teachers are themselves challenging, innovative and lifelong learners."

(p. 6)

While the pervasive myth of simplicity abounds, policy-makers are also attracted by the image of the modern teacher proposed by Coolahan. According to Ginsburg (1997), while there has been some criticism of the "*positive aura of professionalism*" (p. 6) in the public mind and in academic and policy contestations, teacher professionalism is presented as a positive. Teachers want this. Parents and the wider community expect this. Students deserve this. And for all of these reasons, policy-makers in Europe (and elsewhere) exhort this.

But what exactly do they want: the 'golden age' of high status; the simple days of just learning to teach and doing the job; the more complex construct of recent times; or something else entirely?

The discourse of complexity discussed by Ginsburg and Coolahan drew its source largely from within the field of education. By comparison, a discourse of simplicity, as presented by Hargreaves and Fullan (1998), came largely from outside that field. This tension between the *'internal'* and *'external'* aspects of the

debates are important, not only because of the dualism between professionalism and professional identity flagged earlier but also because in all of the debates, professionalism (how teachers are seen by others) and professional identity (how teachers view themselves) are understood as 'social' constructs.

Teacher professionalism as a 'good deal'

Labaree (1992) explored this theme and presented the professional recognition of any occupational group in terms of a *'bargain'* between the group and society. In such an *'agreement'*, technical competence is traded for relative autonomy and practical knowledge for control over practice. This seems, on the surface at least, to be a good deal all round. The classification of teachers as professionals gives them status, higher pay and more opportunities for career advancement. In exchange for recognising teachers as professionals and endowing them as such, society gets a competent and dedicated teaching force – with a strong sense of professional identity – which leads to better outcomes for students, and, thus, it could be concluded, improved social and economic development. However, as Labaree himself noted, all is not as comfortable as it appears.

What makes professionalism and professional identity an uncomfortable bargain? First, as has been discussed, there are multiple definitions and expectations of teacher professionalism – both within the teaching profession and across the society that endows this status. For example, Moloney (2010), writing about the professional identity of those working with very young children in early childhood education settings in Ireland and in the early years of primary education, found that the processes of identity formation worked differently on either side of the school gate. Thus, for teachers of the infant classes (the first two years) of primary schools, their identity was more likely to be shaped by a democratic discourse than their colleagues outside the school gate, who were more likely to encounter a managerial discourse. This contrast was further complicated by the experiences of infant teachers who reported that they felt that their status was perceived as lower than colleagues teaching older children. Moloney concluded:

"They believe that this is related to a perception that the infant class is akin to a playschool; similar to a waiting room for children before they move onto the higher classes, where their real learning occurs."

(p. 184)

Hargreaves and Goodson (1996) argued that teacher professionalism is what teachers and others experience it to be rather than what policy-makers, researchers and theorists decide it should be.

A further destabilising factor in Labaree's '*agreement*' is the issue of the good teacher. For some, the question of what constitutes a good teacher is unresolved, as is the associated question of how we can help people to become good teachers (Hamacheck, 1999). It is of note, however, that while some believe the question of the '*good teacher*' to be open, there are others who have provided definitive answers and even lists that can be used to identify those good teachers in the field and guide those who prepare the teachers of the future.

The emergence of competences

Korthagen (2004), in his analysis of what he sees as a global discourse about teachers and teaching, suggested that current debates inevitably give rise to lists of competences as means of identifying what a good teacher should look like. These lists continue to enjoy strong support from policy-makers, who take little account of the lessons of history. According to Korthagen, such lists made their debut around the middle of the 20th century when the performance-based or competency-based model of teacher education started to gain ground. This was premised on the idea that observable criteria of expert performance could serve as a basis for the training of novices. Efforts were made to identify those teaching behaviours that produced the greatest learning results for children, results that were of course similarly observable and concrete. The weaknesses of this approach are clear. It is impossible to teach the ways of experts to beginners or novices. Formation in the field is needed. The context in which expert behaviours are acquired and fine-tuned cannot be isolated from the behaviours themselves. Nor can they be isolated from other 'competences' and reduced to atomised actions that can be ticked off in turn.

Despite the evidence that they lead to fragmentation of the teacher's role, everlonger lists have begun to emerge, particularly in teacher education. One of the best known of the checklists, recently endorsed by Bill Gates in launching his funding programme for effective teachers, is that of Doug Lemov in the USA. His 49 techniques even made it into the *New York Times* early in 2010 (Green, 2010) under the provocative headline, *'Can Good Teaching be Learned'*? In summary, the piece concluded that the *"mechanics of teaching"* (p. 44) can be learned, but are usually neglected in teacher education programmes in the USA. The piece also refers to the €35 million Gates Foundation project to identify and support *"effective teaching practices"* (p. 44).

Hogan (2010) concurred with Korthagen's perspective on competences as a midtwentieth century phenomenon, born of behaviourist psychology. Hogan noted that while teacher education in North America had been shaped by a competences approach for many years, it gained a foothold in Europe in the early 1990s through a series of reforms adopted by the Department for Education for England and Wales. Hogan sourced the reform agenda in a number of policy think tanks that were influential in the Thatcher era, but also in the complacency of teacher education departments and institutions. The latter, he suggested, were caught off guard by the pace and power of the reforms and were less than persuasive in their response.

A number of high-level reports, generated from outside the education sector, have also claimed that the issue of the good teacher is resolved. For example, McKinsey (2007, p. 28) announced at the end of the decade: *"There is good agreement about what constitutes effective teaching and leadership."* The challenge now, they suggested, is to develop a strong consensus around what constitutes good teaching practice and ensure that it is consistently applied (p. 31). And at the start of the decade, Hay McBer (2000) offered a framework for effective teaching built around 16 dimensions that were associated with over 30% of the variance in pupil progress. Labaree's (1992) idea of a cosy *'agreement'* is less persuasive when there isn't even a shared view as to whether there is a shared view of a good teacher!

Nonetheless, that image of an 'agreement' is useful in flagging both the dualism of the concept of teacher professional identity and the tension between the professionalism as 'endowed' and as 'experienced'. One has its source external to the profession, in non-teaching discourses, and the other is rooted within the heart and soul of teaching. This tension in the process of identity formation is explored further by Tucker (2004) who looked at youth work and suggested that identities are formed at the confluence of historical, economic and political trajectories, and thus are subject to these external forces, but the process of their formation also draws on resources ranging from pre-service training, professional development, communities of practice and good experiences. In the early 1990s, Labaree suggested that the process of teacher professionalisation can appear to be moving in contradictory directions at the same time, fuelled by seemingly incompatible ideologies. This seems to be the case.

Redefinition and reset

A brave and useful attempt to resolve some of these tensions was made in 2009 by a global alliance of teacher education institutes and colleges. They attempted to resolve these tensions by responding to the need for what they termed a *'redefined professionalism'* for 21st century education. They flag the urgency of the process of redefinition and the scale of the task in the face of a range of social challenges for schooling. This, the authors suggested, has resulted in *"increased recognition of the complex and demanding nature of teachers' work"*, and now requires *"radical rethinking"* of how teachers are recruited, prepared and deployed (Gopinathan *et al.*, 2008, p. 210). It is clear, then, that the report was eschewing the simplistic view of teaching, and positioning itself within the 'complex' side of the debate. The report suggested that a redefined professionalism would move teaching out of the old paradigm (presumably, the "pervasive myth" identified by Hargreaves and Fullan, 1998, p. 111, as discussed earlier) of teaching as simple work, requiring little specialised knowledge. What knowledge is needed can easily be acquired by anyone with a textbook. In summarising the old paradigm, the report's authors claimed that "at its worst, a teacher's work is seen as mere dissemination of already existing information" (p. 23).

By contrast, the new paradigm sees teachers' work as requiring specialist knowledge and skill:

"A growing body of research in the cognitive sciences and in pedagogic practice shows that to enhance student learning requires teachers to have both a wide body of knowledge and the ability to use this knowledge appropriately in a variety of institutional contexts. Today we recognise that teachers must exhibit several distinct categories of knowledge."

(p. 24)

The report envisaged a redefined professionalism as a "*complex but functional mix of old and new ideas about teaching and teachers' work*" that possesses a number of characteristics that are "*crucial enablers for teachers to continue to do intelligent and demanding work in classrooms*" (p. 22). So, while the report was from '*within*' and presented teaching as a highly '*complex*' task, it also presented some characteristics of '*good*' teaching, as was attempted by McKinsey (2007) and Hay McBer (2000). However, it is of interest that these characteristics are about the kinds of knowledge required to teach well.

Drawing on Shulman (1987), the authors elaborated on seven of the categories of knowledge, and suggested that effective teachers draw on a "*complex mesh*" of these categories of knowledge in their daily practice. The first of these is content knowledge, or knowledge of the subject matter that is the focus of the lesson. The second is general pedagogical knowledge, or broad principles and strategies, about how to organise a classroom. The third is curriculum knowledge, or knowledge of the programme to be followed in the school or educational setting. The fourth is pedagogical content knowledge: "*Special amalgam of content and pedagogy that is unique to the province of teachers*" (p. 24).

Of interest for the EU is an emphasis on the learner at the centre of the education process. The final three categories of knowledge relate to the knowledge of the learners, knowledge of the educational contexts for those learners and, finally, knowledge of the aims and purposes of the educational project. This complex knowledge base, according to the report, needs to be mastered and used by all who aspire to teach well.

Such mastery and application in practice is demanding. But for Gopinathan et al (2008), these alone are not enough for the effective teacher working out of a redefined professionalism. The authors offered further elaboration of what constitutes such redefined professionalism. '*Reflexivity*' is one such characteristic. Beyond reflexivity, they included a focus on the quality of each interaction with the learner, and the use of data and evidence in support of judgements on achievement and progress. 'Accountability' is another characteristic, although the report was somewhat equivocal on whether this should come from external sources or from within the profession. For their final characteristic, they drew on Hargreaves and Goodson's (1996) idea of "occupational heteronomy" (p. 21), where teachers have autonomy and the freedom to work independently, but choose to work collaboratively with other partners – such as parents – in the wider community. This wider community includes the learning community. Redefined professionalism includes "self-directed commitment to continuous learning related to one's own expertise and emergent needs of pupils and schools" (p. 34). The final characteristic is a connection to the moral purpose of education and the social purposes of schooling, especially in a time when schooling and success at school is so highly correlated with life chances.

This vision of a *'redefined professionalism'* is built on a set of complex and demanding components. It is not beyond critique; however, it does represent an attempt to bring some apparently opposing discourses together. *'Redefined professionalism'* is not a nostalgic restoration. With its focus on knowledge, and teaching as a knowledge profession, it is contemporary and appealing to policy-makers and educationalists alike.

Towards a European teacher identity?

But what of the teachers: those who must form their professional identities against this backdrop of continuing contestation about their work and role? From a European perspective, an interesting contrast has been made by researchers between teachers in France and England. This study researched the professional identities of primary teachers in both countries in the late eighties and early nineties. The researchers concluded that, in general, French teachers view themselves as having a more restricted professional role with a focus on classroom-based work and the achievement of academic goals. By contrast, English teachers have a more '*extended*' professional self-understanding. They tend to see their work as reaching well beyond the classroom walls to include extra-curricular and community-based work. Broadfoot *et al.* (1993) suggested that, at its most extreme, the French teacher's professional identity is associated with meeting the obligations of the contract, whereas the identity of the English teacher is associated with meeting often intangible moral goals, often diffuse, and usually impossible to achieve. Further research conducted on the response of

English teachers to a decade of reforms showed that teachers felt somewhat overwhelmed by the number and nature of policy initiatives over the last two decades of the 20th century (Osborn *et al.*, 2000). Teachers felt *"increasingly besieged by critics and demands for accountability from outsiders, especially parents, whilst losing little of their deeply held sense of moral responsibility to pupils"* (Osborn, 2008, p. 70). The research also showed that for many teachers, the reforms being proposed were at odds with their own fundamental beliefs about teaching and its purpose. Furthermore, they felt that their sense of vocation was being displaced by a drive to become expert technicians in transmitting predefined knowledge and skills to their pupils. Osborn concluded:

"The policy emphasis of successive governments on education as a commodity to be delivered and measured was at odds with many teachers' views of education as being fundamentally concerned with personal development."

(p. 71)

Of note for this paper, and the discussion about the internal and external dimensions of professional identity, is the account of how teachers responded to the external reforms from within the profession and created something of a *'counter-identity'* through collaboration and engagement. Indeed, the new emphasis on technical skill and accountability gave teachers opportunity for collaboration with colleagues, and, through increased demands, the motivation to work together, if only to survive!

Osborn also reported on what she termed "*creative mediators*" who were able to take control of the reforms and filter them through their own values so that "*they took on board those aspects which more closely accorded with their own beliefs and values as teachers and worked with them creatively*" (p. 72). But for older, more experienced teachers who found it difficult to revise their professional values and educational practices, the reforms tended to make them both depressed and disheartened.

Thus, professional identity is the result of a complex set of interactions between personal beliefs and convictions, the reform agenda, school contexts and cultures, and even career history. Equally, professional identity is neither stable nor fixed. Circumstances change. A new reform is introduced. The profile of the student intake can change. All these shape the professional identity of the teacher.

Osborn concluded her analysis on a positive note, however. She suggested that in England, at least, there are signs that teachers perceive their status as higher than in recent years, even though centralised control and centrally driven reforms have continued apace. She referred to the conclusions of Hargreaves *et al.* (2007) that teacher attitudes to government reforms have softened as the reforms have gained a foothold and become more systematised.

Of note for the Consortium of Institutions for Development and Research in Education in Europe (CIDREE), and all interested in the European project and the role of education in Europe, is Osborn's speculation at the end of her piece about the Europeanisation of education and any move towards a common idea of the 'European teacher'. She suggested that the reforms in England are bringing teachers closer to the restricted professionalism of France which, she claimed, is similar to that in Belgium, Italy, Spain and Portugal.

However, in Denmark and in other Scandinavian countries, teachers still have a wide range of duties and are encouraged to look at the holistic project of education. Osborn said that the same applies, although to a lesser extent, in the Netherlands. Although not mentioned by Osborn, Ireland would also fall into this category. From a European perspective, therefore, any attempt to specify competences for teachers is doomed to failure, not just because teachers respond differently to external pressures but because, despite increasingly common educational policies that cross borders, "there are distinctive cultural and historical traditions which will lead to policies being interpreted and mediated differently by teachers" (p. 78).

In 2010, the European Commission published '*Common European Principles for Teacher Competences and Qualifications*'. The document aimed to support national and regional policy-makers interested in enhancing quality and effectiveness across the EU. The '*competences*' – what teacher should be able to do – are defined as types or forms of work. Teachers across the EU should be able to work with others, work with knowledge, technology and information, and work with and in society. In this set of competences, teachers are seen as knowledge workers, working in a social and civic context. These competences are broad; there is no evidence of atomisation or checklists.

Something is happening to teacher professional identity. Or, rather, things are happening to teacher professional identities. Restoration or reset? Or something else entirely? It may be too early in the decade to say which. The utopian tones of knowledge society discourse echo for teachers and teaching as *'the'* knowledge profession. The positioning of teaching in this way, and the recognition of teacher education as a process of induction into this profession, is good news for teachers and teacher professional identity, although not without its challenges. In contrast, the more dystopian and technicist discourse of checklists and *'how-to-teach'*, is good news for those who wish to find efficient and effective ways of preparing and accrediting teachers.

It is clear that the process of restoration and reset, while sharing some common elements, are different in the USA and Europe. For CIDREE, the emergence of the idea of a *'European teacher'* affords an ideal theme for shared reflection and contestation. Capturing how the Europeanisation of teaching, and the new learning paradigm, are enacted within national boundaries, and sharing those

insights with academics, policy-makers and practitioners, will contribute greatly to discussions of teacher professional identities both within and across borders.

References

Broadfoot, P., Osborn, M., Gilly, M. and Bucher, A. (1993). *Perceptions of Teaching: Primary School Teachers in England and France*. London: Cassell.

Coolahan, J. (2003). 'Positioning the teaching career for the knowledge society.' Paper presented to the Standing Committee on Teachers Education North and South (SCOTENS) Conference, Dublin, 9 October.

Council of the European Union (2009). *Council Conclusions of 12th May 2009 on a Strategic Framework for European Co-operation in Education And Training (ET 2020)* (Official Journal of the European Union C.119/2) [online]. Available: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:C:2009:119:0002:0010:en:PDF [6 September 2010].

Council of the European Union (2010). *Presidency Conclusions on Education Targets in the Europe 2020 Strategy: 3013th Education, Youth and Culture Council Meeting, Brussels 11 May* [online]. Available:

http://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms_data/docs/pressdata/en/educ/ 114393.pdf [3 September, 2010].

European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training (CEDEFOP) (2008). *The Shift to Learning Outcomes: Conceptual, Political and Practical Developments in Europe*. Luxemburg: Office for the Official Publications of the European Communities [online]. Available: http://www.cedefop.europa.eu/etv/Upload/Information_resources/Bookshop/494/4079_en.pdf [3 September, 2010].

European Commission (2010). *Common European Principles for Teacher Competences and Qualifications* [online]. Available: http://www.see-educoop.net/education_in/pdf/01-en_principles_en.pdf [3 September, 2010].

Fullan, M. (2001). *The New Meaning of Educational Change* (Third edn). London: FalmerRoutledge.

Ginsburg, M.B. (1997). 'Professionalism or politics as a model for educators' engagement with/in communities', *Journal of Education Policy*, **12**, 1 and 2, 5–12.

Gopinathan, S., Tan, S., Yangping, F., Devi, L., Ramos, C. and Chao, E. (2008). *Transforming Teacher Education. Redefined Professionals for 21st Century Schools.* Singapore: National Institute of Education/International Alliance of Leading Education Institutions.

Green, E. (2010). 'Can good teaching be learned?' *New York Times Magazine*, March 7, 31–45.

Hamachek, D. (1999). 'Effective teachers: what they do, how they do it and the importance of self-knowledge.' In: Lipka, R.P. and Brinthaupt, T.M. (Eds) *The Role of Self in Teacher Development*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

Hargreaves, A. and Fullan, M. (1998). *What's Worth Fighting for in Education?* Buckingham: Open University Press.

Hargreaves, A. and Goodson, I. (1996). 'Teachers, professional lives: aspirations and actualities.' In: Goodson, I. and Hargreaves, A. (Eds) *Teachers Professional Lives*. London: Falmer Press.

Hargreaves, L., Cunningham, M., Hansen, A., McIntyre, D., Oliver, C. and Pell, T. (2007). *The Status of Teachers and the Teaching Profession in England: Views from Inside and Outside the Profession. Final Report of the Teacher Status Project* (DfES Research Report 831A). London: DfES [online]. Available: http://www.education.gov.uk/research/data/uploadfiles/RR831A.pdf [3 September, 2010].

Hay McBer (2000). *Research into Teacher Effectiveness. A Model of Teacher Effectiveness*. London. DFEE [online]. Available: http://www.ttrb.ac.uk/viewarticle2.aspx?contentId=10346 [3 September, 2010].

Hogan, P. (2010). *The New Significance of Learning. Imagination's Heartwork.* Abingdon: Routledge.

Korthagen, F. (2004). 'In search of the essence of a good teacher: towards a more holistic approach to teacher education', *Teaching and Teacher Education*, **20**, 77–97.

Labaree, D. (1992). 'Power, knowledge and the rationalization of teaching: a genealogy of the movement to professionalize teaching', *Harvard Educational Review*, **62**, 2, 125–154.

McKinsey and Company (2007). *How the World's Best Performing School Systems Come out on Top* [online]. Available: http://www.mckinsey.com/App_Media/Reports/SSO/Worlds_School_Systems_Final.pdf [3 September, 2010].

Moloney, M. (2010). 'Professional identity in early childhood care and education: perspectives of pre-school and infant teachers', *Irish Educational Studies*, **29**, 2, 167–187.

Osborn, M. (2008). 'Teacher professional identity under conditions of constraint.' In: Johnson, D., and MacLean, R. (Eds) *Teaching: Professionalization, Development and Leadership*. The Hague: Springer. Osborn, M., McNess, E., Broadfoot, P. with Pollard, A. and Triggs, P. (2000). *What Teachers Do: Changing Policy and Practice in English Primary Schools*. London: Cassell.

Shulman, L. (1987). 'Knowledge and teaching: foundation of the new reforms', *Harvard Educational Review*, Spring, 1–22.

Tucker, S. (2004). 'Youth Working: Professional Identities Given, Received or Contested?' In Roche, J., Tucker, S., Thomson, R. and Flynn, R. (Eds) (2004). *Youth in Society*. London: Sage.

5 The role of school inspection in ensuring quality in education: past, present and future

Johan C. van Bruggen



Johan C. van Bruggen was educated as a primary school teacher, worked as a secondary school mathematics teacher and studied educational sciences at the University of Utrecht. He worked in curriculum development in the Netherlands from 1972 until 1992 in the field of mathematics education, and from 1976 as Director of Curriculum in the broader work of the

Dutch National Institute for Curriculum Development (SLO). This work was enriched with many international contacts (UNESCO, OECD International School Improvement Project (ISIP), England in the eighties and the USA), including several launch projects, workshops and visits during the first years of CIDREE. From 1992 onwards, he worked at the Dutch Inspectorate of Education (1992–2003), and this was also enriched with international cooperation through the Standing International Conference of Inspectorates of Education in Europe (SICI), which started in 1995. Since his retirement he has been active with many contacts, seminars and international consulting work, in particular in Russia (1992–2000), in German, Austrian and Swiss Länder and Cantons (1999-2009), and in Sweden, Romania and Spain. His membership of the accreditation team has also been important (meta-inspections of the Dutch Inspectorate from 2006–2010) and the fascinating work as a member of the jury of the Robert Bosch Stiftung in Stuttgart, Germany identifying the best German school in a contest that has run each year since 2006.

Email: johan.van.bruggen@planet.nl

The role of school inspection in ensuring quality in education: past, present and future

Johan C. van Bruggen

Abstract

In the last 20 years or so, the roles and tasks of inspectorates of education have changed radically in most countries already in existence since the early decades of the 19th century. In Sections 2 and 3, I sketch this change in the direction towards periodic full inspection of all schools in the country against a national framework of quality statements. This change fits into newer ideas about the governance of schools with more emphasis on self-steering, self-evaluation and self-development, and with a more distant, but not less important, role for governments in shaping the policy context and steering the intermediate agencies for inspection, guidance and curriculum development. The important question, of course, is whether we can register real improvement in schools and education as a consequence of these changes. In order to answer this question, I describe what inspectorates do in Section 1 and the 'theory' behind the ideas about full inspection in Section 2. After a short summary of what we know about inspections from impact research (Sections 3 and 4), I set out my conclusions in Sections 5 and 6. Here, I argue that the first rounds of full inspection in most countries have indeed brought change, movement and real improvement to many schools. For further development, however, a simple repetition of this type of inspection after three or four years is not enough. Adaptations to the mode of inspection are necessary -I expect much of the mode that Flanders is developing. But, also, a much better link is needed between the support agencies working at local and regional level with clusters of semi-autonomous schools and their regional authorities. Promising examples of this new type of concerted action, where national and regional levels are coupled, are already visible.

1. What do inspectorates do nowadays?

In this section, I give a short description of education inspectorates' tasks as they are executed in most European countries. Not all inspectorates do all types of work, or carry out all tasks frequently, but most of these tasks can be found in many inspectorates. Details may be found on the websites of the inspectorates. The Standing International Conference of Inspectorates of Education in Europe

87

(SICI) has on its website recent profiles of 18 inspectorates in Europe in a common format (www.sici-inspectorates.org). These profiles contain a wealth of information, plus addresses, websites and contact persons. In summer 2010, a comparative analysis of these inspectorates was due to be available (van Bruggen, 2010). I have edited these profiles and written the comparative analysis, and refer to them here frequently. A somewhat older source for inspectorates in Europe is Eurydice (2004).

Full inspection of schools

By far the most visible and time-consuming task of inspectorates is the '*new*' mode of inspection: the so-called '*full*', '*whole*' or '*complete*' inspection of a school.¹ It has been in existence for the last 20 years or so in some European countries; in others, for only the last three or four years. This mode is also used in many inspectorates in other parts of the world (for example, New Zealand, Australia, some US states, some parts of China and South Africa). Firstly, I give a short summary of full inspections.

The core of this mode of inspection is:

- Inspectors visit a school in order to gain an overview of what happens there and the learning and teaching results.
- Inspections take place in small groups, and the size depends on the school size and its complexity.
- The visit usually lasts two to five days, depending on the school size and complexity.

Inspectors' activities vary but usually, before a school visit, they analyse the syllabus, school development plans, timetables and self-evaluation reports. The inspectors talk with the school head, other leaders, students, parents, and sometimes also employer's representatives and other stakeholders. They observe lessons and other learning and teaching activities, observe staff meetings and study pupil files.

Inspectors use a common, '*inspectorate-own*' framework of criteria about what is seen as good quality in education. They use this set of indicators and criteria to evaluate what they have seen and come to an evaluation of the '*quality*' of a school. In most cases, this is described in terms of '*quality domains*' (for example, '*the organisation and management in the school*' and '*the teaching and learning*') and not simplistic '*one-liner*' judgements about a school as a whole. Most inspectorates believe that a school's reality is too complex to catch in one evaluative statement.

The evaluation is shared with the school; this is almost always in a meeting with representatives immediately after the inspection, but also in a report that is

delivered to the school after a short period. Most inspectorates also publish these reports, but in various ways, and not all inspectorates do this.

If an inspection shows that a school has serious quality problems, inspectorates have various policies for communicating this to the responsible authorities (governors of a school, the regional authority and ministry). The arrangements for help or other measures that may come into force vary widely, depending on national governance structures.

Full inspections are undertaken in every school, and most inspectorates have a scheme of repeated inspection after three, four or six years.

The methods for full inspections can vary for different school types or sectors.

Full school inspection reports

A key question is whether the final report about a school produces a correct picture of the school and a fair judgement about its quality. Simply put, the value of these reports for the various stakeholders of a school can be assessed by their ability to answer the following questions.

- Do the reports enable parents and students to make an informed decision about which school to select? (For issues about free school choice, see Hirsch, 2002)
- Do the reports give clear and convincing facts about the quality of the school(s) that enable the staff and its management to take measures for improvement?
- Do the reports give clear and convincing facts about the quality of the school(s) that enable the board (in the case of a non-state school) or the local or regional authorities, to take the necessary governance measures? For example, this could be bringing extra money in for extra temporary staff or obliging the school management to tighten the staff policy or provide in-service training.
- Do the reports give clear and convincing facts about the quality of the school(s) and about any failures of the staff, management or authorities that enable the minister of education to take measures for improvement, help or even closure?
- Do the reports provide information on the common problems shared by schools, from an aggregate analysis of all reports that have been inspected in a certain year,² for formulating new regulations, other policy or national change projects for the whole system?

From these questions, two functions can be easily recognised: the '*stimulating function*' (or, '*inspection for improvement*' – often used as a mission statement for inspectorates) and the broader, '*accountability function*' (do all stakeholders do

what they are thought to do in the governance system of the country, in order to guarantee that there are no schools delivering too low quality without being known by the inspectorate?). I come back to these issues later.

The conditions for an effective full inspection system of schools

The first condition is access to all schools and information.

This has always been, since the start of state-organised inspections in the early 19th century, an important characteristic of school inspectorates. Formulating a general judgement about the quality of a school can also be done by those outside of an education inspectorate. Schools can ask a committee of external people, for example, heads of other schools, to do a type of full inspection as part of their own self-evaluation and school-development strategies. In several countries, such movements, associations or initiatives exist. In Germany, for example, the *Blick über den Zaun* is such an organisation (www.blickueberdenzaun.de). And often governments stimulate this type of work, because it is generally believed that self-evaluation (with an external component) is good.³

However, such an inspection, resulting in a judgement by 'a critical friend', is not obligatory, is not done in all schools and, mostly, is not done against a nationally agreed framework of criteria, indicators and norms. It does not have the official status of an external inspection undertaken by an 'official', government-linked organisation like an education inspectorate with the right 'to look in every hole'.

The heart of the matter is that, by law or decree, government-linked inspectorates have a formal 'right to access' and a 'right to information' about all relevant aspects of the reality of a school. So, inspectors have the right to talk with pupils, communicate with a random sample of parents and decide the classrooms they want to observe. This right to access and information is a guarantee that schools cannot easily engage in 'window-dressing', hiding some aspects or showing only favourable situations for inspection. Schools cannot refuse inspection. Almost always, inspectorates give notice in advance (weeks or even months), but unannounced inspections also exist. This right to access and information is one of the most important characteristics of education inspectorates, with the others being independence, professionalism, reliability and authority.

The second condition is a national, standardised framework about what is 'good quality' in schools.

A quality framework with criteria, standards and indicators is not something that is more or less privately owned by a team of inspectors. Rather, it needs to have been developed and discussed carefully within the inspectorate, along with scientists, representatives from societal organisations, and all kinds of school groups. And only after such a procedure will a minister of education or parliament approve a quality framework. The consequence is that inspectors, in their application of such a framework when formulating judgements about a particular school, can rightly see themselves as representatives of society at large or the state in general. This gives weight to the judgements made, and they have to be taken seriously.

Another key issue is that in most countries many requirements concerning the quality that has to be delivered by schools have been formulated in laws and regulations. These cover, for example, the subjects that have to be taught and in which grades; the types of tests and examinations that have to be used; the number of lessons per grade and per subject; and teachers' required competences. But 'quality' is also established in a more general way by formulating more general aims, goals and principles in educational legislation and statutory guidance. One example of such a legal demand is the requirement that schools have to recognise the differences in learning capacities and character (etc.) among the students and they have to stimulate the individual development of students. There are many more examples of this kind, and it is one role of inspectors to check if schools are compliant with these demands.

But it is not by chance that in most countries this type of formulation remains rather general and schools are left to interpret and translate state guidance into practice. In the inspection frameworks, interpretations of these general formulations are also given, because, of course, individual inspectors cannot make subjective interpretations. But what is then the power of these framework interpretations? If a school is judged as violating the interpretation of the inspectorate by 'individualising' education, is that in itself a reason for a penalty? In several countries, it is said that in fact it is the inspectorate who takes the chair of the legislators. And in a way this is true. But, generally, this is accepted as long as the framework is developed in a more or less open and democratic procedure and is adapted periodically. We touch here on an important political issue in the relationship between the state, individual citizens in and around schools, and an intermediate agency such as the inspectorate. It is beyond this article to develop the issue further, but it is clear that all kinds of issues are connected: autonomy of schools; the need to maintain a national educational system with transparency and transferability; the division of power between bureaucrats (inspectorate) and politics; and the democratisation of legislation. The profiles on the SICI website show various balances here, also connected, of course, with the traditions and governance structures in the various countries.

The content of the various frameworks in use by 18 inspectorates in Europe does not differ widely. Although I have not done a detailed comparative analysis of

the frameworks,⁴ it is clear that all inspectorates have a shared set of quality domains that they define as important. There is a core covering the following areas:

- the learning outcomes, in terms of examinations or tests results and also more general outcomes such as attitudes and general competences
- school efficiency in terms of average number of years of schooling before pupils have a diploma; and percentages of incoming students leaving with a diploma
- learning and teaching processes, a very broad area that covers classroom organisation, differentiation, good structuring of the teaching, enough opportunities for independent or self-governed learning, monitoring of students' learning, coordination among teachers of one group of pupils, longitudinal coordination, activating students, cohesion among all teachers and other staff in a school, and a shared vision on teaching and learning
- the curriculum in terms of its coherence, alignment over periods, cohorts and years, coverage of the prescribed national curriculum, and adaptation to the needs of the students
- differentiation based on different needs due to learning pace, learning needs, general assistance, and cultural and linguistic backgrounds
- the (pedagogical) climate of the school, its ethos and culture, and ability for some frameworks to be split into two levels: the school as a whole and the class or group
- the care of students with special learning or educational needs
- school leadership and management
- the process of school development: its continuity, planning, and participation of all involved.

There are some other areas that feature less commonly in the frameworks:

- sufficiency of learning time for students (some identify this as a sub-area within learning and teaching, in the same way as I mentioned above)
- the evaluation of students' work and progress (some identify this as a sub-area within learning and teaching)
- external conditions: funding and staffing levels, the social environment (often taken into account as a value judgement), and the quality of the building and furniture
- communication with parents and other stakeholders (some see this as a subarea in management)
- student, parent and other stakeholders' satisfaction (some see this as a subarea in several other areas).

In the forthcoming comparative analysis (van Bruggen, 2010), more details can be found. My statement, there, is threefold.

The differences at domain level among the 18 frameworks lie more in the grouping of quality domains into a smaller number of *'higher order'* concepts, than in real differences in thinking about what is important in the quality of schools that we want to see in Europe. So, for example, some inspectorates combine several domains from this list under *'learning and teaching'*. More important seem to be the differences at indicator level.⁵ At *'practice descriptor'* level it is too difficult to get a comparative picture, because most inspectorates only have these statements in their handbooks and observation instruments, and, in most cases, these are not visible on their websites, or only in their mother tongues.

This result is not astonishing because the results of research about '*effective schools*' are one important source for the definition of the frameworks, and this research shows clearly what the most important domains of quality are. An important and convincing source is Scheerens *et al.* (2003).

It would have been very good if SICI (supported by European money because the work is expensive) could have done a thorough comparative analysis and developed a common framework at SICI level. This could facilitate a Europeanwide discussion about what we want to see in European schools, and such a common framework could also be used to make real comparisons in order to learn more from each other.⁶ Of course, such a common framework could have common domains and indicators, but also optional domains or indicators, for choice by individual inspectorates. It is not necessary to talk about *'supranationalism'*, because it should only be an instrument for doing the inspection work and for the exchange of good practice in schools at a more sophisticated and professional level, for combating the often-seen superficial cafe-talk about good schools, and debates in some national parliaments and newspapers.

The third condition is the clarity and sharpness of the report.

The reports of a full school inspection have to be clear, give detailed lists of the strong and weak points of a school's quality, and show that the inspectors have a complete and profound knowledge of what is going on in a school. (This links to the acceptability of the inspection work.) I have the strong impression that more and more inspectorates have problems with this aspect.

A first factor is that only a few inspectorates still inspect the quality of subject teaching in an in-depth way and much of the quality of learning and teaching is, in fact, the quality of, for example, good biology teaching. It is not enough that inspectors attend a few lessons, spread over many subjects, and only give a general judgement about the teaching: is it, for example, structured or interactive? It is also important that the teaching is adequate, up to the desired

93
standard for the subject and its didactics. This is, of course, a matter of time for inspectors: it is impossible with two or three days in a school to do a real inspection of subjects, and it is also a matter of having the necessary subject knowledge. But there is a second factor: even if the inspectors have done a thorough inspection of a certain topic (for example, the recording of learning progress per child and the individualising consequences of having a continuous focus on classroom work), it could be that the description in the report, the analysis of the findings and the judgements made are too general, not detailed or sharp. In such a case, the report does not give much stimulus for action. Whilst the guarantee of this aspect of quality can be given, the grounds may not be very clear and the judgement does not serve the improvement function of the inspection. I refer to my comparative analysis for more about this sensitive issue. The still scarce impact research about inspection reports seems to confirm that only detailed, sharp reports have impact and lead to action by schools (Ehren, 2006).

The fourth condition is that the judgement is taken seriously, leads to actions for improvement by the schools and/or the authorities and, in some cases, has consequences for, for example, staff positions and finance.

In several countries, this 'taking it seriously' is formalised by asking schools to respond to the judgement within, for example, three months with an adequate reaction or improvement plan. In most German and Anglo-Saxon countries, it is the local or regional authority that obliges the school to deliver such a response, approves this response and later checks whether the school is indeed doing what has been agreed. In some of these authorities (in most English, Scottish and German local authorities, and also in Norway and Spain) they have a support department for helping schools to analyse the inspector's judgement and to develop the improvement plan. Sometimes there are support agencies outside the authority which schools can use to buy support. It is important that the principle is that all schools have to take the judgement seriously, even those schools which are judged to be very good in almost all quality domains, but can improve in one or two areas. So, the idea is that inspection keeps the schools under pressure to develop and improve continuously.

Of course, this only works if the framework is accepted broadly as 'the' framework for a serious discussion about the quality of a school and if the inspection report about a school is sharp, focused, clear, and not too general. And equally, it only works so, if the inspectorate itself takes the framework seriously and, internally, invests sufficiently in an exchange of views and interpretations between inspectors, and invests in training to ensure inter-inspector reliability.

If inspectors have to give a judgement about the quality of a school, this judgement may also be that the quality is insufficient and has to be improved immediately. Or, it may be that the quality is extremely good and much better

than might be expected. In both cases, we touch on sensitive issues about what to do next: punishment, closure, or rewarding a school with extra money? (The Matthew Principle applies here: the good ones are rewarded and may become even better; the bad ones are punished and become even worse).

In the cross-national profiles, we see various solutions. It is clear that, in all countries where full school inspection has become the tradition, the regimes for improving weak or very weak schools have tightened in the last few years. Authorities and the public no longer accept that children receive a school education that is below standard; all parents, of course, want *'the best'*. The regimes vary, but where the largest problems are to be found, the important strategies adopted are replacing staff and, in particular, the heads, and an emphasis on the rapid improvement in the school's teaching methods, materials and cooperation. There are many schools that show a fast improvement if a coordinated and tough approach is practised. See further in Section 5 where I touch on the general issues of school development and improvement, and the many studies and theories about these important issues (Fullan, 2001; Hargreaves and Fink, 2005; Hargreaves and Dennis, 2008; Rolff, 2007). It has become more and more clear that a good mixture of pressure and support has to be found for both an individual school and a school system to improve.

The issue of the public availability of the inspection judgement (in print or on the internet) is strongly related to this '*pressure*' issue. This availability easily leads to 'league tables' or other forms of ranking, constructed by newspapers or other groups, even if inspectorates themselves do not want this to happen. All inspectorates say that the reality of a school is too complex to pack into one figure or score. This may be true, but the reality is that parents are even prepared to move into another part of a town to find a better school for their children. Public reports and school rankings are also connected with the issue of the open and free choice of a school by parents, which in itself is a strong movement in many countries (see Hirsch, 2002).

Full inspections and two state governance functions for schools

The four conditions for an effective full inspection of schools are not fulfilled equally strongly or well everywhere (access and information, a well-developed and well-applied framework with standards and criteria for school quality, clear, structured and sharp reports, and a good structure for obliging schools to take the judgement seriously). But the rationale behind the rapid growth of full inspections as an important instrument in national educational policy is that these conditions enable the inspections to work with two rather different educational governance philosophies.

The first is where the national government is accountable for an education system that is seen as '*good enough*' and for schools that are '*good enough*' in all

villages and towns throughout the nation state. In many constitutions and/or laws on education this duty of the state is clearly formulated.⁷ The government can, of course, share this accountability with other stakeholders (regional authorities, school boards, professional school people, parents and local advisory boards) by adopting various governance structures. Also, the financial consequences can be shared and, in many countries, this issue is still a source of conflict and political struggle between national, provincial and local authorities, and also between public money and private money from parents who have to make higher or lower contributions. The national profiles show rather decentralised governance structures where the first governance philosophy is in play. Denmark, with its high emphasis on local autonomy of the communities, is one such example.

The consequence of this decentralisation is that there is no inspection of public schools by a national state inspection, but 'only' a monitoring of the accountability structure that the local authorities have built and maintained in cooperation with the parents. Privately run schools have their own inspection regime, but this is based on national regulation and, only in exceptional situations, checked by a very small national inspection unit. There are also centralised structures (for example, in the Netherlands and Portugal) and all kinds of variations (for example, in Wales, Slovakia and Sweden) but, in all these structures, the inspectorate has to maintain the standard of 'good enough'. This is the 'guarantee function' of the inspectorate, which I try to formulate as follows: 'There may not exist a school that is not good enough without it being known by the inspectorate and without the actions of stakeholders – initiated or requested by the inspectorate – that have tried to improve and repair it'.

The second educational governance philosophy is enacted where the government wants the 'best possible' schools. This is the improvement push that inspections and all related work must give; not only for the schools with quality problems, but for all schools. One example is the Netherlands. The Dutch inspectorate reported in its annual report for 2008-09 that there are still too few schools (25 per cent in the primary sector) that really try to realise so-called 'results-driven education', based on regular and periodic assessments of what children can do and know (Inspectie van het Onderwijs, 2010). And it also reported that it is clear that the school results, and so their quality in terms of learning outcomes and efficiency, could be improved considerably, if more schools adopted these principles. The inspectorate also published examples of 'good practice'. Now it is up to the schools, their boards, the supporting agencies and also the government (via all kinds of smart, stimulating and subsidised projects, the production of tools for schools and a boost to the in-service training that is offered) to take action in order to bring significant improvement.

Here, we also see an important facet of inspection: the inspectors' report about what they have seen ("fair and without fear", as Office for Standards in

96

Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted,) the English inspectorate, has said). In this, they identify quality problems and give a diagnosis of the cause of these problems or recommend a further investigation into the causes. But, in general, the inspectors do not give concrete advice or an action plan; this is seen as being beyond both their remit and expertise. It could also lead to the situation that, after a few years, the inspectors would have to evaluate their own advice and recommendations, and this would prejudice their independent position.

My clear view is that these functions can never be fulfilled by inspectorates who work in a kind of isolation. There has to be a strong link with the work of authorities and supporting agencies who support school development via local or regional centres, curriculum development, in-service training for teachers and heads, test development and development of teachers' tools. This approach requires coordination at local, regional and national level and, fortunately, we see this happening more and more frequently. See the profiles of the 18 inspectorates for more details (van Bruggen, 2010; www.sici-inspectorates.org).

Of course, the two governance philosophies (*'the good enough'* and *'the best'* schools) are strongly connected with many discussions about educational policy, modern school governance and the best division of responsibility within education. For example, they relate to the important issue of the self-evaluation by schools as an important engine for improvement. Some people, particularly in England and Germany in the nineties, have written that external inspection could damage this internal driver for change. Now it is more clearly seen that it is not a matter of either external inspection or self-evaluation, but a combination that is an effective dual strategy for school improvement (see note three for sources).

A second example is the discussion about the autonomy of individual teachers and their professionalism as the vital force of innovation and impact in school education. Are external inspections killing the professionalism of teachers and dealing with teachers as *'technical appliers of a set of indicators for good teaching'*, without giving room for the more creative side of the profession, and without seeing the limitations of central regulations?

In a way, the discussion about inspection is a node for all kinds of other discussions about the power of education in economic restructuring and in raising the welfare of a country. So, it is no wonder that in many of these discussions, policy documents and general declarations (see the well-known European statements of Lisbon, etc.), a link is made with the *'external evaluation of schools'*, or *'inspection in order to monitor the development'* of schools.

But this does not mean that the inspection of schools is an important innovative force in itself or an isolated '*provision*' that can bring about the improvement of schools that so many governments want. Many ministers have made this mistake

in the initial phases of introducing inspection regimes for full school inspections, and feeling that, if such a regime is introduced, *'you can lean backwards and everything will be better'*. In some of the 16 German Länder (states) this was the way of thinking in the early 2000s, which we would now see as being rather *'primitive'*.

From the short statements about the four conditions for effective inspection, it is clear that inspection can only bring change and improvement under the condition that other powers have also been activated and are ready to be used. These include the school itself, the supporting agencies, the pushing, requesting and checking authorities, the parent force that takes responsibility and, last but not least, the national government that has regulatory and financial responsibilities and also takes responsibility for enabling all parties to do what they are expected to do. I will return to this important issue later, but, first, a few words about other tasks of education inspectorates.

Other potential tasks of the inspectorates

In this section, I only give very short descriptions about the other tasks of inspectorates and, to do this, I refer to the international comparative analysis that has already been mentioned and to other publications. My intention here is to show that inspectorates still have other important tasks apart from the full inspections of schools.

Thematic inspections

These are inspections of a restricted topic or subject, and are usually conducted in a sample of schools within a country. In such an inspection, a more detailed and deeper analysis can be achieved than is possible in the full inspection mode. The aim is to obtain a more detailed evaluation of a given topic at a national level. One example could be a report about the quality of mathematics education in the junior grades of primary education.

A general periodic report about 'the state of education' in a country

Many, but not all, inspectorates analyse their school inspections and their thematic inspections, sometimes also combining them with other sources, and periodically publish a summarising report about 'the state of education' (between every year and every three years). Some inspectorates also publish regional reports of the same type.

Complaints

Traditionally some inspectorates had a lot to do with, for example, teachers' complaints about heads and parents' complaints about teachers. Now, in most countries, schools have complaint procedures with complaint commissions held at a school or regional level.

Management and administration

Traditionally, some inspectorates had important managerial tasks in running schools: curricular decisions, staff appointments, and facility management of buildings, furniture and school books. Almost everywhere these tasks have now been transferred to school heads and/or to local or regional education boards or similar agencies.

Examinations and tests

Several inspectorates inspect whether school examinations (secondary or higher level) are organised well and taken by students in an honest way. This, of course, has to do with the important civil effects of examinations. In most cases, inspectors are not themselves involved in setting the examinations or the grading. In some inspectorates, staff are involved in advisory work about the development of national programmes for examinations and their link with the national curricula. In a full inspection, inspectors will use pupil examination and test results as an important source for their judgement about the learning outcomes of a school.

Advising schools

Traditionally many inspectorates had important tasks advising, by request or mandate, heads and teachers about all kinds of issues: for example, choice of school books, interpretation of national curricula, and teaching methods. In most countries, these tasks are done by advisors in regional or national offices and are separate from inspection, although these advisors can use the outcomes of inspections as a basis for their advisory work. But there is an important advisory element in the daily work of inspectors, perhaps not intended as such, but still perceived by teachers and heads as 'advice'. This comes in informal 'in between' talks; or in short feedback given to a teacher after a classroom visit; and certainly in meetings where the provisional outcome of the full inspection (or another inspection) is presented and discussed. Almost all inspectorates say that this advisory work is not their explicit task.

Advising authorities

There is a thin boundary between 'publishing' a report at system level about some thematic inspection (or annually about the state of education), and sending specific advice to a ministry, parliament or regional authority. If an inspectorate gives a clear judgement about a situation and also gives an analysis of the causes, then formal 'advice' about what to do is, perhaps, not written, but that message is so clear from the report that, in fact, advice is given. So, the statement in many profiles that inspectorates do not give formal advice to the authorities is true, but does not convey the full picture. Some inspectorates have official and formal advisory tasks relating to general issues about educational policy. In many inspectorates, the senior chief inspector participates in high-level meetings with ministers and other decision makers. In some inspectorates, there is a formal 'duty of advice' about measures to be taken if a school is 'below standards'. And there are, in some inspectorates, other important advisory tasks; for example, about the admission of newly founded privately run schools, the admission of foreign teachers, and diplomas.

Influence, public debate and publications

The profiles are not very explicit on this issue, but there is a general feeling that inspectors have to be careful and discreet with public statements about educational policy issues. Opinions about political issues under debate or about detailed aspects of the teaching and organisation of schools (for example, differentiation and individualisation) are not given in public, or only in a rather indirect way. Certainly, inspectors are required not to speak or write about particular schools. In some countries, however, it is seen as a pity that the broad knowledge and experience of an inspectorate about what works in schools is kept within the corps. Books or films with 'good practice' are published – sometimes also within the general inspection report. It is not easy to find out what happens in this case, because the profiles do not give many details. And in most countries, there is still little 'hard' research about the 'impact of inspection', and certainly not about this more general influence on public debate and policy-making. This is still more difficult to establish in a tangible way than the impact on school improvement, as such.

2. Theories behind the work of inspectorates

Of the two main functions that school inspections have to fulfil, the 'guarantee function' (in which there is no school below the quality threshold that is not known and monitored by the inspectorate), has a clear under-pinning theory. It is the opinion that 'somebody' has to guard the quality of education for 'the future of the nation'.

Somewhat less immediately clear is the question of what theory lies behind the thinking that school inspection can bring improvement to schools and to the daily work of teachers. Perhaps for most of the inspection tasks mentioned in Section 1, the answer is indeed simple. For example, if inspectors report that a certain national quality theme could be improved with actions 'x' and 'y', it is up to '*somebody*' (the government, the support agencies or the training colleges) to take action. Of course, the problems about innovation, implementation and adaptation (well known in the literature) remain, but the function of the inspectorate is clear: report about the facts and give a clear diagnosis. This is also the case when we talk about the functions of inspectors regarding complaints, examinations and management.

But in a full inspection, this theory (which I summarise as: 'give facts and diagnosis and people will easily and immediately take action') is perhaps too simple. This thinking, which was prominent in the seventies, eighties and early nineties can be summarised.

- 1. Hold an outsider's mirror up for school staff to receive a clear, independent and professional reflection of the quality of their work, showing it against a national framework. Understand that staff really did not know about quality problems.⁸
- 2. Staff will be happy with the inspection and accept any judgements and diagnoses.
- 3. Staff will easily accept the consequences of their change processes, start to learn and adapt their practices.
- 4. If staff need help to do this, they will look for it because they are capable of identifying what has to be done, how, when, in which sequence, and by whom.
- 5. Staff can easily find and accept knowledge about how to act better, and they will apply this knowledge immediately.

It is important to underline that these notions fully respect the autonomy of the school (one of the political dogmas during those years) and express high expectations about what teachers and heads want to do and are able to do. So, the theory fits very well in the headlines of current thinking and rhetoric.

In the above five statements, I deliberately chose rather naive and simple formulations. This 'simple' theory, however, may sound a little crazy for people who know about school innovation processes and have read some of the hundreds of case studies about school improvement in individual schools and/or about school improvement at system level.⁹ But it is indeed true that from 1990 to 2000, many governments and inspectorates put this very simple idea into practice. Evidence for this statement is visible in the 'very impatient' questions of politicians who asked: "What type of inspection brings real improvement to our schools?" This can be seen, for example, in the German developments introduced between 2005 and 2010, and in countries such as Slovakia and Estonia, and in Sweden in the late nineties and England in the mid-nineties. In several countries, impact studies about the value of inspections were launched two or three years after they started.

But perhaps the above theory with its view on *'how inspections work as triggers for improvement'* is too simple, and this is certainly so if we take into account everything we know about school improvement. I summarise, below, our main understandings about the challenges to be overcome by those seeking to make school improvements, based on research in the last 10 to 15 years:

- the difficulties in the articulation of self-knowledge and self-consciousness by teachers and school teams
- the resistance mechanisms towards knowledge and pressure from outside a school
- the reluctance to adopt innovations invented elsewhere
- the human need to develop your own way of doing things (ownership)
- the difficulties in introducing a new type of leadership and management that is evidence based and results driven and which creates a new sense of belonging to a team that is seeking to develop a growing and changing school.

This knowledge on school improvement fits well with the image of a semiautonomous school that is confronted with an inspectorate's judgement about its quality, takes its judgement seriously and uses it as a trigger for action. Two important differences exist between an inspector's report and the general advice and recommendations for schools about what to change that are given in thousands of booklets, articles, conferences and meetings.

The first one is that the inspection report describes and analyses the real school as people know it or know it however partially. So, the judgements, diagnoses and eventual recommendations are not 'general' or 'for everybody', but are 'for us here and now'. This is a potential 'antidote' to the lack of self-knowledge by teachers mentioned in the first bullet point above and their reluctance to change given in the third bullet point. The second difference relates to 'the power or pressure issue'. This pressure for change by the inspectorate differs from the general pressure delivered by social scientists (who, for example, publish articles about bad PISA results and call for school actions 'x' and 'y' without really bringing practical solutions which fit into an individual school's context).

These two factors, often seen in parliamentary debates, could perhaps help to counter the indifference or even resistance to change and improvement found in some pedagogical circles – see the virulent debates in England in the early nineties about 'pedagogical mafia' and in certain teacher unions (who feared the 'power play' of the inspectors and their attacks on professional and pedagogical freedom). It is, of course, meaningful that my language here is the language of struggle and power. But, indeed, it was and is strongly believed that an inspection has some power and exerts pressure itself, because it is 'the state' that says 'x' or 'y', despite the fact that there are few who hesitate to accept the authority and quality of the inspectors.

But the question is, of course, is there enough legitimacy to overcome all the problems in the adoption, adaptation, innovation and ownership of the changes needed to improve schools? Here we reach the heart of the matter about the impact of inspection reports about schools. There is more about this in Section 3.

But before this, I have to talk about the fact that we can often see improvements rather speedily after school inspections. Firstly, schools with serious quality problems can sometimes attain astonishing improvement quickly, but only if certain conditions are fulfilled. There are several case studies, in England in particular (for example, see National Audit Office, 2006). I write about this issue at more length in Section 4.

Secondly, many schools quickly make some improvements after the inspections. As impact research (see Matthews and Sammons, 2004; Ehren, 2006 in the list about impact literature), inspector observations and second-generation inspection reports have shown, however, these improvements, most often have to do with *'the easy issues'*. These include, for example, improvement in the arrangements for parents to receive feedback about the progress of their children; improvements in the planning of teachers' meetings; better coordination of teachers' work; administrative improvements; a better playground; better and more sophisticated computer facilities for higher grades in senior secondary schools; better use of the tests that are taken by younger children for analysing their strengths and weaknesses in reading or maths learning; better observation instruments for developing better cooperative behaviour; and better planning of pinpointed help and actions.¹⁰ I called these *'easy issues'*, but we must not underestimate these *'rapid improvements'* because they are rather important for many people.

I have also seen and heard about several examples of this type where improvements occur when the staff act coherently and cooperatively, and change is well focused and planned. This effect can bring another spirit, ethos or atmosphere into a school and generates a 'snowball-effect' from this positive experience. Much depends, then, on a school's leadership; a leadership can be successful if it sees and grasps the 'small sparks' of new initiatives, cooperation and innovation, but does this carefully, not too hastily, not with immediate big plans for say three years and not with a lot of externally organised support. This happens by simple means and simple empowerment, with the trick being to create an atmosphere of joy and pleasure in the real and visible improvement that is realised. One example is to offer a simple drink on Friday afternoon in the classroom of a teacher who has, over three weeks of extra work, installed a new and better system of individual and differentiated task selection for children. Such a small celebration can enforce the sense of belonging and also the sense of cooperation.

Of course, this effect can be stimulated by the inspection report and certainly by the way it is presented to a school community. More and more inspectorates nowadays do more than attend only a short meeting with a representation of the school community immediately after the inspection, where the main findings, judgements and recommendations are presented orally. A good example, in my opinion, is the arrangement of the inspectorate in Germany's RhinelandPalatinate. After finishing the final report (with a prior opportunity for the school to comment on a draft), the inspectors organise a large meeting with all teachers, school management, parent representatives and other stakeholders. In the first part of this meeting, they present the report for the whole audience. In the second part, group discussions are held about: what can we as a school learn from the report and what can we do, both quickly and later, in order to improve things; and what type of conclusions do we not find so important?'

These discussions are chaired by inspectors and have to conclude with provisional ideas for an action plan. Of course, the action plan has to be developed further shortly after the meeting and an agreement has to be made between the school and its local or regional authority (the Germans use the fine word, 'Zielvereinbarung': agreement about the objectives of our actions). This arrangement has the potential to generate positive energy and to discover and adopt realisable improvements that can bring long-lasting benefits. In the comparative analysis of the 18 inspectorates, more of this type of connection between the inspection report and the start of improvement actions can be found.

In my work as a member of the jury for the German School Prize (see www.schulpreis.bosch-stiftung.de) in the last four years, I have inspected some 15 of the best German schools in the primary and secondary sector. I am again impressed that many schools have been brought into an accelerating movement of improvement and change by small, and at first sight, not too important innovations. These have been seen by good school leaders, however, as important seeds or starters. Biographies for some of these schools already exist or are summarised in the books about the prize winners in 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009 (forthcoming); see Fauser, *et al.* (2007, 2008 and 2009). ¹¹ Some of these school leaders confirm (mostly in confidential and off-the-record conversations) that a recent school inspection has often been the engine that has led to new motivation and a new consciousness that things can and have to happen. ¹² Good school leaders can use a school inspection as a trigger for a new process of school improvement that goes much further than the improvement issues that have been mentioned in the inspection report.

So, less piecemeal and more general, holistic and sustaining school improvement can be triggered by a school inspection report. But this will only happen under certain conditions – in part, those requirements set out in the report itself and its 'presentation' to the school, and in part, those fulfilled by making changes to the internal school context, in particular in the leadership.

Now we touch again on the more general issues highlighted by impact research about full school inspections.

3. What do we know from the research about the impact of school inspections?

Can this type of research say something about whether the 'simple theory' about school inspections as an engine for school improvement actually works?¹³ What do we know from previous impact studies (see some studies mentioned in a separate part of the literature list at the end of this paper)? I summarise, below, some of their key findings.

- About 90 per cent of teachers and heads are satisfied with inspections in that they agree that the inspectors did a good job, saw the things that mattered and judged fairly.
- Schools frequently take action immediately after the inspection, but they tend to do things that are 'easy' to improve; see Section 2.
- Most teachers and heads confirm that the inspection report (if it is good and sharp) is often not very surprising, and mostly confirms what they already knew about their strong and weak points, but these had not been openly discussed in the school. They also say that the report brought a new stimulus for action and discussion that, if the leadership took up these opportunities, led to improvement. So, the inspection can bring a new consciousness and willingness, but if this happens, it depends on other interventions and circumstances. See Section 2.
- Doing really good and reliable impact research into the more important and deeper improvement processes within schools is difficult and very time- and energy-consuming. There are simply too many intervening variables operational in long-lasting and sustainable school improvement and thus the effect of one event, an inspection, is very difficult to isolate. From school biographies, it is clear that in all cases it is a combination of variables, rather than one event or factor, which is important. The leadership, a new motivation brought by some new teachers, clear pressure, plus support, by the school board and/or the local authority, are just some of the more influential variables.
- The impact of inspections on the improvement of learning outcomes is difficult to attribute to inspections alone. If an attempt is made to measure that impact, then it is found to be rather small. Rather, it is that inspections fit into a more general climate of *'results-driven'* teaching and development in schools. In such a climate, all kinds of other measures fit too: the promotion of self-evaluation, the production of good tests and observation instruments for teachers, in-service training, national assessments and greater weight on final examinations and cross-school comparisons. Inspection of schools is only one measure in this long list.

Most impressive, for me, were the results of a series of in-depth interviews with Dutch schools immediately after an inspection, and then three years later, undertaken by Ehren (Ehren, 2006 in Dutch, but later sources are in English). These showed clearly that much depends on the quality of the inspection reports. The reports must be clear and sharp, and give details of quality issues that deserve quick and not superficial action.

The interviews also revealed that detailed suggestions about what to do and how to bring improvement had to be given. This is, of course, a painful issue, given the division of tasks between inspectors (for example, judgement and diagnosis) and advisors or support people. It also appeared that it was helpful to have clear agreements between inspectors and a school, or between the local authorities and a school, about what to do and how and when to do it. (This refers to the 'pressure issue' that I have already mentioned).

It also appeared that if these conditions are fulfilled, schools with relatively good structures and systems for self-evaluation and self-governance were able to use the inspection report better and more fruitfully than other schools. This is a welcome confirmation of the relevance of the investments in strengthening the management, self-evaluation and self-governance of schools.¹⁴ These findings are also confirmed by much research done in England; for example, in the fine review of Matthews and Sammons (2004).

If we want this type of impact to be seen in all schools in all our systems, two consequences then follow. First, it means that regular (say, once in three or four years) and rather detailed inspections have to be done. The resulting report has to give a clear indication of the good and weak points in school quality and provide a sharp diagnosis of the underlying quality and organisational problems that need to be addressed. It also means that the links between three key components must be effective. The three components in a successful arrangement are:

- 1. evaluating and diagnosing the tasks of inspectors
- 2. guidance, in-service training, school-based and school-directed curriculum development the tasks of the school management and external support agencies
- 3. pressure, contracts about actions and improvement, monitoring and supervision the tasks of regional authorities or other 'agents with power'.

So, my conclusion is that indeed the impact of school inspections can be feasible and visible, but only when certain important conditions have been fulfilled, will there be a 'double impact'. We come back to some of these issues later.

4. Case studies about very weak schools that can improve quickly

In some impact studies one can find evidence about impressive improvements in very weak schools. Most of these studies have been done in England. In the profiles on the SICI website some other inspectorates also report convincing results; for example, Sweden, Ireland, Scotland and Flanders.

I describe here one convincing example from the Netherlands (Hoogenboom, 2006). It is about six very weak schools, identified by the inspectorate in 2003–04. The government had commissioned a small consortium of one national and three regional support agencies to support the schools. In the action plans drawn up, as a basis for the extra money given by the national government to these schools, rather tough measures were agreed. These involved: extensive in-service training for the staff (partially in their own unpaid time), replacement of some heads, other staff and some school boards,¹⁵ and immediate use of new teaching materials. In the three towns with the six very weak schools, a concerted and well-coordinated action was planned and carried out by the local authorities, school boards, national and local support agencies, parents' commissions, and the teaching force themselves. All action was based on the schools' inspection reports. Within a year and a half, a considerable improvement was recorded. This took place in the learning outcomes of children, as measured by standardised tests; in the atmosphere and spirit and ethos in the schools; in the cooperation amongst teachers; and, in particular, in the leadership and management of the schools. With the hard work of all involved, with tough measures and with unpleasant consequences for some people, it was possible to pull the weak schools out of the quagmire and to save children from bad or mediocre teaching. The analysis in the six schools, after two to three years of work, showed some very interesting and convincing facts that were at the heart of the change. There were a number of important messages.

- Regular testing and/or standardised observation of learning and learning outcomes are vital.
- Visits by experienced and respected school heads, deputies or senior teachers with the specific task of being a *'visitor-connoisseur'* in working classrooms and giving direct feedback on teaching helps a lot if advice is given in a safe atmosphere of collegial support with a shared professional will.
- Younger teachers must agree to use the teacher handbooks as 'recipes' and must not use their own creativity when they have to work with complicated learning sequences in reading or maths or are encouraging children to adopt better social behaviours. They also have to cope with the broad differentiation in their learning groups. This is a difficult task and they have to accept that they must study and apply the resources in the handbooks, and not start with

their own experiments. Growing into the profession costs time and energy, but can be planned and coached.

- Renewed '*technical*' training of more experienced teachers brings considerably more improvement in classroom management, teaching effectiveness and learning outcomes than people might expect in advance.
- The stimulating and regulating function of the school leadership is vital, but that is also true for the managerial and organisational capacity that enables teachers to concentrate on their core business, because everything else in the school is running smoothly.

What is convincing in this type of case study, and in other schools' biographies, is that it is indeed possible to make the more difficult improvements to schools. Improved behaviours of teachers or heads, much better curriculum planning,¹⁶ visible improvements in the pedagogical climate (or ethos), real improvements in the coordination between subject teachers, or improvement in the longitudinal coordination between succeeding grades, and other important aspects of what makes a good school, can all be achieved. This needs more than some quick '*plug and play*' arrangements.

Deeper and sustainable innovation and improvement requires a lot of hard work in preparing teaching, engaging in smart curricular planning, and trying to find new and motivating learning arrangements, materials, projects or syllabi.

Time and energy are also needed for real talking and looking. There has to be time and openness for having colleagues in your classroom who want to see what you are doing and how (and who give their reactions). There has to be development of an open attitude to experimenting and using mistakes as sources for improved learning.

This sustainable improvement requires good leadership, a smart management, clear arrangements and rules in the school on how to behave and how to manage the daily stream of information on changes in children's lives and circumstances that could facilitate or detract from learning.

It is also clear, however, that in these case studies, the inspection and its report is *'only'* a trigger, an important trigger, yes, but not more than this. And it is only effective if it clearly identifies the quality problems and their underlying causes – and preferably gives a clear direction of what can be done to improve the situation.

5. School improvement and innovation at school and system level, and newer inspection arrangements

In this article it is not possible to challenge the conclusions at the end of the preceding section with all the knowledge we have about the processes of school improvement. But the summaries given in preceding parts are clear enough: what we know about school improvement is in line with what I wrote earlier. My view is that we know enough about how to create circumstances and environments that are favourable for bringing about really sustainable improvement, as indicated by good and thorough full inspections of schools.

Most of the 18 profiles on the SICI website (www.sici-inspectorates.org) show that countries have developed various modes for full inspection. Overall, they are rather similar, at least for the early cycles of school inspections in a country. The inspectorates that have longer experiences of full school inspections are, however, confronted with some problems.

A key question is whether an inspection of two days or so, with two or three inspectors, really can give an in-depth image of the quality of all important aspects of a school, subject teaching included. As we have seen, a detailed inspection is needed if it is to have a real impact in the majority of schools. In practice, such a deep and differentiated image of the quality of a school is not found in most inspection reports, although it is difficult to generalise. In a first inspection, that is not a big problem, because a rather general quality judgement is valuable for guaranteeing threshold quality and for delivering starting points for school improvement. But a repeated inspection of the same 'superficial' character – and certainly if this comes only after five or six years – does not bring much new knowledge. This is, of course, for many inspectorates a budgetary problem: not having sufficient staff and money. But this is not the only cause: many influential bodies (political parties, teacher union executives and universities) find it dangerous to build too powerful an inspectorate that has too large an influence on schools, and one that is going to dictate what 'the best quality' is in terms of quality statements and indicators.

Although the judgements of the inspectorate have no legal or obligatory status (with the exception of special regimes being in place for very weak schools in most countries), the fear is that the inspectorate is going to decide what good teaching is. As leaders of some inspectorates say, this does not fit with the current philosophy of collaborative and shared responsibility, and could lead to dependency and the deprofessionalisation of teachers.

I cannot go deeper into this very interesting issue that directly touches on one of the political '*trials*' of inspectorates. But it is clear that not many inspectorates can

easily ask for more money from their governments, even if there is pressure for this from outside – sometimes from teacher groups and unions.

Some inspectorates try to solve this problem in a second or third round of inspections by adopting a short general inspection, which produces an overview of school quality, plus an inspection of one or two issues chosen by the school or the inspectorate to inspect in more depth. See the profiles for Northern Ireland, Wales, the German state of Hesse, and Flanders. In these places, schools have the opportunity to use the inspection outcome to improve one domain of quality and perhaps as a more general trigger for improvement that I sketched earlier.

Some other inspectorates take a 'risk-based' view: only those schools that display indications of deteriorating quality (as shown by national tests or examinations, alarming articles in the press, a growing number of serious complaints by parents or pupils, and poor self-evaluation reports required by authorities of inspectorates) are subject to further inspection. The Netherlands inspectorate does this most radically, but other inspectorates have elements of this risk-based strategy. In such an approach, the 'average schools', that are not really bad and not really excellent, are not inspected.¹⁷ And so, the inspectorate cannot have a positive influence on improvement for these schools. These inspectorates make a clear choice: the 'guarantee function' of the inspectorate is vital and the 'improvement function' is only fulfilled at system level by thematic inspections in a sample of schools. Estonia's inspectorate is very clear about this political choice: after a couple of years of full inspections, it could not be demonstrated that all schools were better, and so the full inspections were abolished and only in highrisk cases is there a general inspection (conducted by a small national inspectorate), apart from the thematic inspections.

This is a pity because I am convinced that all schools can benefit from a really good, and not superficial, inspection from outside. This is one that is undertaken by experts (when it is an inspection about a rather specific subject or aspect of quality),¹⁸ produces a detailed report with recommendations, engenders a professional debate among teachers and with people who are able to support the school,¹⁹ and creates a *'pressure structure'* around the school that keeps even an excellent school awake and always striving for better quality.

The Flemish arrangement, started in the summer of 2009, seems very promising; they call it the "*differentiated mode of inspection*". All schools are inspected in a oneday inspection, which also examines self-evaluation reports and other kinds of written material. The result is an estimation of '*risk*' and, if the school is rated as being at '*high risk*', a full and deep inspection is conducted (about all quality domains within the inspection framework, thus fulfilling the guarantee function). If there is no serious risk, two or three quality issues are selected for a consequential inspection a few months later. These quality issues are selected by the inspectorate in consultation with the school. An issue might be put forward by the school because its leaders think that a tough external inspection could boost developments, but it could also be an issue that is felt to be very good or excellent and is inspected in order to expand the set of good practice published by the inspectorate. For further details, I refer to the Flemish profile. We have to wait and see whether this dual process of inspection provides a workable solution.

In countries where a close connection exists between the inspectorate and the local or regional authorities (support agencies included), one could hope that even a general inspection report once in three or four years, combined with good attention to the post-inspection work, gives enough triggers for the stakeholders to take real action and to go further – perhaps even with their own more focused inspections. In the profiles of Wales, Scotland, Northern Ireland, Hesse and Saxony, some glimpses of this creative use of a general inspection report may be seen, but the vision is not very clear. Much will depend on real cooperation between local schools (clusters), the inspectorate, and the local or regional authorities and the support agencies who provide guidance, coaching, schoolfocused curriculum help, in-service training for teachers and quality circles for heads and senior teachers. Incidentally, there are fine reports about this type of effective school-improvement work in England, Flanders, the Netherlands, some German states and France.

6. Final remarks

In these newer arrangements, delivering 'tested' new knowledge about 'good teaching and learning' remains vital. This means teaching and learning with better and more up-to-date content and with teaching and learning arrangements that are updated with our newer knowledge about how young people learn and how they can be stimulated to develop an active learning attitude. We know so much about what could be done better in classrooms, based on careful thinking and experiment, as well as on the sometimes amazing creativity of teachers and on small-scale curriculum development (as seen in the best German schools that I mentioned and, of course, also in the best schools in all countries). But it will only reach the classrooms on a larger scale if the curriculum institutes and the inspectorates build much better interfaces with each other. This will need locally-and regionally-based projects which help improve clusters of schools and where the learning from these becomes embedded in local or regional agreements with the authorities and the support agencies.

I am convinced that the controversies about the usefulness of inspection as one of the newer instruments in new governance structures for schools and education systems (see Brockmann, 2007) that dominated so many discussions in the nineties and early 2000s are now over. We can now experiment with concerted actions in order to make the best use of all our capacity in trying to improve our schools further – for the sake of children and our future society.

I have left one important problem untouched. This is the problem that there are too many '*not so good as they could be*' teachers, and even bad teachers.²⁰ All inspectors know this, and often make comments like:

"If only this teacher did 'x' or 'y', the learning or the climate in the class could be much better."

"What a pity that he/she seems not to know that it could be done differently."

"What a pity that she does not read teaching journals or books about the methodology of her subject teaching."

I am convinced that another condition for improving the impact of inspections and for real improvement in schools and school systems is that the problem of *'bad'* or *'not good enough'* teachers is tackled.²¹

This means that the inspectorates have to change their standpoint that they do not give a judgement about individual teachers or heads. Emerging examples of possible new roles for inspectors are present in Ireland and Wales. But if the new systems of certification for teachers in the Netherlands and England, and new school-based strategies for self-evaluation and improved teacher development, do not develop more quickly and with sharper foci everywhere, improvement in schools will remain slow and unsatisfying. Fortunately, in countries like England and the Netherlands new systems of certification for teachers and also new school-based strategies for self-evaluation and improved teacher development are being developed and implemented, but, I think, too slowly. All teachers must really develop a professional attitude towards their own learning and development; otherwise, improvement in schools will remain slow and unsatisfying – and our society will not accept this for too much longer.

References

Alvik, T. (1996). *Self-Evaluation: What, Why, How, by Whom, for Whom*. Dundee: CIDREE.

Brockmann, H-W. (2007). 'Neue Steuerungsarchitektur in Niedersachsen'. In: Busemann, B., Oelkers, J. und Rosenbusch, H.S. (Eds) *Eigenverantwortliche Schule – ein Leitfaden; Konzepte, Wege, Akteure*. Köln: Link Luchterhand.

Buchen, H. and Rolff, H-G. (Eds) (2006). *Professionswissen Schulleitung*. Beltz: Weinheim.

Caplat G., Havelange, I., Huguet, Fr. and Lebedeff, B. (1986). *Les Inspecteurs généraux de l'Instruction publique*. Dictionnaire biographique 1802-1914. Paris : INRP/CNRS.

Consortium of Institutions for Development and Research in Education in Europe (CIDREE) (2008). *A Toolkit for the European Citizen: the Implementation of Key Competences. Challenges and Opportunities.* Brussels: CIDREE [online]. Available: http://www.cidree.be/uploads/documentenbank/52d4eddca5f913b bd6696e6f41a07fff.pdf [3 September, 2010].

Coolahan, J. and O'Donovan, P. (2009). *A History of Ireland's School Inspectorate* 1831-2008. Dublin: Four Courts Press.

Dodde, N. L. (2001). *Een speurtocht naar samenhang; het rijksschooltoezicht van 1801 tot 2001*. Utrecht: Inspectie van het Onderwijs.

Ehren, M.C.M. (2006). Toezicht en Schoolverbetering. Delft: Eburon.

Euryclice (2004). *Evaluation of Schools Providing Compulsory Education in Europe*. Brussels: Euryclice.

Fauser, P., Prenzel, M. and Schratz, M. (Eds) (2007). *Was für Schulen! Gute Schulen in Deutschland*. Stuttgart: Klett.

Fauser, P., Prenzel, M. and Schratz, M. (Eds) (2008). *Was für Schulen! Gute Schulen in Deutschland*. Stuttgart: Klett.

Fauser, P., Prenzel, M. and Schratz, M. (Eds) (2009). *Was für Schulen! Gute Schulen in Deutschland*. Stuttgart: Klett.

Fullan, M. (2001). *The New Meaning of Educational Change* (Third edn). London: Teachers College Press/RoutledgeFalmer.

Hargreaves, A. and Fink, D. (2005). *Sustainable Leadership*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Hargreaves, A. and Dennis S. (2008). 'The fourth way of change', *Educational Leadership*, **66**, 2, 56–61.

Hirsch, D. (2002). *School: a Choice of Direction* (CERI Working Paper: What Works in Innovation in Education). Paris: OECD [online]. Available: . http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/21/0/2755749.pdf [7 September, 2010].

Hoogenboom, B. (Ed.) (2006). *Beter leren, beter presteren* [Better Learning, Better Achievements]. Amersfoort: CPS.

Inspectie van het Onderwijs (2010). *De staat van het onderwijs. Onderwijsverslag* 2008/2009. Utrecht: Inspectie van het Onderwijs.

Janssens, F.J.H. and van Amelsvoort, G.H.W.C.H. (2008). 'School self-evaluations and school inspections in Europe: an exploratory study', *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, **34**, 1, 15–23.

Lawton, D. and Gordon, P. (2003). *Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Schools*. London: Taylor & Francis.

MacBeath, J. (1999). *Schools Must Speak for Themselves: the Case for School Self Evaluation*. London: Routledge.

MacBeath, J., Meuret, D., Schratz, M. and Jakobsen, L-B. (1999). *Evaluating Quality in School Education: a European Pilot Project*. Brussels: European Commission.

Matthews, P. (2009). *Twelve Outstanding Secondary Schools: Excelling Against the Odds*. London: Ofsted [online]. Available: http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/Ofsted-home/Publications-and-research/Browse-all-by/Documents-by-type/Thematic-reports/Twelve-outstanding-secondary-schools-Excelling-against-the-odds [8 September, 2010].

Page, M., Schagen, S., Fallus, K., Bron, J., De Coninck, C., Maes, B., Sleurs, W. and Van Woensel, C. (2005) *Cross-Curricular Themes: Report of a CIDREE Collaborative Project in Secondary Education*. Brussels: CIDREE [online]. Available: http://www.cidree.be/uploads/documentenbank/4854365076a88c8ba93cbebe0 4fd9196.pdf [7 September, 2010].

Rolff, H-G. (2007): Studien zu einer Theorie der Schulentwicklung. Weinheim: Beltz.

Scheerens, J., Glas, C. and Thomas, S. (2003). *Educational Evaluation, Assessment and Monitoring: a Systemic Approach*. Abingdon: Swets.

Schmale, W. und Dodde, N.L. (1991). *Revolution des Wissens? Europa und seine Schulen im Zeitalter der Aufklärung* (1750–1825). Bochum: Dr. Dieter Winkler.

Stern, C., Ebel, C,. Vaccaro, E. and Vordran, O. (Eds) (2006). *Bessere Qualität in allen Schulen: Praxisleitfaden zur Einführung des Selbstevaluationsinstruments SEIS in allen Schulen*. Gütersloh: Bertelsmann Stiftung.

Van Bruggen, J.C. (2001). *Inspection of Schools as an Engine for Sustainable Change*. London: The Standing International Conference of Inspectors.

Van Bruggen, J. C. (2007). 'Aktuelle Methoden der individuellen Leistungsfeststellung bei Lehrern' (Current Methods for the Assessment of the Quality of individual Teachers). In: Bertelsmann-Stiftung *Lehrer unter Druck* [Teachers under Pressure]. Gütersloh: Bertelsmann-Verlag.

Van Bruggen, J.C. (2010, forthcoming). *Inspectorates of Education in Europe: Some Comparative Remarks about their Tasks and Work*. London: The Standing International Conference of Inspectors, www.sici-inspectorates.org.

Van de Grift, W. (2009). *International Comparative Analysis of Learning and Teaching in Math Lessons in Several European Countries*. Utrecht: Netherlands Inspectorate of Education [online]. Available: http://www.onderwijsinspectie.nl/binaries/content/assets/Actueel_publicaties/2009/ICALT.pdf . [8 September, 2010].

Some specific literature about impact research on the inspection of schools

Ehren, M.C.M. (2006). Toezicht en Schoolverbetering. Delft: Eburon.

Matthews, P. and Sammons, P. (2004). *Improvement Through Inspection: an Evaluation of the Impact of Ofsted's Work* (HMI 2244). London: Ofsted.

National Audit Office (2006). *Department for Education and Skills: Improving Poorly Performing Schools in England* (HC 679). London: The Stationery Office [online]. Available: http://www.nao.org.uk/publications/0506/improving_poorly_ performing_sc.aspx [8 September, 2010].

Further reading

Chapman, C. (2002). 'Ofsted and school improvement: teachers' perceptions of the inspection process in schools facing challenging circumstances', *School Leadership and Management*, **22**, 3, 257–272.

De Wolff, I., Luginbuhl, R. and Webbink, D. (2009). 'Do inspections improve primary school performance?' *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, **31**, 3, 221–227.

Ehren, M.C.M. and Visscher, A. (2006). 'Towards a theory on the impact of School inspections', *British Journal of Educational Studies*, **54**, 1, 51–72.

Ehren, M.C.M. and Visscher, A. (2008). 'The relationships between school inspections, school characteristics and school improvement', *British Journal of Educational Studies*, **56**, 2, 205–227.

McCrone, T., Coghlan, M., Wade, P. and Rudd, P. (2009). *Evaluation of the Impact of Section 5 Inspections: Strand 3. Final Report for Ofsted*. Slough: NFER [online]. Available: http://www.nfer.ac.uk/publications/SFO01/ [8 September, 2010].

McNamara, G. and O'Hara, J. (2008). 'The importance of the concept of selfevaluation in the changing landscape of education policy', *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, **34**, 3, 173–179.

National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER) (2009). *New Inquiry into School Accountability: Submission to the Children, Schools and Families Select Committee*. Slough: NFER [online]. Available: http://www.nfer.ac.uk/publications/99905/ [8 September, 2010].

Perryman, J. (2007). 'Impact of inspections on teaching staff: inspection and emotion', *Cambridge Journal of Education*, **37**, 2, 173–190.

Plowright, D. (2007). 'Self-evaluation and Ofsted inspection: developing an integrative model of school improvement', *Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, **35**, 3, 373–393.

Sammons, P. (2008). 'Zero tolerance of failure and New Labour approaches to school improvement in England', *Oxford Review of Education*, **34**, 6, 651–664.

Notes

- 1 Several inspectorates in the 19th century did inspections of schools with some of the characteristics of what we call now 'full inspections'. See Dodde (2001); Coolahan and O Donovan (2009); Lawton and Gordon (2003) for examples from the Netherlands, Ireland and England.
- 2 Most inspectorates publish an annual report, sometimes once every three years. They have an analysis of the state of education in the nation.
- 3 There is a wealth of literature about self-evaluation and its value, including a Consortium of Institutions for Development and Research in Education in Europe (CIDREE) network programme with ten reports and a summarizing report (Alvik, 1996). See also the Effective School Self Evaluation (ESSE) project of SICI. See Janssens and van Amelsvoort (2008) and other sources mentioned there. See also the general literature, for example Macbeath (1999) MacBeath *et al.* (1999) and Buchen and Rolff (2006). See also Stern *et al.* (2006) about the successful German project SEIS (Selbstevaluation in Schulen).
- 4 Such an analysis is a lot of detailed work and is also hampered by the fact that it is true that most frameworks may be found on the inspectorates' websites, but mostly only in their mother tongues, with sometimes summaries in English. A second problem is that the three levels of statements about quality that can be distinguished have not always been elaborated completely in the published frameworks. For more explanation about the three levels I refer to the comparative analysis mentioned. Summarised, these levels are: domain statements – for example, about 'good learning outcomes'; indicators for such a domain – for example, about good results on examinations for a number of subjects or good competences acquired in problem solving; and the third level of practice descriptors – observable characteristics of the indicators – for example, 'the

mastery of problem-solving competences in solving social conflicts among children in grades 7 and 8 in this school is above what is seen in average in schools in comparable social and ethnic circumstances'.

- 5 In the mentioned comparative analysis I have described three examples (Rhineland-Palatine in Germany, Slovakia and Scotland) and could show some examples of differences at indicator level.
- 6 The PISA project and other international assessments have given us a lot of comparative facts but, of course, these projects have difficulties in isolating the factors that explain why some countries score better than others. See, for example, the ongoing discussion in Germany about the characteristics of the Finnish system and the Korean system compared with German schools: what are the secrets? Inspection of a sample of schools against a common framework (or eventually, to start with, a part of it) could reveal what is really going on in classrooms and among teachers who do or do not cooperate. A very promising beginning has been made in the SICI project ICALT (International Comparative Analysis of Learning and Teaching). See Van de Grift (2009) and the website of SICI for other publications.
- 7 It is a seduction to go deeper into the fascinating history of these formulations mostly stemming from the times of the Enlightenment and on the European continent often introduced in the first decades of the nineteenth century in the aftermath of the French Revolution and the Napoleonic era. One of the key elements was that more and more it was believed that education was also a right for poor children of farmers, labourers and miners. Much later it was also seen that this education at first only in reading and some arithmetic was important as a production factor in the capitalistic society. Inspectors, in these early days often church people or people from the lower nobility layers had to ensure that everywhere village schools were established by counts, church parishes or the local authorities and that school masters were hired. See the stories about the Irish, Dutch and English inspectorates of Coolahan and O' Donovan (2009); Dodde (2001); Lawton and Gordon (2003) and the more general study, Schmale and Dodde (1991). Some of the interviews of Caplat *et al.* (1986) show similar issues about the history of the French Inspectorate.
- 8 This expectation has often been confirmed in research about how teachers and heads see the report of the inspectors. Although in most of this research, it was reported that teachers often said that they knew about the problems, there was an attitude in the school not to talk about these and to continue with the everyday business. School leaders, who were more aware about problems, often welcomed the mirror of the inspectors because the report helped them in their actions to break open the culture of 'continuing as if there are no problems'. Many inspectorates undertook research into perceptions about inspection reports and also made this type of conclusion; see, for example, Matthews and Sammons (2004) in the specific list of literature about impact research.
- 9 I mention the names of only a few important authors who are well known: Fullan (2001); Hargreaves and Fink (2005); Hargreaves and Dennis (2008); Rolff (2007); Buchen and Rolff (2006). Earlier work from the eighties, but still very good, includes publications from the OECD's ISIP project (International School Improvement Project), the RAND studies and the work of Goodlad in the USA in the eighties.
- 10 It is not possible for me to give specific references for this issue, but my statement can be based on many inspection reports about schools and on consultations in SICI workshops, for example, about 'follow-up on inspections' and many informal interviews.
- 11 All these reports are only in German. They contain short descriptions of the 20 finalist schools each year that were inspected by small teams, with two members of the jury and one or two assisting experts and staff; members of the Bosch–Stiftung. They also contain longer biographies of the five prize-winning schools and an analysis of the characteristics of these best schools in terms of the six quality domains that we use in the inspections and judgement: What is learned in the school? How

is the school coping with the variation in pupils and their needs? How is the school educating 'taking responsibility'? How good is the learning and teaching? How good is the climate or ethos? How good is the development of the school and its leadership in serving that development? The reports also contain information from the bid dossiers of the 300 or so schools who present themselves at the start of the process. These contain a wealth of details about the history of innovation and improvement in schools. I do hope that researchers can discover this rich source of knowledge and experience of how schools have found their way to excellence. But, of course, there are also other sources, which yield similar knowledge. Ofsted, for example, published a fine report about twelve outstanding schools in difficult circumstances in 2009 (Matthews, 2009).

- 12 In most German Länder, school inspections started only in 2006 or later, but some of the schools have already been inspected.
- 13 In 2000, I gave a paper with the title, 'Inspection as an engine for school improvement' at a CIDREE-SLO conference in Enschede, the Netherlands (van Bruggen, 2001).
- 14 This movement to give more autonomy to schools and on self-evaluation is well known and visible in almost all Western countries.
- 15 This was on a voluntary basis because of the strong position of the denominational school boards in the Netherlands. Now a new law on governance of schools has been passed which enables the government and the inspectorate to take this type of tougher measures in a so-called 'intervention ladder'.
- 16 One of the most difficult coordinating tasks in schools in particular in secondary schools with their system of subject teachers working with the same group of students in one grade is the coordination of the progress in subject learning with the teaching of more general skills. This requires the intertwining, for example, of learning sequences in the formation of mathematical skills and concepts with such key skills as cooperation, planning and self-reflection. This is a difficult curriculum problem that has received much attention in professional curriculum institutes and has been the subject of two CIDREE programmes (Page *et al.*, 2005; CIDREE, 2008) Experience shows, however, that it is very complicated for such coordinated and integrative teaching to become part of the daily practice of all teachers involved in a school. Even in the already-mentioned 15 best German schools, I have seen very few schools that were keen on this difficult but important issue and were successful in realising connected learning sequences.
- 17 In the Netherlands, the Parliament did not want to accept this consequence and forced the minister to make sure that all schools are seen once in four years. For details, see the profile of the Dutch Inspectorate of Education.
- 18 Some inspectorates can only contract real experts for a few weeks per year or so. See Scotland, England, Wales and Hesse, and also the Netherlands that no longer does it but legally has the responsibility.
- 19 See the remark about the after-inspection meeting in Rhineland-Palatinate and the Dutch example of the six very weak schools.
- 20 There is more about this difficult and very sensitive issue in relation to inspections in van Bruggen (2007).
- 21 That does not mean that I propose the type of messages of Chris Woodhead, Chief Inspector in England in the nineties, who wrote and talked about 15,000 teachers who were bad and should be sacked. That type of message does not bring much cooperation or sense of shared responsibility.

6 Teachers in charge? Internal school assessment and evaluation in Europe

Alejandro Tiana Ferrer



Dr. Alejandro Tiana Ferrer was the Director of the Centre for Educational Research and Evaluation (CIDE) in Madrid, which has been a member of CIDREE since 1990. He was president of CIDREE between 1992 and 1994. He is a professor at the Faculty of Education of the National Distance Teaching University (UNED) in Madrid, and is currently Director-General of the Centre for

Advanced Studies of the Ibero-American Organization for Education, Science and Culture (OEI). His main fields of teaching and research include history of contemporary education systems, educational policy and administration, evaluation of education systems and institutions, comparative education, and international cooperation in the fields of education and training. He is the author or co-author of 18 books and more than 100 chapters and articles in these fields.

Dr. Tiana served as Secretary General of Education for the Ministry of Education and Science of Spain from 2004–2008. From 1999–2003, he was Vice-Rector for Innovation and Evaluation at UNED. From 1989–96, he occupied two senior roles at the Spanish Ministry of Education and Science, first as Director of the Centre for Research, Documentation and Evaluation and then as Director of the National Institute for Quality and Evaluation.

Dr. Tiana served for a six-year term (1999–2004) as Chair of the International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA) and was President in 1997 of the Governing Board of the Centre for Educational Research and Innovation (CERI-OECD). He has been active as a Consultant to the International Bureau of Education (UNESCO), the Inter-American Development Bank, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, and some other national and international agencies and organisations.

Email: atiana@edu.uned.es

Teachers in charge? Internal school assessment and evaluation in Europe

Alejandro Tiana Ferrer

Abstract

Improving the quality of education is an issue of growing concern in all European countries. Over the last 30 years, the demands on schools have increased substantially. This concern has been translated into at least two complementary ways of action. Firstly, education systems have been transformed in order to be able to get better results from the existing resources. Decentralisation and increasing school autonomy are good examples of this trend, which can be easily perceived worldwide. Secondly, schools have been asked or pushed to revise their organisation and management in order to improve teaching practices and students' learning.

School evaluation is commonly considered to be one of the forces driving this process of improvement. If schools have to make progress, they need to reflect on their strengths and weaknesses, and to account for their outcomes. In other words, they need to become learning organisations.

Consequently, school evaluation has been prioritised and developed over the last 30 years following two main directions. On the one hand, a number of programmes for internal and self-evaluation have been developed in several European countries. On the other hand, external evaluation has been given a prominent role in this new process of accountability.

What has been the role of internal evaluation and what has been its impact? This article tries to answer these questions, exploring the promises and the reality of internal evaluation, on the basis of the experiences developed in Europe over the last three decades. It is organised into four sections, each one addressing a specific aspect of the subject. It starts by analysing the pressure put on schools to become accountable, follows by making the case for internal school evaluation, then moves towards recent European experience, and ends by identifying some innovative approaches to school evaluation. The headings of the four sections have been borrowed from the titles of outstanding publications or pieces of research in this field, even though sections are not limited to the topics or arguments of the corresponding work.

Schools under scrutiny

In the first half of the nineties, the Organistion for Economic Co-operation and Development's (OECD) Centre for Educational Research and Innovation (CERI) developed a project aimed at exploring and analysing the ways in which school inspection and evaluation were carried out in seven member countries: England, France, Germany, New Zealand, Spain, Sweden and the USA. The conclusion of the study was straightforward: schools were considered as key actors and central places for improving education and, consequently, they should be subject to public scrutiny. Two of the key messages emerging from the research, are of great interest in the context of this paper: objective external assessment and 'friendly' advice from professionals or peers, who know a school well; and the ultimate aim should be to build an unthreatening, but demanding, climate of self-review in schools, so that they become '*learning organisations*' capable of continuous improvement (CERI, 1995).

There are two significant factors underlying this demand for public scrutiny: the outstanding importance attributed to students' outcomes when assessing the quality of education and the wide acceptance of the differential effect of schools on students' outcomes. Indeed, schools exert an educational influence on their students which goes beyond what might strictly be expected on the basis of their sociological characteristics. If students' social background was the only variable determining performance, we would not expect to see major differences between schools serving the same population sector. And yet the data confirms that there are marked differences in performance from one school to another.

It is precisely this last observation which has grounded the emphasis on what is known as the 'school effect', a phenomenon which recognises that some styles of institutional organisation and teaching practice may produce better academic results than others. Whether it be on a theoretical and research level, thanks to contributions from the 'school effectiveness' movement, or in initiatives such as 'school improvement' practices or 'accelerated schools', many authors have insisted on the significance of this 'school effect' and have helped single out some of the variables which explain it (Scheerens, 1992; Sammons *et al.*, 1995; Scheerens and Bosker, 1997).

This emphasis on the differing contribution which schools can make to their students' performance has combined with other current phenomena to place the spotlight increasingly on the internal dynamics of schools themselves. Among these factors is the pressure that the current social demand for information and accountability in the public sector is exerting on the education system – one of the most obvious consequences of which is a call for greater transparency. Moreover, the central role played by schools in any plan aimed at improving education should be underlined. From this point of view, the notion of a school

as a learning organisation has once again come to the fore and has been the subject of much interesting analysis (Fullan, 1993).

A number of different factors have, therefore, caused educational researchers, politicians and administrators to focus their attention on schools. Whereas for many years, schools were perceived as no more than the last link in the educational production chain, today they occupy a privileged place in the teaching and learning process and in the strategies aimed at educational change. One of the most visible and interesting consequences of their becoming the focus of so much attention is precisely the setting up of many different initiatives designed to evaluate them. From being an extravagance promoted by researchers and educationalists, school-based evaluation has now become one of the key components in modern-day education policy, especially where the development of strategies aimed at improving education is concerned.

School evaluation can be addressed from inside or outside the school itself. In the first case, we speak of internal evaluation, whereas in the second we should talk of external evaluation. In a more precise way, Scheerens has distinguished four main actors in any evaluation: contractors or promoters, evaluators, data providers, and clients or users. One can speak of internal evaluation when all these actors are placed within the institution. When only users or evaluators come from outside the institution, evaluation can also be considered as internal (Scheerens, 2002).

As remarked in the CERI study (CERI, 2005), internal and external evaluation should not necessarily be seen as opposite activities, as they have a number of connections and convergences. Nevo has repeatedly argued in favour of a dialogue between the two of them. He considers that internal evaluation can benefit from external evaluation in two ways: stimulating internal evaluation and expanding its scope. On the other hand, external evaluation can benefit from internal evaluation in three ways: by expanding the scope of external evaluation, improving the interpretation of findings, and increasing evaluation utilisation. This dialogue is even more advisable as "everybody seems to hate external evaluation while nobody trusts internal evaluation" (Nevo, 2002b, p. 14).

In the nineties, CIDREE developed a very interesting collaborative project on school self-evaluation. It resulted in a comprehensive, theoretical volume (Alvik, 1996), several case studies – from Austria, Norway, Germany, England, Belgium and Switzerland – and a methodological publication (Schratz, 1997). In the volume best describing the project, Trond Alvik distinguished three different kinds of possible connections between internal and external evaluations: parallel, sequential (normally the school conducts its own evaluation and then the external body uses this as a basis for its review) and cooperative (Alvik, 1996). Analysing the current situation of school evaluation in Europe, and explicitly quoting the CIDREE project, MacBeath (1999) concluded: *"The school improvement*"

evidence suggests that, as a school system matures, it moves in a progressive line from external inspection, through parallel evaluation, to sequential and co-operative models" (p. 96).

Schools must speak for themselves

From the previous analysis, we may conclude that current education policies tend to grant schools a major role in the process of improving education quality. And to realise this goal, schools need to act autonomously and responsibly. Adopting a term which has come into widespread use in management theory, we could say that schools have to become *'learning organisations'*. It is expected that critical reflection on its own organisation and performance by a school is integrated into day-to-day school life, rather than considered as an occasional audit or preparation for an external visit by inspectors. It is in such integration of self-evaluation into everyday school activities where the greatest strength and most powerful justification for evaluation lie.

This is the key argument for making the case for internal school evaluation. In fact, as MacBeath argued, the primary goal of school evaluation should be to help schools to maintain and improve through critical self-evaluation. Inspection visits and external evaluations usually fail to touch the real day-to-day experiences of students and teachers. Even the solution of complex problems like bullying or the observation of the most crucial indicator of school quality (that is, how pupils learn) tends to elude the external view (MacBeath, 1999). As a consequence, school members should be actively involved in all processes of institutional review and evaluation.

As mentioned above, researchers have tried to find the outstanding factors underlying school effectiveness. But, even though systematic efforts have been made to identify such factors, they cannot provide schools with a clear agenda for action. MacBeath argued: "*Sammons et al.'s eleven factors are likely to provide a fairly robust set of benchmarks for an effective school but they cannot tell the whole story*" (MacBeath, 1999, p. 11, citing Sammons *et al.*, 1995). And the use of the singular term 'school' can also mislead, as there is not a single model of an effective school "*as if it were some kind of homogeneous entity*" (MacBeath, 1999, p. 11). Rather, there are very different effective schools – in plural. And even within a single '*effective*' school there are lights and shadows, both excellent and poor practices. This complex reality obliges researchers and school managers to be cautious when designing evaluation tools and improvement plans for schools.

Part of the case for self-evaluation is the concept of the school as the basic unit of change, and '*change*' considered as the activity of a professional community (Fullan, 1993). Internal or self-evaluation is based on the assumption that development and change come from within institutions. Teachers should then

take an active part in any exercise of internal evaluation, as well as parents and even students. It does not imply the need to adopt a simple approach, as organisational learning is the result of a process characterised by conflict, dilemma and ambiguity. But in the end: "*The essence of a successful organisation in this post-modern world is the search for improvement, and effective self-evaluation is the key for it*" (Barber, 1997, p. 137). The assumption underlying this principle is that feedback is critical to organisational development and improvement. As MacBeath *et al.* argued, it should be considered as "*an essential and integral element of good teaching, meaningful learning, effective leadership and evidence-based management*" (MacBeath *et al.*, 2000, p. 94).

These considerations led MacBeath to state that "*in healthy systems there is sharing and networking of good practice within and among schools on a collegial basis*" (MacBeath, 1999, p. 1). And we may agree with him that this approach is deeply embedded into the dynamics of change.

Simons argued that it is not only a question of health, but also of democracy: *"That evaluation of schools is needed in a democratic society is not in question. What is in question is the kind of evaluation that is needed for what purpose"* (Simons, 2002, p. 18). In her view, student achievement testing does not do justice to the complex processes of learning and teaching that go on in schools. Even if the contrary is often argued, practices such as the publication of performance tables are not a democratic exercise, because they do not provide citizens with complete and balanced information about schools. They are usually one-dimensional views and limited only to a certain type of school outcome. So, arguments about lack of fairness arise.

Simons presented four premises underlying the case for self-evaluation, based on her concept of a democratic evaluation (Simons, 1987). The aim was to find an appropriate balance between the public's right to know and an individual's right to privacy in the conduct and dissemination of an evaluation. Simons (2002) drew a number of conclusions.

- Teachers are in the best position to evaluate curriculum and learning changes at the point of need, responding to students they know well and whose progress they are continuously assessing.
- The quality of education can best be improved by supporting and strengthening the collective professional development of teachers, schools and school districts.
- Professional development is best achieved through the creation of a collaborative working culture in which teachers, schools and school districts can safely, critically and publicly evaluate their work and the conditions in which they work.

• Schools and districts which implement such a process of on going monitoring and self-evaluation of their policies and practices, and open this to public scrutiny, demonstrate their accountability to students, parents, the profession and the wider public.

As a consequence, Simons (2002, p. 23) defined school self-evaluation as:

"A process of conceiving, collecting and communicating information and evidence for three distinct purposes: informing decision making within the school, i.e. to facilitate a process of school development; ascribing value to a policy within the school or to the school itself; establishing public confidence in the school."

Self-evaluation in European schools

School evaluation has been developed in Europe in the last two decades. The 1995 CERI publication studied five European countries: England, France, Germany, Spain and Sweden. All these countries reported both external and internal evaluation as complementary exercises. Nevo (2002a) collected additional information about experiences in Norway, England, the Netherlands, Austria, Spain, Scotland and Germany, making explicit the existing connections between the two approaches. Perhaps one striking point is the limited development of internal evaluation in the USA compared to Europe. Scheerens (2002, p. 39) stated that, "school self-evaluation does not to appear to be an issue in school restructuring in the USA".

One interesting national case is that of the UK. MacBeath, in 1995, developed an interesting project of school self-evaluation in England and Wales, commissioned by the National Union of Teachers (NUT). It aimed to design a school-friendly but robust approach to self-evaluation. It was based on the experience developed previously in Scotland, in which MacBeath played a central role (MacBeath, 1999).

Scotland was, in fact, one of the first countries in Europe to introduce systematic school self-evaluation. In 1992, the Scottish Office Education Department decided to make public the framework and the criteria to be used for school evaluation and to ask teachers, parents and students to reflect on the quality of their schools, so exploring their expectations. It gave the schools the instruments for conducting a full institutional audit. The exercise proved positive and fostered a movement towards self-evaluation which developed in the nineties.

The afore-mentioned English research team decided not just to apply an existing self-evaluation model, even if some proposals were available and offered interesting possibilities. Its main objective was to learn from the experiences of schools: to explore the way in which teachers, parents, students and other school

community members could participate in the process and so build their own framework for evaluation adapted to real contexts and circumstances.

To develop such a model, the research team worked with ten schools from different levels, locations and contexts. Working with them allowed the team to explore the main dimensions of school life and actively consider the criteria for identifying a good school. Ten clusters were identified:

- 1. school climate
- 2. relationships
- 3. organisation and communication
- 4. time and resources
- 5. recognition of achievement
- 6. equity
- 7. home-school links
- 8. support for teaching
- 9. classroom climate

10. support for learning.

Five specific indicators were developed in each cluster, producing a set of 50 indicators covering the most outstanding features of a school. For each of them, qualitative and quantitative evidence was identified, as well as the most appropriate methods and instruments to gather and elaborate information.

The report, *Schools Speak for Themselves: Towards a Framework for Self Evaluation* (MacBeath *et al.*, 1996), collected and discussed the results of the research, and was publicly presented by the NUT in January 1996. It presented a framework for self-evaluation which could be used by schools and education authorities for quality assurance and school improvement. The framework included four key elements: an overarching philosophy, procedural guidelines, a set of criteria or indicators, and a tool kit.

The report provoked an interesting political and educational debate and received many expressions of interest, mostly from local education authorities. Even if the Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) approach to school evaluation was not exactly the same as that in the research exercise, the NUT initiative fostered debate about and reflection on the possibilities of self-evaluation for institutional improvement.

But proposals, essays and debates were not restricted, at this time, to the UK and the other countries already mentioned. In fact, shortly after this the European Commission decided to finance a project oriented at promoting self-evaluation of schools in European countries. It took the form of a Socrates project, with the title *Evaluating Quality in School Evaluation* (MacBeath *et al.*, 2000).

The project involved a total of 101 schools from 18 countries, heterogeneity being their main feature. They differed in structure, educational level, prior experience in self-evaluation, composition of the student body and institutional culture. But all of them agreed voluntarily to join the project. This combination of diversity and common will was one of the most interesting characteristics and the main strength of the initiative.

The project had three key operational features: a common self-evaluation profile; a set of guidelines and a repertoire of evaluation tools; and the support of a *'critical friend'*. The self-evaluation profile consisted of 12 key areas of school life grouped into four domains.

- a) Outcomes: academic achievement; personal and social development; and student destinations.
- b) Process at classroom level: time as a resource for learning; quality of learning and teaching; and support for learning difficulties.
- c) Process at a school level: school as a learning place; school as a social place; and school as a professional place.
- d) Environment: school and home; school and community; and school and work.

One of the most valued aspects of the project was the support offered by what was called the *'critical friend'*. The four main stakeholders participating in the self-evaluation were teachers, students, parents and members of the board. But they did work with an external support, a person appointed to or selected by the school. That person had the mandate of being a friend and critic of the school and supporting the school in its review exercise. Critical friends played a key role in helping schools to create a good scene for self-evaluation, select the appropriate data and tools, and interpret findings. Critical friends proved to be one of the most appreciated aspects of the project and contributed to its success (MacBeath *et al.*, 2000).

Innovative approaches in school evaluation

These developments are just a sign of the ongoing changes produced in the field of school evaluation. As seen before, a significant number of European countries have implemented plans and programmes for school evaluation, some of them combining both external and internal approaches. Modalities of such combinations did vary from one country to another, but in general terms there was an explicit interest in sequential models. As a result of these developments, the field of school evaluation has enlarged and incorporated new perspectives. Some schools became subject to external inspection visits, others initiated their own internal revision and many conducted both processes, more or less in parallel or sequential. In these circumstances, questions arose about the development of school evaluation and its future prospects. Many voices raised questions about what future trends could be envisaged and what kind of innovations introduced.

Between 1997 and 1999, a group of European researchers, composed of John MacBeath, Francesc Pedró, Jaap Scheerens and Sally Thomas, under the coordination of Alejandro Tiana, developed a Socrates project aimed at identifying and analysing innovative approaches in school evaluation in Europe (Tiana Ferrer, 1999). The project focused on four main dimensions of school evaluation: political and organisational, theoretical, methodological, and economic and material.

The project combined theoretical and methodological analyses with six detailed case studies selected for their innovative nature. Its final chapter presented the outstanding trends detected in answer to the main changes produced in the field of school evaluation at the end of the nineties.

The main trends identified were classified in four categories.

Political and organisational dimension

School evaluation is not neutral: it is right at the heart of current education policy in many European states. It is, therefore, not merely a technical exercise, but a complex reality with important political implications.

i) A boost for school evaluation from educational authorities

The first obvious tendency in school evaluation is the expansion of its use in recent years. An increasing number of countries have implemented systematic evaluation plans in their schools, even though the scope and objectives of these initiatives are very diverse. What these processes in different countries have in common is that they are largely the result of the explicit desire of education authorities to promote this practice, in keeping with a new style of education policy-making.

The evaluation plans which have emerged as a result of this new interest have adopted different forms and purposes. In some cases, the emphasis is on internal evaluation whilst, in others, external evaluation is the main priority. In some places, the chief aim of school evaluation is accountability, whereas in others it is organisational improvement and development. There are even cases where these different forms and aims are combined in diverse ways.
ii) Perception of evaluation as an opportunity for institutional improvement

The tendency analysed above is not a completely new one. Its novelty lies in the growing number of schools which have adopted a positive and constructive attitude towards this authority-imposed requirement, either precisely because they are finding themselves compelled to do so, or simply because they have become more enthusiastic about embarking on evaluation processes.

However, this positive attitude towards (self-) evaluation is clearly not a unanimous one. Evaluation is often perceived as a threat to school life, especially in those countries where schools enjoy considerable autonomy. Yet, while such reluctance does exist, there are also many schools which consider evaluation to be a powerful instrument for organisational learning and improvement.

If self-evaluation has to be seen as a contribution to improvement and schools have to be engaged in evaluation, it implies the revision of initial teacher training and ongoing professional development. Basic training on educational evaluation and research is necessary for all teachers and, consequently, should be incorporated into current teacher-training programmes (Eames *et al.*, 2006).

iii) Emphasis on the participatory nature of the evaluation

The importance attached to evaluation as a means of school improvement has resulted in attempts to ensure that it is a participatory exercise. If the school considers evaluation an opportunity for organisational improvement, it is only natural that it will encourage all of its members to take part in the process. This principle of action particularly comes into play when the school embarks on a process of self-evaluation. Put another way, self-evaluation makes no sense unless it is participatory, an approach which has become a matter of principle for many school evaluation programmes.

iv) Networking as an approach to school self-evaluation, combining external and internal approaches

One of the most interesting trends identified in the field of school evaluation is the combination of external and internal perspectives. Indeed, this is perhaps one of the greatest new developments in school evaluation. The connection between both approaches is seen as a relevant feature nowadays (MacBeath, 2006).

To date, the most usual type of external school evaluation is that in which the initiators and users of the evaluation are at least partially external to the school in question. The least common format is that in which the school itself acts as both initiator and user of its own evaluation, but where the process is actually carried out by an external team. Internal evaluation, on the other hand, consists of a format we could describe as self-evaluation in the strictest sense.

Currently, the main tendency in this field is the clear dissociation between these two types of external evaluation, with the second (where the initiator and recipients are internal, but the evaluators external) being nurtured to an everincreasing extent. Although this latter format could be considered an external evaluation in formal terms, it nevertheless diverges greatly from the former. The fact that it is the school itself which promotes and initiates its evaluation process and which receives the information obtained, gives it a sense of ownership of the process. This often encourages a totally different attitude from that resulting from external evaluation. In fact, it is a format which comes very close to selfevaluation.

One of the major advances is the emphasis placed on networking in the development of school self-evaluation. Networking enables schools to open up the analysis and interpretation of their data to the outside world, without renouncing either their confidentiality or the full ownership of the process in which they are taking part. From a political point of view, networking enables 'top down to meet bottom up'.

Theoretical dimension

The second area of innovation in school (self-) evaluation involves the theoretical ideas underlying specific projects, the dimensions selected to study the everyday reality of school life and the analytical models developed to perform this task.

i) Use of students' results as a quality indicator

Recent years have witnessed major changes in the concept of school evaluation, with regard to the importance attached to students' results as an education quality indicator. Whereas the early models focused first and foremost on the analysis of internal processes, more recent examples emphasise the use of results as a key quality indicator.

However, students' results are not only being considered an important quality indicator; their improvement is also becoming one of the ultimate objectives of an evaluation. In addition to the discussion as to which results should be borne in mind in a school evaluation, the issue of how this data should be dealt with is also the subject of debate. As a consequence, the 'value-added' concept is gaining ground (Thomas *et al.*, 2000).

ii) Opening up to new analytical dimensions and new indicators

Although outcome indicators occupy an important place in current models of school evaluation, this does not mean they are the only ones in use. Both the initiators of the different projects of school evaluation and the schools involved in them are aware that evaluation requires the analysis of a variety of different

dimensions. If they are to be able to adopt plans for improvement, schools need to gain a comprehensive and balanced view of their real situation. They therefore need to be more receptive to new analytical dimensions and to construct new quality indicators.

Indeed, most of the school evaluation models used at present try to adopt a respectful approach to the complexity of school life and aim to integrate the diversity of its different dimensions. Diverse indicators are, therefore, constructed for this purpose, some of which are undoubtedly innovative.

Methodological dimension

In recent years, major innovations have also been taking place in the methodological domain. On the one hand, there has been considerable development in new quantitative and qualitative methods. On the other hand, these different methods are increasingly being put to combined use in many school evaluation projects. Furthermore, their application is opening the way for new evaluation opportunities which, until only a few years ago, were no more than good intentions.

i) Pragmatism in combining quantitative and qualitative methods

Whereas in the sixties and seventies, there were frequent and heated debates between the advocates of qualitative or quantitative methods of evaluation, such disputes have been less strident in recent years. What is new is that evaluators and evaluation initiators have adopted a more pragmatic and eclectic attitude towards the use of one method or the other.

Hence, quantitative and qualitative methods are not considered mutually exclusive. The decision as to whether to use one or the other is taken according to the purpose of the evaluation in question, the specific object to be evaluated, the resources available, and familiarity with one technique or another. Even in cases where one of the two paradigms clearly predominates, it is not unusual to find both methods combined in evaluative practice.

ii) Development of new methods for fair comparison

Evaluation frequently resorts to comparison as a means of analysis, and school evaluation is no exception. Indeed, evaluation usually entails a comparative operation, which can take place in three different forms: comparison with an ideal model or criterion; comparison with other similar situations; and comparison with oneself over time. The recently introduced practice of benchmarking between schools across Europe also implies a comparative operation.

In the last few years, there has been a tendency to use comparison of the results attained by schools as a fundamental element in their evaluation. Although this

approach is steadily gaining ground, it nevertheless continues to be the subject of considerable debate.

Economic and material dimension

The early models of school evaluation were often initiated by researchers who were interested in gaining an in-depth knowledge of the reality of school life and were anxious to cover the full range of internal variables. As a result, some of the models were extremely demanding on resources, time-consuming, or both. Once education authorities began to show an interest in turning school evaluation into a more widespread practice, concern for less costly models that would be simpler to implement became a priority.

i) Development of feasible, low-cost models

The recent expansion in school evaluation has led to the emergence of a growing concern for feasible, low-cost models. Evaluation is a costly process which demands time, resources and training. Not all schools are in a position to undertake self-evaluation processes of their own accord. This is why, in recent years, special attention has been focused on developing feasible school (self-) evaluation models.

As a consequence, simplified evaluation models have been devised which sometimes sacrifice sophistication and complexity in favour of affordability and applicability. This requires a clear awareness of their limitations. But once the limitations of such models have been taken into account, it must be acknowledged that they offer great potential, since they can facilitate straightforward, large-scale implementation. Other significant changes in this field have been the development of a range of different models based on economy of scale in order to cut the costs of individual implementation and the development of standardised evaluation, which allows multiple implementation at low cost.

Recent projects developed in this field have demonstrated that this kind of lowcost, school-based programme of self-evaluation can make a significant contribution to a school's improvement. Among the recent experiences in Europe, the Research-Engaged Schools project, promoted by the National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER) in cooperation with school and local authority partners and external advisors, should be highlighted (Sharp *et al.*, 2005). The project identified factors contributing to becoming a researchengaged school: school leaders valuing research and creating a culture within the school to encourage it, a commitment to reflect on practice, a willingness to form research partnerships, both within and outside schools, and having research at the heart of school policy. The trends identified would appear to mark out the path that school evaluation is set to follow in the coming years. But we cannot rule out changes that may open up other routes, which we cannot as yet even imagine. We must not forget that we are dealing with a very dynamic reality and one that is subject to public scrutiny. School evaluation is a powerful incentive to institutional change and, at the same time, a support to facilitate this process. It is also a form of imposing accountability which is making its mark on other fields of human activity and a mechanism which provides the leverage that will help schools improve and develop into learning organisations. For all these reasons, it is worth following its foreseeable development carefully and closely in the years to come.

References

Alvik, T. (1996). *Self-Evaluation: What, Why, How, by Whom, for Whom.* Dundee: CIDREE.

Barber, M. (1997). *The Learning Game: Arguments for an Education Revolution*. London: Indigo.

Centre for Educational Research and Innovation (1995). *Schools under Scrutiny*. Paris: OECD.

Eames, A., Sharp, C., Sanders, D. and Tomlinson, K. (2006). *Using Research in your School and your Teaching: Research-engaged Professional Practice* (Teachers' Professional Learning Framework No. 6). London: General Teaching Council for England.

Fullan, M. (1993). *Change Forces. Probing the Depths of Educational Reform.* London: Falmer Press.

MacBeath, J. (1999). Schools Must Speak for Themselves: the Case for School Self-Evaluation. London: Routledge.

MacBeath, J. (2006). *School Inspection and Self-evaluation: Working with the New Relationship*. London: Routledge.

MacBeath, J., Boyd, B., Rand, J. and Bell, S. (1996). *Schools Speak for Themselves*. *Towards a Framework for Self-Evaluation*. London: National Union of Teachers.

MacBeath, J., Schratz, M., Meuret, D. and Jakobsen, L. (2000). *Self-Evaluation in European Schools: a Story of Change*. London: Routledge Falmer Press.

Nevo, D. (Ed.) (2002a). *School-Based Evaluation: an International Perspective.* (Advances in Program Evaluation Volume 8). Stamford, CT: JAI Press.

Nevo, D. (2002b). 'Dialogue evaluation: combining internal and external evaluation'. In: Nevo, D. (Ed.) *School-Based Evaluation: an International Perspective*. (Advances in Program Evaluation Volume 8) Stamford, CT: JAI Press.

Sammons, P., Hillman, J. and Mortimore, P. (1995). *Key Characteristics of Effective Schools: a Review of School Effectiveness Research*. London: Ofsted.

Scheerens, J. (1992). *Effective Schooling: Research, Theory and Practice*. London: Cassell.

Scheerens, J. (2002). 'School self-evaluation: origins, definition, approaches, methods and implementation'. In: Nevo, D. (Ed.) *School-Based Evaluation: an International Perspective*. (Advances in Program Evaluation Volume 8). Stamford, CT: JAI Press.

Scheerens, J. and Bosker, R. (1997). *The Foundations of Educational Effectiveness*. London: Pergamon.

Schratz, M. (1997). *Initiating Change through Self-Evaluation: Methodological Implications for School Development*. Dundee: CIDREE.

Sharp, C., Eames, A., Sanders, D. and Tomlinson, K. (2005). *Postcards from Research-Engaged Schools*. Slough: NFER.

Simons, H. (1987). *Getting to Know School in a Democracy: the Politics and Process of Evaluation*. Lewes: Falmer Press.

Simons, H. (2002). 'School Self-Evaluation in a Democracy.' In: Nevo, D. (Ed.) *School-Based Evaluation: an International Perspective*. (Advances in Program Evaluation Volume 8). Stamford, CT: JAI Press.

Thomas, S.M., Smees, R. and Elliot, K. (2000). 'Value added feedback for the purpose of school self-evaluation'. In: Askew, S. (Ed.) *Feedback for Learning*. London: Routledge Falmer.

Tiana Ferrer, A. (1999). *Innovative Approaches in School Evaluation* (INAP) (unpublished report).

The use of external assessments and the impact on education systems

Olivier Rey



Olivier Rey has been a research analyst at Institute National de Recherche Pédagogique (INRP) since 2003, where he leads the Veille Scientifique, a department which runs as an observatory on educational research, doing literature reviews and thematic short reports on current topics in education. He is in charge of mapping in NESSE, a network of scholars

working on social aspects of education and training, launched in 2007 after a call for tenders by the European Commission. He is also involved in European Educational Research Quality Indicators (EERQI), a research project in the 7th Framework Programme for Research in the Socio-economic Sciences and Humanities Theme (SSH). (http://www.inrp.fr/vst/LettreVST/SommaireLettre.htm).

His main fields of expertise are educational policy, quality of educational research, evaluation and assessment, curriculum and higher education. Olivier Rey is also a teacher of higher education policy at Sciences Po, Paris and has worked as an external expert for the agency in charge of the evaluation of higher education and research (AERES, previously CNE). Before joining INRP, he was at the agency for mutualisation for French universities between 2000 and 2003, and was previously a Cabinet member of a French Minister in charge of education, Claude Allégre.

Email: olivier.rey@inrp.fr

The use of external assessments and the impact on education systems

Olivier Rey

Abstract

The development of assessing education systems through the performance of their students is a major phenomenon in recent years. At a national level, several European countries, that have not yet established such assessments, have developed standardised assessments to improve the measure of student performance and used these to infer the quality of schools and teachers. At an international level, The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA)¹ and Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) results have become an essential tool for comparing education systems. Their results have launched significant reform movements in some European countries.

In the frame of New Public Management, this development marks a shift from steering by inputs to steering by outputs. It also responds to a widespread concern to monitor and improve the quality of educational services in Europe, in line with the Lisbon 2010 objectives.

While these external assessments are increasingly at the core of education policies, educational research has tackled questions about their usefulness, limitations and risks. Indeed, output assessments offer a set of information to establish a diagnosis of educational systems, identifying their strengths and weaknesses. Many debates, however, have stressed that the information may be incomplete, reflect only a part of learning, suppress socio-cultural diversity and suffer from some methodological bias. Finally, if output assessments become education's targets, or if they are used to legitimise reforms adopted for other reasons, the data gradually loses its informational value.

Allowing researchers to construct and analyse assessment data, according to scientific rules, therefore, is a current challenge in order to ensure their effectiveness in improving educational practices and policies.

Introduction

Continuous (formative) assessment is the traditional form of assessment used in compulsory education. It remains the most common form of assessment method used by teachers and involves assessing in-class activities using tests, observations, homework and oral questioning.

Continuous assessment is sometimes combined with summative assessment to assess the extent and quality of learning at a given point, often for the purposes of assessing student performance before a transition to the next key stage. It may take the form of a diploma.

The object of this article is to study a third form of assessment that involves assessing student results through a centralised system using methods aimed at generating comparative evaluations of student performance at a national, regional (in the case of federal states) or international level.

The methods used in this form of assessment generally involve standardised tests and are based on external assessments without any intervention by teachers involved in teaching the assessed students.

Standardised external assessments may relate to specific curricula or study programmes (as is generally the case in national assessments or IEA tests, or to specific skills (as illustrated by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) studies).

External assessments are used for a number of reasons, including to provide teachers and education professionals with feedback and comparative evaluations; diagnose the state of the education system as a whole; provide objective information for school users; and assess the effective acquisition of learning by students.

One of the chief purposes of the current use of external assessment is assessing and steering education systems.

The increasing use of external standardised assessments

The assessment of education systems on the basis of student results is a major feature of recent developments in education. A large majority of European countries now use external standardised assessments at a regional or national level.

Until the 1990s, only a small number of countries used national tests in compulsory education (primary and lower secondary education), either for the purposes of transition to the next year (Iceland, Portugal, Scotland, Northern Ireland, the Netherlands, Luxemburg, Denmark and Malta) or for providing diagnostic information about the education system as a whole (Ireland, France, Hungary, Sweden and the UK).

Ten other countries and regions followed suit in the 1990s including Spain, the French Community of Belgium, Latvia, Estonia and Romania.

Since the early 2000s, national tests have been introduced in the Flemish Community of Belgium, Lithuania, Poland, Norway, Slovakia, Austria, Germany, Bulgaria, Cyprus, Denmark and Italy.

According to the most recent Eurydice report (2009), only five countries have not introduced national student assessments: the Czech Republic, Greece, Wales, Liechtenstein and the German Community of Belgium.

The tests used before the 1980s were primarily designed to regulate student transition between levels or to assess key stages.

In the 1980s, the development of external assessments was primarily a result of decentralisation and the increasing autonomy of educational institutions. The assessment of results was the counterpart to a greater freedom for schools and education professionals.

Finally, since the 1990s, the process of decentralisation and increasing autonomy has been extended through an increased use of external assessment as part of a steering policy based on student results. National states seek to carry out more effective assessments of the quality and effectiveness of teaching using more rigorous and more incentive production indicators. In this way, assessment is used as a tool for monitoring education systems.

Different forms and methods of external assessment may coexist according to specific social, institutional or political circumstances.

France is a good case in point. It is the ancestor of modern standardised assessment, and the education system has a long-standing tradition of using large-scale external assessment at the end of higher secondary education (*'baccalaureate'*) for qualifying and summative assessment (transition from secondary to higher education); and for assessing overall student performance.

The French Ministry of Education introduced the first '*modern*' standardised assessments of student learning in the late 1970s at lower-secondary level as part of the introduction of the *collège unique* (comprehensive lower school) and in order to highlight the diversity of school performance levels.

Systematic diagnostic assessments have only been used since 1989, mainly at the end of primary education and at the beginning of secondary education. Their sole purpose is to generate information about the overall performance of the education system without any local details or indicators, partly because overall performance assessments are opposed by a number of teacher unions, which fear they may result in assessments of teacher performance.

Though annual and systematic large-scale diagnostic assessments are designed to provide teachers with an analysis of individual student difficulties, they are often used to determine the average level of students as a substitute for overall performance assessment.

Other types of overall performance assessment using samples (which tend to be more irregular) are designed for political and educational decision makers.

Finally, since 2007, the French government has increasingly sought to promote the use of standardised assessment methods for steering education, with an increasing reference to PISA results.

The succession of assessment methods, which differ over time and have distinct aims and objectives, suggests a chaotic history marked by frequent political and professional interference (Mons and Pons, 2006).

While past standardised assessments were designed to assess learning and focus on students, their current use has expanded considerably. Standardised assessments connect the educational realm (their traditional remit) with the political realm, where they are used as a piloting tool (Behrens, 2006).

The influence of New Public Management on the development of standardised assessments

Education can hardly claim to be the only realm affected by the development of external and standardised assessments. Most scholars in the field agree that the introduction of these in education is the result of a transfer of the main principles of public policies since the late 1970s, referred to collectively as New Public Management (NPM), into education.

In the educational realm, four NPM principles have had a direct impact on the development of external standardised assessments at regional, national and international levels (Mons, 2009).

The production generated by public services (for example, education) is amenable to measurement.

Measurements must be carried out using specific instruments. The scientific rigour of these instruments is proven.

Public actors benefiting from increased autonomy, such as schools, are accountable for their actions to the managers of the system (management information model) and/or to citizens (democratic evaluation model).

Public organisation needs to be regulated by results (outputs) and not solely by procedural controls directed towards inputs.

Though initially apparent only in English-speaking countries, the new trend eventually spread to many other parts of the world.

In Europe, the implementation of NPM principles was particularly apparent in England, where reforms initiated since the 1980s had already encouraged using external assessments of student results at different educational levels and key stages. It quickly became apparent that the new standardised assessments were assessing individual school performance, which the new tests were designed to establish on the basis of the combined results of students.

Following the *1988 Education Reform Act* (GB Statutes, 1988), the principle of accountability was applied to schools individually on the basis that *'schools matter'* (GB Statutes, 1988). This occurred in the context of national tests generating crucial results for measuring individual school performance, which were quickly translated by the media into *'league tables'*.

In response to the lack of precision in the raw data, the notion of 'added value' was introduced to measure success on the basis of the predicted success of a school population with identical average characteristics (age and social origin).

Measuring added value gained ground in the 1990s at an official level, entailing the need for richer and more detailed student data beyond that which a school might be capable of providing. The need arose for a system of data collection and centralisation at a national level, resulting, in 2002, in the Pupil Level Annual School Census (PLASC) (Schagen *et al.*, 2006).

At an international level, the external assessment of student results developed largely as a result of the PISA.

The impact of international assessments on education systems: the PISA case

International assessments have become a major focus of national education policies. National governments can use the results of international assessments to carry out reforms aimed at resolving issues highlighted by the results of the assessments.

The 'PISA shock' in Germany

Germany is the most famous example of large-scale educational reform brought about as a result of PISA. Following the publication of the PISA results (for 2000 and 2003), the German education authorities engaged in a fundamental reconsideration of citizen perceptions of the German education system, and even of social and cultural values.

The PISA results showed that Germany was one of the countries in which educational success is most closely related to students' socioeconomic and immigrant background. In a country made up of regions that have a history of being fiercely protective of their local educational prerogatives, the '*PISA shock*' resulted in an agreement by all Länder (federal states) to introduce national standards at the beginning of the 2004–05 school year. The agreement on national educational standards and on an institutionalised structure to ensure that the new standards were observed would have been inconceivable without the impact of the PISA study (Ertl, 2006, p. 623). The reform was conceptually articulated in a report by Klieme *et al.* (2004) for the German Institute for Educational Research (DIPF). It recommended the introduction of standards for results.

International assessments have also had a significant impact on educational discourse and research in education. Here the emphasis is on research aimed at defining the most efficient educational practices and on empirical surveys. This goes against the grain of research and academic traditions that had previously focused on educational values and processes, leading some scholars to recommend a fundamental shake-up of the academic discipline of education in Germany (Bohl, 2004).

However, while the agenda of current reforms has tended to focus on specific issues (national standards, quality assessment and greater emphasis on skills rather than specific academic subjects), other problems have been overlooked. Problems that have yet to be discussed and debated include the highly sensitive issue of selecting higher-achieving students at the beginning of secondary education, and the absence of a comprehensive school system, identified by many observers as one of the main causes of German students' poor results in the PISA study.

There are many similarities between the German and Czech students' results in the PISA tests. While the differences of performance between the two countries and their education systems are not statistically significant, the perception of the PISA results has been markedly different.

In the Czech Republic, the PISA results were relatively well received and did not generate any major overhaul or large-scale reform. The policy of selecting higher-

achieving students introduced in the early 1990s was largely welcomed and supported by the elite, media and parents. In Germany, the '*PISA shock*' was significant and generated important reforms, though none of the implemented reforms concerned the policy of selecting higher-achieving students at secondary level.

In Germany and the Czech Republic, the real results of the PISA survey have, therefore, been largely ignored. The educational policies introduced in the two countries have tended to consolidate the use of a neo-liberal form of performance assessment and regulation. The new measures only refer to scientific data for the purposes of legitimising policies introduced for other reasons. As noted by the Czech scholar, Greger, there is no evidence-based policy (Greger, 2008).

Therefore, it seems that both countries drew particular and different conclusions from a seemingly common diagnosis, not only when the PISA results were considered as too '*low*', but also in other cases.

Varying responses in different countries

In Hungary, the PISA results contradict the findings of previous IEA international studies. While previous IEA international studies (based on study programmes and curricula) showed an excellent level of student performance (confirming the elitist tradition of Hungarian education), PISA showed disappointing results in tests aimed at assessing the skills targeted by the OECD. All the conditions of a *'PISA shock'*, comparable to Germany's, appeared to be present. Yet according to research, although they have entered public discourse on education in Hungary, the PISA results have not produced a political consensus over potential public-policy decisions or even an academic consensus over the best way to interpret them (Bajomi *et al.*, 2009). Since 2006, national assessment tests have, nevertheless, been carried out at various educational levels and key stages, and the national assessment of skills has gradually become a knowledge-based regulation tool.

A completely opposite challenge faced Finnish representatives in education: how to manage excellent PISA test scores? The excellent results obtained by Finnish students have, of course, only served to consolidate the Finnish education system, although it is important to note that a wide range of conclusions have been drawn from PISA by different education actors. Teacher unions have highlighted that good PISA results were the product of the expertise and quality of Finnish teachers. Government representatives have tended to view them as a consequence of the reforms introduced in recent years, including the development of a comprehensive school system, university teacher training, greater teacher autonomy and the decentralisation of education. Yet, while the PISA studies indicate that the excellent results obtained by Finnish students are a product of the homogeneity of student outcomes (with just a small number of top performers), ministerial analyses have presented this as an issue by suggesting measures aimed at taking better account of gifted students (Rautalin and Alasuutari, 2009).

Although Portugal's 17th constitutional government did not have a '*PISA shock*' such as Germany's, PISA was used to justify a number of education reforms and to ensure a degree of '*international*' credibility beyond national controversies. Examples include the New Model of Teacher Assessment, the national programme for the educational promotion of Portuguese, and a national reading plan. PISA data was used to justify and strengthen arguments put forward by the government and to increase the government's decision-making capacities by consolidating the data generated by national assessment tools such as exams and assessment tests. The data has also fed into the government's discourse over the issue of repeating a year, which fails to improve student results (Afonso and Costa, 2009).

In the French Community of Belgium, PISA has also been much discussed in the media, parliament and public political debates. According to research (Mangez and Cattonar, 2009), the results of the PISA study are used as an argument to fuel debates that remain centred around pre-existing conflicts or traditional rivalries between different public policy options.

In other countries, PISA did not cause any injuries. In Denmark, for instance, IEA and PISA assessments have been the subject of many debates over the last 20 years and have fostered a culture of assessment (Egelund, 2008). Approximately ten national tests have been introduced on a range of themes and at different educational levels and key stages since 2007. According to experts, the emphasis on the acquisition of skills for life-long learning in the PISA studies has been well received because a high correlation between the objectives of compulsory education and PISA items was observed.

There has not been a '*PISA shock*' in France, in the sense of a converging and brutal shift of the public debate towards a widespread acceptance of reforms required following the publication of the PISA results. Until 2004, the debate surrounding PISA was primarily an insider affair, partly because the Ministry of Education anticipated the official publication of the results with a view to lessening their impact and channelling the public debate. Experts from the ministry underlined the methodological biases of the study, to the satisfaction of teacher unions and a wide range of education actors who claimed to have reservations about the very principle of an external assessment carried out by the OECD.

However, decision makers have made significant use of PISA 2006, not least the French Minister of National Education, Xavier Darcos, who was appointed by the

new right-wing president, Nicolas Sarkozy, elected to office in the spring of 2007. PISA 2006 marks a distinct break in France, with increased reference to PISA in political discourse and discussions of the survey in the French media. To this extent, a political change resulted in a cognitive change, and not the other way round (Mons and Pons, 2009).

In Romania, PISA generated very little discussion and had limited impact. Because the PISA results have not been taken up by key social or political actors, the results of the study are a topic of neither public nor professional concern (Rostas, Kosa, Bodó, Kiss and Fejes, 2009).

PISA, a tool between the political and academic realms

Research on the impact of PISA in different European countries has shown that as a result of OECD reports, experts, scholars and policy-makers have discussed the data of the different PISA waves (2000; 2003; 2006).

The success of PISA may be unprecedented in as much as the resulting data appears to provide a common reference that connects academic research in education and the political realm of public policy (Barroso and de Carvalho, 2008). PISA operates as a mediator between different strands of knowledge from the realm of education and public policy.

In this sense, PISA is an example of a range of public policy knowledge dependent upon a chain of translation processes between different spheres. The use of PISA by national governments is also an example of the way in which external assessment is now largely used as a tool regulating education policies as part of what public policy researchers refer to as 'soft regulation', with the OECD acting as a 'third-party evaluator' to assess, classify and compare suppliers of educational services (that is, nation states).

Mangez and Cattonar (2009) even suggest that external assessment surveys provide the OECD with the academic credibility required to promote political orientations on educational issues. Under the appearance of a neutral and objective diagnosis of education systems, PISA might, thus, serve as a means of promoting specific orientations on curriculum issues (for example, promoting skills rather than the transmission of academic knowledge).

How do researchers use the data generated by large-scale external assessments?

The use of external assessments in educational research

The impact of external assessments on the quality of education

In educational research, school effectiveness and improvement research was the first to show an interest in indicators of student output (in the early 1970s). Outputs are seen as a means of addressing issues of school quality, focusing on the importance of reflecting the specific effects of teacher activity and the school's education team. The focus of this research is premised on the notion that the specific activity of a school may '*make a difference*'. This goes against the grain of a particular tradition in the sociology of education that argues that disparities and inequalities of educational success need to be understood in terms of specific social and political conditions (that is, the socio-cultural origins of students, system and state structures).

The issue is to identify the practices that may have a causal relationship with the best results obtained in the assessments, but also to use the dissemination of results as an information, motivation and mobilisation tool for education professionals.

The idea is that increased knowledge of the results of teacher activity on student learning (particularly among teachers) will encourage teachers to improve their practice. As summarised by Halasz (2006, p. 4):

"There seems to be an increasing consensus among both politicians and educational researchers that the best way to improve the quality and effectiveness of education is to combine school autonomy with strong incentives to schools to use the feedback they get for self-improvement."

Online self- and external assessments can be combined to ensure that a reform in education is successful. Self-assessment helps school management and prepares students for external assessment, which gives an overall impression and can be used to confirm that it is in compliance with a reform's objectives. Feedback is the only way of enabling education actors to define their actions on the basis of the defined objectives (Zufanová, 2006).

The degree of flexibility governing the dissemination of external assessment results for the benefit of education professionals and decision makers varies in different models.

Some argue that a relatively stringent level of accountability, in which results are made public and have significant implications in an educational market, is the best way to improve the quality and performance of educational services (Schütz, West and Wössmann, 2007).

Others emphasise the mirror effect (Thélot, 2002). The idea is to view assessment as an alternative means of market regulation. Assessment should not be required to generate explanatory schemes of educational success but should make education professionals aware of the results of their actions. Teachers and education managers need to understand the results of their actions. If results are not in keeping with teachers' objectives or with the results that they are expected to achieve, education professionals will modify their practice accordingly. For example, diagnostic assessments aimed at evaluating skills in geometry in the first year of French secondary education (*sixième*) over several years was enough to reactivate an interest in this particular area of mathematics (Bardi *et al.*, 2005).

According to Mons (2004; 2007), the use of centralised exams or tests is related neither to the average level of student performance nor to the proportion of pupils who attained the highest (5) or lowest (1) level in PISA assessments. In other words, the introduction of standardised assessments fails to improve the overall level of student performance, reduce educational failure, or identify an elite group of students.

The use of national exams is correlated with high average results, though only if the level of economic development is not taken into account. National tests, therefore, have no specific impact. Overall, the relations between effectiveness and assessment mechanisms are neither uniformly significant nor automatic.

However, standardised assessments appear to have an impact on educational equality by reducing the impact of social origin on educational performance. This involves limiting practices that lower standards in schools with a significant intake of children from working-class backgrounds (Mons and Pons, 2006).

A large number of studies were conducted following the introduction of highstakes testing in the USA in the 1990s. Initially, the test results obtained by schools improved significantly after the introduction of the tests, before eventually levelling out. More importantly, a number of studies highlighted significant differences between the results obtained in national external standardised tests and the results obtained in local tests used to assess schools. It appears, therefore, that teachers adapted their teaching to meet the specific demands and challenges of the new tests, thus obtaining results strictly limited to the prepared assessments – a process known as *"teaching to the test"* (Nichols *et al.*, 2006, p. 51).

In addition to intensive exam preparation, high-stakes external tests have also been heavily criticised on several other counts: teachers focusing on pupils likely to obtain results that improve the overall school's results in the short term and the curriculum being restricted to the content in the tests, are just two criticisms. Research has also indicated that English teachers now view the transmission of knowledge and skills as a priority at the expense of personalised support and pastoral care (Osborn, 2006).

It is, therefore, generally agreed that standardised external assessments should comply with a number of conditions to preserve their informative value and not alter the learning processes.

The chief condition is that standards should reflect teaching and learning objectives but should not be focused on the content of teaching. Klieme *et al.* (2004) suggested that results standards should not be used in the context of school careers: the data generated in the context of these procedures should not be used for the purposes of transition to the next level or for passing or failing a student.

In a similar vein, Mons (2009) argued that it is primarily high-stakes testing that generates negative responses from education professionals and leads to the perverse effect of a negative impact on learning.

What new information is likely to be generated by international assessments?

Since the early 2000s, there has been a renewed interest in studies that take account of the results of external assessments (both national and international) to carry out comparative analyses of different education systems and to produce better findings for the analysis and understanding of educational practices.

For example, Linnakyla *et al.* (2004) compared the small proportion of Finnish and Swedish students (7% and 12% respectively) who obtained below-par results in the PISA reading assessments with a view to identifying explanatory factors. The research identified the socio-cultural factors that schools struggle to act upon (for example, social origin and recent immigration) and factors that can be shaped by educational action, such as fostering greater self-esteem in failing students. It was concluded that strategies can be developed to support categories of students who demonstrate these *'risk'* factors.

In France, another example is provided by the combined results of the PISA and Progress in International Reading Literacy Study (PIRLS) studies, which highlighted specific characteristics of French students, and particularly obstacles or behaviours that compromise success in assessments because of the way in which students are exposed to writing. French students tend to be less exposed to learning activities aimed at developing textual understanding than the average student taking part in PIRLS studies. It was also found that French students engaged in relatively unvaried activities often based on the same material (Rémond, 2006).

International assessments (particularly PISA) have also provided comparative views of different education systems and policies on an unprecedented scale.

As noted by Mons (2008), who highlighted long-term variations in student results according to the effects of public policies, the databases generated by large-scale international assessments provide a basis for developing typologies of education systems. In terms of the assessment of education policies, the resulting typologies enable comparative statistical analyses of performance indicators of different education systems and institutional frameworks, which are the product of political choices and decisions.

Countries constituting geographical, historical or cultural units tend to have similar levels of educational inequality on the basis of an analysis of the results of PISA 2006, as noted by Green (2008).

English-speaking countries, particularly the USA and the UK, and continental Europe have high levels of educational inequality, while Northern and Latin European countries and East Asian countries have low levels of educational inequality. Using a qualitative comparative approach to highlight the various features of education systems that may account for regional differences, Green (2008) argued that the group of countries with the lowest level of educational inequality have a relatively uniform standardised school system and rarely use tracking at lower secondary level.

Methodological issues

The increasing popularity of external assessments, particularly at an internal level, has sometimes resulted in the use of raw data in public debate without any degree of methodological caution. The use of the same studies for both academic and steering purposes is particularly debatable. In addition to a number of methodological issues, this has given rise to a number of critical analyses in educational research.

Some researchers (for example, Tymms *et al.* (2004)) have complained that international assessments tend to focus on student results during or at the end of schooling irrespective of the progress made by students since the beginning of schooling. Longitudinal studies are, therefore, required to take account of the level of student learning at the beginning of schooling.

Though international comparisons may be relevant in terms of an overall performance assessment of different education systems, Wiliam (2008) argued that caution should be exercised when considering more detailed assessments.

It is impossible to draw specific conclusions concerning the quality of teaching. Assessments such as PISA are, like any standardised assessment, not particularly sensitive to the effects of high-quality teaching. There are three reasons for this.

- The rate of progress of individual students is very limited in comparison with the rate of success within a particular age class.
- Standardised testing methods tend to eliminate items that are particularly sensitive to variations in teaching.
- The use of differentiation items in PISA to identify and exclude items that are not comparable across different languages reduces the sensitivity of assessments to teaching.

Swiss researchers (Moreau *et al.*, 2006) questioned the adequacy of the model and statistical variables used by PISA to highlight local specificities, particularly the differences between cantons that cannot be reduced to socioeconomic or educational disparities. They demonstrated the effects of PISA on the revival of a harmonisation project using standards inspired by PISA skills by showing the virtues and limitations of the transfer. One such limitation is that PISA skills are defined universally and therefore independently of specific educational curricula. By contrast, in a project such as HARMOS, the variety of educational curricula is taken into account in cantons with distinct and varied histories, cultures and languages.

Issues of translation and cultural context

International external assessments are invariably faced with the difficulty of using terms and concepts with different meanings in different languages. While a translation may be technically correct, the connotations and uses of the same term may vary from one country to another.

It is important not to underestimate the biases entailed by translations or different meanings of instructions in different languages and cultural areas (Rémond, 2006). For example, the French word '*style*' has a distinctly literary meaning (for example, the style of a writer), while the English word '*style*' also covers the style of an illustration or typography. French students face particular difficulties in cases where the expected answer requires a writing task that entails subtending meta-cognitive tasks. French students systematically seek to connect any question to routines and prefer not to give an answer if they have any doubt about the type of answer they are expected to give.

French scholars (Bautier *et al.*, 2006) carried out secondary analyses of the PISA 2000 literacy tests on over 800 French pupils and combined these with interviews aimed at providing a better understanding of the strategies adopted by students

in assessments. It was found that while PISA is presented simply as an assessment of reading and written comprehension skills, it also assesses more complex and more diverse skills involving, for instance, a mobilisation of varied spheres of reference extending well beyond learning objectives in reading and writing. The 'good' or 'bad' results obtained by a large number of students in certain PISA items depended on the contexts of interpretation and were less indicative of the level of student skills than the level attained in a range of metacognitive skills.

Conclusion: external assessments, between research and policy

Politicians and school administrators are probably the most frequent readers of PISA reports, which may entail the use of confusing phrases and such terms as *'factors', 'effects'* and *'causes'*. Investigations seeking causal factors will most often require methods other than surveys, such as qualitative in-depth studies and longitudinal surveys based on mixed quantitative and qualitative methods (Egelund, 2008).

Rochex (2008) warned against using PISA as a benchmarking tool and instrument of evidence-based education for conferring academic legitimacy.

However, while the collected data could justify the conduct of secondary or other more detailed surveys (extending beyond just the standardisation of the results in each country and in order to overcome the noted methodological limitations), international organisations and governments seem reluctant to encourage and fund research that requires academic autonomy.

On a more optimistic note, Gustafsson (2008), while acknowledging that international assessments are liable to be misused and misinterpreted, also argued that they offer possibilities for improving the quality of educational research because the high-quality data generated by these studies can be useful in research on causal factors within or across education systems.

Considering the debates about national and external international evaluations, it is evident that everyone now recognises the usefulness of these evaluations for both researchers and policy-makers. Some methodological points need to be considered, but the key findings from the comparative achievement surveys are widely shared in the research community, at least. For example, the positive impact of a common and democratic school on PISA scores in Finland, the negative impact of repeating years in France or the early selection in Germany can no longer be ignored. But does this mean that the '*right*' curriculum can't be designed from using the results of the PISA items? Does it mean that the

competences at the age of 15 are more important to consider than the level of attainment at 20 years old?

These are the strengths and weaknesses of external evaluations on the level of educational policy. They bring a huge amount of indicators and information on educational systems, but these don't necessary fit to on going reforms or government goals. Moreover, governments sometimes only use the ranking and superficial features of the international achievement surveys, not the more detailed analyses. Despite the fashionable trends in evidence-based education, one cannot be convinced that policy has to be driven only by numbers, with the risk that policy-makers have too much say in the indicators used.

The challenge, both for researchers and policy-makers, therefore, is to consider that the aim to improve the information on educational systems has to be pursued for their common interests. Comparative external evaluations may continue to be a key means of doing this, but there needs to be an acknowledgement that policy and research processes cannot always run on the same timescales.

References

Afonso, N. and Costa, E. (2009). 'The influence of the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) on policy decision in Portugal: the education policies of the 17th Portuguese Constitutional Government', *Sísifo Educational Sciences Journal*, **10**, 53–64 [online]. Available: http://sisifo.fpce.ul.pt/ ?r=25 [19 August, 2010].

Bajomi, I., Berényi, E., Neumann, E. and Vida, J. (2009). *The Reception of PISA in Hungary* [online]. Available http://www.knowandpol.eu/fileadmin/KaP/content/Scientific_reports/Orientation3/PISA.WP12.Hungary.pdf http://www.knowandpol.eu/fileadmin/KaP/content/Scientific_reports/Orientation3/PISA.WP12.Hungary.pdf%20%5b13> October, 2010].

Bardi, A.M., Bouzaher, M., Dyckmans, A., Houchot, A., Leblanc, M., Malléus, P., Menasseyre, C., Gauthier, R-S., Bassy, A-M. and Vogler, J. (2005). *Les acquis des élèves, pierre de touche de la valeur de l'école*. Menesr: Igen-Igaen [online]. Available: ftp://trf.education.gouv.fr/pub/edutel/syst/igen/acquis_des_eleves.pdf [19 August, 2010].

Barroso, J. and de Carvalho, L.M. (2008). 'Pisa: Un instrument de régulation pour relier des mondes', *Revue française de pédagogie*, **164**, 77–80.

Bautier, É., Crinon, J., Rayou, P. and Rochex, J.-Y. (2006). 'Performances en littéracie, mode de faire et univers mobilisés par les élèves; analyses secondaires de l'enquête pisa 2000', *Revue française de pédagogie*, **157**, 85–101.

Behrens, M. (2006). 'Préface.' In: Mons, N. and Pons, X. (Eds) *Les standards en éducation dans le monde francophone*. Neuchâtel: IRDP.

Bohl, T. (2004). 'Empirische Unterrichtsforschung und Allgemeine Didaktik. Entstehung, Situation und Konsequenzen eines prekären Spannungsverhältnisses im Kontext der PISA-Studie', *Die Deutsche Schule*, **96**, 4, 414–425.

Egelund, N. (2008). 'The value of international comparative studies of achievement – a Danish perspective', *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice*, **15**, 3, 245–251.

Ertl, H. (2006). 'Educational standards and the changing discourse on education: the reception and consequences of the PISA study in Germany', *Oxford Review of Education*, **32**, 5, 619-634.

Eurydice (2009). *National testing of pupils in Europe: Objectives, Organisation and Use of Results* [online]. Available:

http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/thematic_studies_en.php [19 August, 2010].

Great Britain. Statutes (1988). *Education Reform Act 1988*. Chapter 40. London: HMSO

Green, A. (2008). 'Le modèle de l'école unique, l'égalité et la chouette de minerve', *Revue française de pédagogie*, **164**, 15–26.

Greger, D. (2008). 'Lorsque PISA importe peu. Le cas de la République Tchèque et de l'Allemagne', *Revue française de pédagogie*, **164**, 91–98.

Gustafsson, J.E. (2008). 'Effects of international comparative studies on educational quality on the quality of educational research', *European Educational Research Journal*, **7**, 1, 1–17.

Halasz, G. (2006). 'Foreword'. In: Dobbelstein, P. and Neidhadt, T. (Eds) *Schools for Quality: What Data-based Approaches Can Contribute*. Sint-Katelijne-Waver: Consortium of Institutions for Development and Research in Education in Europe (CIDREE). [online]. Available: http://www.cidree.be/uploads/documentenbank/d3df7cd6c6a61f9d70302ba2a370bb08.pdf [19 August, 2010].

Klieme, E., Avenarius, H., Blum, W., Dobrich, P., Gruber, H., Prenzel, M., Reiss, K., Riquarts, K., Rost, J., Tenorth, H-E. and Vollmer, H.J. (2004). *The Development of National Educational Standards: an Expertise*. Berlin: Federal Ministry of Education and Research [online]. Available: http://www.bmbf.de/pub/the_development_of_national_educationel_standards.pdf [8 September, 2010].

Linnakyla, P., Malin, A. and Taube, K. (2004). 'Factors behind low reading literacy achievement', *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, **48**, 3, 231–249.

Mangez, E. and Cattonar, B. (2009). 'The status of PISA in the relationship between civil society and the educational sector in French-speaking Belgium', *Sísifo Educational Sciences Journal*, **10**, 15–26 [online]. Available: http://sisifo.fpce.ul.pt/?r=25t [19 August, 2010].

Mons, N. (2004). De l'école unifiée aux écoles plurielles: Évaluation internationale des politiques de différenciation et de diversification de l'offre éducative. Thèse de doctorat, Université de Bourgogne, Dijon.

Mons, N. (2007). *Les nouvelles politiques éducatives: La france fait-elle les bons choix ?* Paris: Presses universitaires de France.

Mons, N. (2008). 'Evaluation des politiques éducatives et comparaisons internationales: introduction', *Revue française de pédagogie*, **164**, 5–13.

Mons, N. (2009). *Theoretical and Real Effects of Standardised Assessment*. Brussels: Eurydice. [online]. Available:

http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/documents/thematic_reports/ 111EN.pdf [19 August, 2010].

Mons, N. and Pons, X. (2006). *Les standards en éducation dans le monde francophone: Une analyse comparative.* Neuchâtel: Institut de Recherche et de Documentation Pédagogique.

Mons, N. and Pons, X. (2009). 'The reception of PISA in France: a cognitive approach of institutional debate (2001-2008)', *Sísifo Educational Sciences Journal*, **10**, 27–40 [online]. Available: http://sisifo.fpce.ul.pt/?r=25t [19 August, 2010]

Moreau, J., Nidegger, C. and Soussi, A. (2006). 'Définition des compétences, choix méthodologiques et retombées sur la politique scolaire en suisse', *Revue française de pédagogie*, **157**, 43–53.

Nichols, S.L., Glass, G.V. and Berliner, D.C. (2006). 'High-stakes testing and student achievement: does accountability pressure increase student learning?' *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, **14**, 172 [online]. Available: http://hub.mspnet.org/index.cfm/12605 [19 August, 2010].

Osborn, M. (2006). 'Changing the context of teachers' work and professional development: A European perspective', *International Journal of Educational Research*, **45**, 4–5, 242–253.

Rautalin, M. and Alasuutari, P. (2009). 'The uses of the national PISA results by Finnish officials in central government', *Journal of Education Policy*, **24**, 5, 539–556.

Rémond, M. (2006). 'Éclairage des évolutions internationales pirls et pisa sur les élèves français', *Revue française de pédagogie*, **157**, 71–84.

Rochex, J.-Y. (2008). 'Pisa et les enquêtes internationales. enjeux scientifiques, enjeux politiques', *Revue française de pédagogie*, **164**, 81–85.

Rostas, Z., Kosa, I., Bodó, J., Kiss, A. and Fejes, I. (2009). *Use and Circulation of PISA in a Romanian Context*. Knowledge and Policy Network [online]. Available: http://www.knowandpol.eu/index.php?id=245#c403 [19 August, 2010].

Schagen, I., Hutchison, D. and Hammond, P. (2006). 'League tables and health checks: the use of statistical data for school accountability and self-evaluation.' In: Dobbelstein, P. and Neidhadt, T. (Eds) *Schools for Quality – What Data-based Approaches Can Contribute*. Sint-Katelijne-Waver: Consortium of Institutions for Development and Research in Education in Europe [online]. Available: http://www.cidree.be/uploads/documentenbank/d3df7cd6c6a61f9d70302 ba2a370bb08.pdf [19 August, 2010].

Schütz, G., West, M.R. and Wössmann, L. (2007). *School Accountability, Autonomy, Choice, and the Equity of Student Achievement: International Evidence from PISA 2003* (OECD Education Working Papers) [online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/246374511832 [19 August, 2010].

Thélot, C. (2002). 'Évaluer l'école', Etudes, 397, 10, 323-334.

Tymms, P., Merrell, C. and Jones, P. (2004). 'Using baseline assessment data to make international comparisons', *British Educational Research Journal*, **30**, 5, 673–689.

Wiliam, D. (2008). 'International comparisons and sensitivity to instruction', *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice*, **15**, 3, 253–257.

Zufanová, H. (2006). 'On the meaning of internal and external evaluation for the quality of education during educational reforms'. In: Dobbelstein, P. and Neidhadt, T. (Eds) *Schools for Quality – What Data-based Approaches Can Contribute*. Sint-Katelijne-Waver: Consortium of Institutions for Development and Research in Education in Europe. [online]. Available: http://www.cidree.be/uploads/documentenbank/d3df7cd6c6a61f9d70302ba2a370bb08.pdf [19 August, 2010].

Further Reading

Berényi, E. and Neumann, E. (2009). 'Grappling with PISA. Reception and translation in the Hungarian policy discourse', *Sísifo Educational Sciences Journal*, **10**, 41–52 [online]. Available : http://sisifo.fpce.ul.pt/?r=25 [19 August, 2010].

Olsen, R.V. and Lie, S. (2006). 'Les évaluations internationales et la recherche en éducation: principaux objectifs et perspectives', *Revue française de pédagogie*, **157**, 11–26.

Prenzel, M. and Zimmer, K. (2006). 'Études complémentaires de pisa 2003 en Allemagne: Principaux résultats et enseignements', *Revue française de pédagogie*, **157**, 55–70.

Rochex, J.-Y. (2006). 'Pisa: analyses secondaires, questions et débats théoriques et méthodologiques', *Revue française de pédagogie*, **157**, 5–9.

Note

1 IEA is an independent, international cooperative of national research institutions and government research agencies. The most well-known reports published by the IEA include TIMMS (Trends in Mathematics and Science Study) and PIRLS (Progress in International Reading Literacy Study).

8 The role of educational research and innovation in improving educational systems: a CIDREE perspective

Gábor Halász



Dr. Gábor Halász was the Director General of the former National Institute for Public Education (now Institute for Educational Research and Development) in Budapest, which has been a member of CIDREE since 2002. He was president of CIDREE between 2004 and 2006. He is currently Professor of Education at the Faculty of Pedagogy and Psychology of the

University Eötvös Loránd in Budapest where he is leading the Centre for Higher Educational Management. He teaches, among others, education policy, education and European integration and global trends in education. He continues working for the Institute for Educational Research and Development as a scientific advisor, and is an honorary doctor of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences.

His research fields are education policy and administration, comparative and international education, educational research and innovation and the theory of education systems. As an education policy expert, he had an active part in Hungary's educational-change process in the 1990s. He is one of the founders of the Hungarian School for Education Management, an institution that emerged from Dutch Hungarian cooperation and was formally established in 1998.

Dr. Halász has worked as an expert consultant for a number of international organisations, particularly the OECD, the European Commission, the World Bank, and the Council of Europe. Since 1996 he has represented Hungary on the Governing Board of the Centre for Educational Research and Innovation of OECD; between 2004 and 2007 he was the president of this Board. For more information, see Gábor Halász's personal homepage: (http://halaszg.ofi.hu/).

Email: Halasz.Gabor@ofi.hu

The role of educational research and innovation in improving educational systems: a CIDREE perspective

Gábor Halász

Abstract

This article is about the changing role of educational research in developing and improving educational systems from the perspective of the Consortium of Institutions for Development and Research in Education in Europe (CIDREE). The members of CIDREE are national educational research and development institutes, most of which are closely connected to governments. They find themselves at the intersection of research, policy and practice which, as we know, is a particularly challenging place. This is the crossing point of different interests and expectations, a place of conflicts, debates and value collisions. And, furthermore, being dependent on government and politics, this is also an unstable place to be. Our institutions are exposed to political pressures and the turbulence due to emerging new social needs. These are reflected in the frequent reorganisations we have witnessed in members during CIDREE's history.

Mediating between the worlds of research, policy and practice is both challenging and inspiring. All past and present leaders of CIDREE institutions have stories about conflicts between the demands of these three different worlds, but they also have success stories about creating a common language and enhancing dialogue. We all have memories of making our researcher colleagues understand policy-makers' perspectives; convincing politicians and government decision makers with evidence that comes from research; raising our academically minded researchers' interest in improving pedagogical practice in schools and showing practitioners the developmental potential of our research. Travelling between these three different worlds, building bridges over the gaps that separate them and putting forward new ideas inspired by their encounter, is probably among the best things that past and present leaders of CIDREE institutions can remember.

In the following essay, I wish to reflect upon two themes that I think are relevant not only for CIDREE and its members but perhaps also for the broader community of those actively involved in educational research, development and innovation. One theme is the challenges related to the changing relationship between educational research, policy and practice, and the other is the potential impact of emerging national and sectoral innovation systems on educational research. I close the article by formulating some conclusions from a CIDREE perspective.

The worlds of research, policy and practice

The relationship between researchers, policy-makers and practitioners has never been simple. When the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO) published the final report of its large worldwide survey of educational research, conducted in the second half of the eighties, the 'friction between decision makers and researchers' was mentioned as a key challenge and several earlier publications focusing on this theme were evoked. The report also mentioned the "various difficulties of communication" between researchers and teachers (Debauvais, 1990). A few years later, the Centre for Educational Research and Innovation (CERI) of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), in its synthesis report of a survey of educational research and development in the community of developed countries, talked about "uneasy relationships" and a "crisis of confidence" (OECD, 1995. p. 13). The CERI report revealed a significant deterioration in the policy-research relationship following decades of a positive climate that had been dominated by a naively optimistic idea of "social engineering" and a general belief in the potential of research to change and improve social systems and institutional practices. But, during the eighties, "pervasive criticism" about the relevance and quality of educational research emerged in several developed countries, with the "lack of communication between the producers and consumers" often mentioned as being at the heart of the problem (OECD, 1995).

Following this gloomy diagnosis that revealed the communication difficulties between the 'three cultures', an intensive reflection started with the aim of understanding the specificities of the three different worlds. In 1995, the Dutch Ministry of Education, Culture and Science, together with CERI, organised a conference in Maastricht, called 'Knowledge Bases for National Education Policy-Making', which aimed to produce an input to the next ministerial level meeting of the Educational Committee of OECD.¹ The conference brought together 'knowledge producers', 'decision makers' and 'intermediaries between knowledge and action'. The use of the terms 'knowledge producer' (instead of researchers) and 'intermediaries' (as a fourth, new category beyond the three mentioned in the title of this section) indicated a new way of thinking. This was, in fact, the language of new innovation policies, which is a field I shall come back to in more detail later in this article. A key issue debated was: how can the producers and consumers of knowledge develop a better relationship?

The Maastricht conference, in my view, symbolised a breakthrough in our thinking about the relationship between the three worlds of research, policy and practice. The debate focused on *"the problems created by the dual position of educational research as a scientific field of enquiry and as a servant of public education systems"* (OECD, 1996, p. 6). One of the key conclusions was:

"There is a need for institutional structures that create a balance between rigour and usefulness, between long-term advancement of knowledge and attention to immediate problems."

(OECD, 1996, p. 6)

The breakthrough was not the recognition of the duality, or that of the difficulty of mutual understanding. Rather, it was the comprehension of the need for institutionalised mechanisms of mediation between them, and, particularly, the acceptance of the complexity and the dynamic character of the relationship.

In our current way of thinking about innovation and change, we no longer think about the relationship between knowledge (created by research) and action (performed by governments or practitioners) as a linear process. We see the interactions between knowledge and action as iterative: we think knowledge is modified by actions, actions are producing knowledge and we see the borderline between knowledge and actions as being blurred. Furthermore, we accept that a large part of knowledge is tacit, and the most important part of it is contingent, that is, it can be expressed only in *'if'* or *'than'* statements. Scientific evidence is only part of the knowledge that is needed for good decisions, which are also shaped by values, interests and many other features, such as our capability to bear uncertainty or the resources we possess. Creating intelligent adaptive systems that are capable of learning and modifying their behaviour on the basis of complex feedback seems to be a better solution than trying to fix the way systems should behave in advance and by using scientific evidence.

When I was the head of one of the CIDREE member institutes in my home country between 1999 and 2006, our institute developed an organisational strategy which included the aim, among others, of positioning ourselves in relation to academia, government and schools. We imagined this position as being in the middle of a triangle with an equal distance from (or equal closeness to) the three poles (academia, government and schools) or as being at the intersection of three, partly overlapping circles.

Regarding academia, we thought we had to produce research that met academic standards as far as methodology or presentation was concerned. Regarding government, we accepted the duty to do research that is relevant for policy and to produce results that are easy for policy-makers to understand. Regarding schools, we thought our mission was to make school practice better and to communicate results that practitioners could understand and use. Our strategic goal was to keep a balance between the three different worlds: not to be captured by any of them or, to put this in a positive way, to serve them all equally at the same time. One way to visualise this is presented in Figure 8.1.

Keeping an equal distance from the three different worlds was sometimes easier than remaining open to their perspectives and well connected to all of them. In practice, this meant the development and cultivation of specific attitudes.



Figure 8.1: The strategic self-positioning of national government-led educational development and research institutes

Firstly, we had to make an effort to understand the world of politicians and show respect for the constraints under which they operate. This meant, for example, accepting that politicians often cannot wait until we produce relevant evidence and they have to act even if good research evidence is not available. Secondly, we had to open our minds to the language of practitioners and accept that we could give them knowledge as well as receive knowledge from them. We had to learn to listen instead of talking and make an effort to give sense to their words instead of questioning the meaning of them. We had to learn to appreciate practicerelated and tacit knowledge, and to understand theories in action alongside scientific models and theories. Doing all this, we had to keep the highest scientific standards in our work. This was not, essentially, in order to please the academic community or to be respected by our peer researchers, but to be able to give the best quality service to our 'clients', that is, the politicians and the practitioners. And, above all, we had to learn to live together with the permanent and unavoidable tensions that always characterise the relationships between the three different worlds.

Working in research and development institutions run by governments and having a mission to serve the improvement of pedagogical practice in schools, requires the development of a particular identity. This is not the identity of academics who are seeking truth and the recognition of their peers. This is, naturally, not the identity of politicians who are moved by the desire to win social recognition and popularity, and whose mission is to gain and keep power for improving society (at least in the best cases). And this is not the identity of the professional practitioner, either, who struggles every day to find good solutions for problems arising from frontline practice. Our identity is a mixture of all three and something more: that of the mediator or the translator who speaks several languages and who uses these languages appropriately when functioning in specific situations.

Mediation and brokering have become key notions in our thinking about educational research. One of the originalities of the 1995 Maastricht conference mentioned earlier was the stress put on the '*importance of intermediaries who act as brokers between producers and users of knowledge*'. More than ten years later, when CERI published the results of its programme on evidence-based policy research in education, the brokerage function was already in the forefront of analysis. A whole section of the book presenting the results was devoted to the theme of "*mediating the research/policy interface: the role of brokerage agencies*" (OECD, 2007a, p. 26). Although none of the case studies presented in the book was from CIDREE member institutes and, probably, none of the latter would define itself as a '*brokerage agency*', the function of brokering has long been a key mission for all of them. Very few could define themselves as a pure research institution and, even if they did so, being run or financed by governments and having the mission of serving schools directly already put them into the position of brokering.

Most CIDREE member institutions have also been operating in what Gibbons *et al.* (1994) called the 'mode 2 of knowledge production'. I remember when, a couple of years ago, I read the famous book written by Gibbons and his colleagues, *The New Production of Science*, I had the distinct feeling that I was reading about us. We had, in fact, been working in the context of application, unlike universities who are often more detached from practice. Most of our research work had been done in multidisciplinary teams and not by isolated individuals. Our research themes were determined by people in socially responsible positions and not by our own curiosity. Our research was much more subjected to social accountability than quality control by our academic peers, and the skills, competences and experiences needed for doing successful research had always been heterogeneous.

And, naturally, we also recognised ourselves in the similarly famous '*triple helix model*'. Although this model is about the dynamics between universities, governments and industry (Etzkowitz, 2008), it is not very different from the implication in Figure 8.1. They both imply a break with the old linear model, which assumes that researchers are producing knowledge which is then taken and used – perhaps with the help of knowledge mediators, brokers or translators – by practitioners. In Figure 8.1, we position ourselves, not only at an equal distance from or closeness to the three poles, but we also assume a non-linear way of producing and sharing knowledge. Being in the middle of a triangle, or being at the intersection of the three circles, may also mean that knowledge is both going out and coming in, and often we do not know with certainty any more who is producing and who is using the knowledge. Each partner can learn from the others: each of them has something to offer to the other.
If we follow the triple helix model, we find institutions doing educational research in a complex and dynamic ecosystem of actors producing and applying knowledge and we can see the emergence of a great variety of possible configurations. A typical CIDREE member institution may find itself both in the position of being the creator of knowledge and also in the position of being the creator of knowledge and also in the position of being the applier of knowledge: sometimes teaching others, sometimes learning from others. There are no clear boundaries. Writing about the way users are influencing research in the Teaching and Learning Research Programme in England, Edwards *et al.* (2007) talked about *"boundary management"* and *"boundary work"*, which is going beyond what we usually call knowledge mediation. They described *'boundary zones'* as:

"Sites for discussion, where people's own organisational priorities are recognised; where ideas can be shared, trust built and collaboration stimulated. Rather than places for one-way dissemination of research findings, they work as sites of mutual learning where knowledge flows in and out of projects, from and to the field of study."

(p. 652)

In this complex and dynamic ecosystem "we can begin to picture a more fluid set of relationships" where "each specific expertise is valued and each participant is a resource for the other". In the triple helix configuration, the sources of knowledge and innovation "do not fit together in a pre-given order, but they generate puzzles for participants to solve" (Edwards, 2005, p. 3).

Educational research and the evidence-based movement

Educational research, in a growing number of countries, seems to have left behind the difficult decades with a lack of impact and recognition. This is partly due to the new concept of doing research and relating it to policy and practice as referred to in the previous section. Attention to, and recognition of, educational research is also enhanced by the impact of the *'evidence-based movement'*, which combines practical relevance with the use of strict methodological approaches, and follows the models of sectors like healthcare or food safety (Hargreaves, 2000; OECD, 2004). The demand for evidence-based policy and practice has been a key element of the No Child Left Behind programme and the closely related Education Sciences Reform Act (2002) in the USA. A major investigation into the impact of educational research in 2000 in Australia revealed a *"strong interest in using the results of systematic educational enquiry, and of encouraging research and evidence-based policy and practice"* (DETYA, 2000, p. 198). The CERI programme on evidence-based policy research, quoted in the previous section, has also presented a number of interesting initiatives in this area in OECD member countries.

From the perspective of CIDREE as a European research and development consortium, it is particularly important that the EU has also become active in promoting the use of research to improve education. During the German presidency, in March 2007, a European conference was organised on the theme of evidence-based education policy (DIPF, 2007). The Council of education ministers put the issue on its agenda a few months later (Council of the European Union, 2007); a related '*peer learning activity*' was organised in the framework of the Objectives 2010 programme (Rickinson, 2007); and the Commission of European Communities (CEC) published a detailed analysis on the theme (CEC, 2007). Following this, the Commission started supporting various programmes related to educational research, and some of them are worth mentioning here.

The Network of Experts in Social Sciences of Education (NESSE), coordinated by Institut National de Recherche Pédagogique (INRP), one of the CIDREE member institutions, is supporting the Commission in the analysis of educational policies and reforms. It has developed a mapping of educational research in Europe, making this area more transparent and supporting its Europeanisation.²

The Evidence Informed Policy in Education in Europe (EIPEE) project supports the establishment of links between research and policy-making in education, also operating with the participation of some CIDREE member institutions.³

The European Educational Research Quality Indicators (EERQI) project supported by the 7th Framework Programme for Research, aims to raise the visibility and competitiveness of European educational research and create a "new basis for decisions on funding, hiring and evaluation" in European research institutions.

All these initiatives clearly show that the field of educational research has started to move from being a neglected area at European level into a supported one. This, in fact, reflects a process that was started earlier in a number of member states. Among these, Finland and the UK are particularly interesting cases because educational research in these countries has received strong public attention and support, and has been exposed to high social expectations.

In the case of Finland, the relevance and quality of educational research, including safeguarding its practical orientation, seems to be guaranteed by connecting it as strongly as possible with effective, practice-oriented teacher training. In the dominant Finnish conception, teachers are seen as *"pedagogical experts"* and *"professionals who know how to improve learning"* (Laukkanen, 2007, p. 319) or creative *"problem solvers"* (Niemi, 2008, p. 190), trained to do practice-led research for their own professional needs (something well known in the world of healthcare). Teachers are expected to have competences for *"seeking*

evidence from their schools and students' learning", and doing action research is seen as an integral element of exercising the teaching profession (Niemi, 2008).

In the UK, several politicians have expressed strong views about educational research and have sent clear messages about its role in policy-making. A few years ago, one of them established a typology of policy areas, distinguishing between: (1) stable policy fields, (2) policy fields in flux and (3) inherently novel policy fields. He put education into the second category. The important thing, he stressed, was that these different fields needed different forms of research, and the problem was that in the second category research was often 'backward-looking'. Typical research, he wrote, was not too useful in policy fields in flux: "It may reveal the weaknesses of policy, but it is unlikely to give convincing evidence about what works" (Mulgan, 2003, p. 4). The message sent to educational researchers was to go beyond the critical analysis of what exists and to try to make a step towards the future and show'what might work' in practice. This has become the philosophy behind some major state-financed research programmes in the UK, such as the Teaching and Learning Research Programme in England (Pollard, 2007) and the Applied Education Research Scheme in Scotland (Ozga, 2007). In these programmes, researchers get support only if they establish an intensive dialogue with teachers as the 'users' of their product and accept being influenced by them.

National and sectoral innovation strategies – new challenges and new opportunities

The changes to the meaning of educational research, its move closer to practice and the growing role of users in determining its orientations, are in accordance with the principles of emerging innovation policies in Europe and elsewhere. And, here, I arrive at the key message of this article: those who are involved in educational research, including CIDREE institutions, should follow as closely as possible the recent developments of current national and international innovation policies. Rapidly changing innovation policies, often led by ministries of economy or government agencies responsible for economic competitiveness, are creating a new environment for research, in general, and for educational research, in particular.

This environment appears conspicuously in the OECD's new innovation strategy, which was presented to its Ministerial Council at the end of May 2010. This strategy has stressed, first, the broadening of the scope of innovation: a move from a traditional, narrowly technological perspective towards a broader one including many forms of non-technological innovations such as those affecting organisational patterns and processes. Second, it has stressed the growing role of users (clients and consumers) in initiating, generating and influencing innovations. Third, it has put a major emphasis on the human factor: on people

who create and have to absorb innovations. Fourth, it has underlined the role of the public sector, not only as a generator and as a consumer of innovations, but also as the target of them. It is a sector in need of innovation for producing better quality and becoming more effective and efficient. Fifth, partnership with private sector players has been presented as an important source of energy for innovation in the public sector. And, finally, the education sector has been presented as not only enhancing innovation in other sectors but also as a sector which, itself, has to innovate (OECD, 2010a).

The OECD innovation strategy has formulated very clearly not only the priority of unleashing innovation in the public sector, but also the need for sectoral strategies with a strong emphasis on human resources. As its background document stressed (OECD, 2010b, p. 19): "*Comprehensive innovation strategies are needed for key public services, such as education or health, as are management practices and human resources policies that are conducive to innovation.*" In the case of the education sector, this has been directly supported by the work CERI has been doing for many years in the area of educational research and innovation.

Public sector innovation has also become a central element in the EU's emerging innovation strategy. A business panel, established by the European Commission's Directorate-General for Enterprise and Industry, has formulated, for example, five policy propositions in its report published in 2009. The first of these propositions was *"broadening innovation: from business innovation to business and social innovation"* (DG Enterprise and Industry, 2009, p. 13). The notion of social innovation is particularly important for education because major changes in this sector cannot be imagined without it.

In most countries, national innovation strategies mention education only as a sector whose mission is to enhance innovation in other sectors. Innovation policies have traditionally supported university research because there is a hope that this contributes to technological development, which then enhances the competitiveness of national industry. In our current innovation thinking, naturally, education keeps this role, but it has to innovate even in this role. For example, if the capacity to exchange tacit knowledge in the workplace is seen as an indispensable condition of workplace innovation, this capacity – called "*mode 2 learning*" by Lundvall *et al.* (2008), p. 682 – has to be developed in schools. This cannot be done without major internal (pedagogical) innovations. But innovation is needed in the education sector, not only to make education more effective in contributing to innovation in other sectors, but also because without this major public policy, goals (such as quality, equity and effectiveness) cannot be achieved. Education, like other sectors, needs its own "*sectoral innovation system*" (Malerba, 2005) as part of broader national innovation systems.

An education sector innovation system can be conceived as the space where the education system and the national innovation system overlap (Schuller, 2010).

This is a public policy area that falls under the dual responsibility of ministers of education and ministers of innovation. Some countries have explicit strategies for this area, some have implicit strategies, and many have neither an explicit nor an implicit strategy. In its innovation strategy framework, the OECD suggested that countries should have specific innovation strategies for their education sector because: "*a good innovation policy in education is critical to improve learning outcomes, equity, cost-efficiency and student satisfaction*".⁴ A number of relevant questions have been raised in connection with this.

"Could the traditional instruments of innovation policies be used more effectively in education and how – for example, promoting public and private investment in *R&D*, intellectual property rights, competition, etc?

Would it be possible to foster the development of a strong pedagogical industry that could be compared to the pharmaceutical industry in the health sector?

How to manage knowledge effectively to foster innovation and improvement in education – links between research and practice, incentives for networking and knowledge sharing within schools, etc.

How to use and coordinate policy instruments such as assessment and accountability, teacher professional development, school organisation, parental involvement to promote innovation and improvement.

What are the appropriate methods of evaluation for different types of educational innovation?

How to measure innovation in education."

(OECD, 2007b, p. 2).

Some of these questions seem to be closely related to those raised earlier in this article. And these questions will have to be answered in the context of national innovation strategies for the education sector. This may also require the repositioning of ministries of education, centres of educational research and schools, as well as those agencies connecting these three worlds.

Implications and possible scenarios from a CIDREE perspective

The emerging new way of thinking about innovation in the education sector may have significant implications for CIDREE and its member institutions. Although this new way of thinking puts pressure on them to adapt, most of them will feel quite familiar in the new environment. The way of thinking about educational research and of conceptualising relationships between research and practice, as presented above, has never been alien for CIDREE institutions. In fact, they are much better placed to play a key role in the emerging new national knowledge and innovation ecosystems than universities or educational departments of universities thanks to their position equally distant from, or close to, academia, government and schools.

However, their strength might be, at the same time, their weakness. Although they might desire to position themselves at a certain distance from governments, and this would certainly be advantageous for the development of educational systems, this is not possible in many cases. Most of them are founded, financed and supervised by national ministries and there are very few countries where national authorities would support or welcome a genuinely autonomous position for their *'background institutions'*. The price of being close to policy is being close to politics. Elected politicians in most European countries cannot resist the temptation to subordinate national educational research and development institutions for short-term political needs. They need this professional hinterland to be successful in parliamentary debates, to find justification for their changing political endeavours or, sometimes, simply to hide resources from parliaments.

In a positive scenario, however, education sector innovation systems might emerge and this would lead to a more stable environment for research and innovation in education. In this scenario, an increasing number of governments would adapt their national innovation strategies for the emerging new global and European trends. This would mean that they broaden their concept of innovation, start systematically including the public sector within their broader national innovation strategies, and, in doing so, they do not forget about innovation in the education sector.

The probability of this would, and this has to be stressed here, be significantly enhanced by a growing role of the private sector in education. The key players here would include not only schools and other public education institutions, but also non-public training providers, producers of various technology products for teaching and learning, and a number of new players from the world of lifelong learning. This would also make innovation in the education sector increasingly important, especially if educational services become important goods in both internal and external markets. In such a scenario, education ministries have a particular responsibility to create effective sectoral innovation strategies.

This would mean, and we can already see this in a number of countries, not only growing support for educational research, but also a change in its meaning and a new place for it in the broader education sector innovation system. This is certainly challenging for the entire educational research and development community and, within this, for CIDREE institutions. My assumption is that those who do research and development and work closely with their clients in governments and practice would particularly welcome this development.

References

Commission of the European Communities (CEC) (2007). *Towards More Knowledge-Based Policy and Practice in Education and Training* (Commission Staff Working Document SEC 1098). Brussels: Commission of the European Communities [online]. Available:http://ec.europa.eu/education/policies/2010/ doc/sec1098_en.pdf [6 September, 2010].

Council of the European Union (2007). *Education, Youth and Culture.* 2802nd *Council Meeting* (Press Release 9807/07 (Presse 114) Brussels, 24–25 May 2007) [online]. Available: http://www.consilium.europa.eu/ueDocs/cms_Data/docs/ pressData/en/educ/94275.pdf [6 September, 2010].

Debauvais, M. (1990). *National Educational Research Policies: a World Survey*. Paris: UNESCO.

DG Enterprise and Industry (2009). *Reinvent Europe Through Innovation. From a Knowledge Society to an Innovation Society. Recommendations by a Business Panel on Future EU Innovation Policy. European Commission Directorate General for Enterprise and Industry* [online]. Available: http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/innovation/files/panel_report_en.pdf[6 September, 2010].

Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs (DETYA) (2000). *The Impact of Educational Research: Research Evaluation Programme*. Melbourne: DETYA [online]. Available: http://www.dest.gov.au/archive/highered/respubs/ impact/pdf/impact.pdf [6 September, 2010].

Deutsches Institut für Internationale Pädagogische Forschung (DIPF) (2007). *Knowledge for Action: Research Strategies for an Evidence-Based Education Policy Symposium During Germany's EU Presidency 28–30 March 2007 in Frankfurt/ Main.* Bonn: German Institute for International Educational Research. Federal Ministry of Education and Research.

Edwards, A., Sebba, J. and Rickinson, M. (2007). 'Working with users: some implications for educational research', *British Educational Research Journal*, **33**, 5, 647–661.

Edwards, A. (2005). *What Can We Learn About User Engagement from the Wider Social Science Community?* (TLRP Seminar Series: Making a Difference: Working with Users to Develop Educational Research). Birmingham: University of Birmingham [online]. Available: http://www.tlrp.org/themes/seminar/ edwards/papers/seminar4/Seminar4_Thematic_Summary_final.doc [6 September, 2010].

Etzkowitz, H. (2008). *The Triple Helix: University-Industry-Government Innovation in Action*. New York, NY: Routledge.

Gibbons, M., Limoges, C., Nowotny, H., Schwartzman, S., Scott, P. and Trow, M. (1994). *The New Production of Science. The Dynamics of Science and Research in Contemporary Societies*. London: Sage Publications.

Hargreaves, D.H. (2000). 'The production, mediation and use of professional knowledge among teachers and doctors: a comparative analysis.' In: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (2000) *Knowledge Management in the Learning Society*. Paris: OECD CERI.

Laukkanen, R. (2007). 'Finnish strategy for high-level education for all.' In: Soguel, N.C. and Jaccard, P. (Ed.) *Governance and Performance of Education Systems*. Dordecht: Springer.

Lundvall, B-A., Rasmussen, P. and Lorenz, E. (2008).' Education in the learning economy: a European perspective', *Policy Futures in Education*, **6**, 6, 681–700.

Malerba, F. (2005). 'Sectoral systems: how and why innovation differs across sectors.' In: Fagerberg, J., Mowery, D.C. and Nelson, R.R. (Eds) *The Oxford Handbook of Innovation*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Mulgan, G. (2003). *Global Comparisons in Policy-Making: the View from the Centre* [online]. Available: http://www.opendemocracy.net/ecology-think_tank/article_1280.jsp [6 September, 2010].

Niemi, H. (2008). 'Advancing research into and during teacher education.' In: Hudson, B. and Zgaga, P. (Ed.) *Teacher Education Policy in Europe: a Voice of Higher Education Institutions*. Slovenia: University of Umeå.

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (1995). Educational Research and Development. How Educational R&D Can Work: A Synthesis Report. 24–25 April 1995. Paris: OECD CERI.

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (1996). Educational Research and Development. Knowledge Bases for Education and the Processes of Knowledge Production, Mediation and Use: Report on Principal Findings and Issues from the Maastricht Conference. 28–29 March 1996. Paris: Centre for Educational Research and Innovation.

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (2004). 'OECD – US meeting on evidence-based policy research in education. OECD – U.S. Education Department's Institute of Education Sciences: the Coalition for Evidence-Based Policy.' Forum Proceedings, Washington, DC, April 19–20.

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (2007a). Evidence in Education. Linking Research and Policy. Paris: OECD. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (2007b). *The OECD Innovation Strategy: New Policies for a Changing World*. Paris: OECD [online]. Available: http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/16/44/43325673.pdf [6 September, 2010].

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (2010a). *The OECD Innovation Strategy. Getting a Head Start on Tomorrow*. Paris: OECD.

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (2010b). *Ministerial Report on the OECD Innovation Strategy Innovation to Strengthen Growth and Address Global and Social Challenges*. Key Findings. Paris: OECD [online]. Available:http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/51/28/45326349.pdf [6 September, 2010].

Ozga, J. (2007). 'Co-production of quality in the Applied Education Research Scheme', *Research Papers in Education*, **22**, 2, 169–181.

Pollard, A. (2007). 'The United Kingdom's Teaching and Learning Research Programme.' In: *Centre for Educational Research and Innovation Evidence in Education: Linking Research and Policy*. Paris: OECD [online]. Available: http://www.oecd.org/document/56/0,3343,en_2649_35845581_38796344_1_1_1 _1,00.html [6 September, 2010].

Rickinson, M. (2007). *Summary Report from the Peer Learning Activity on 'Evidencebased Policy and Practice' in The Hague, Netherlands, 30 May–1 June 2007* [online]. Available: http://www.kslll.net/Documents/PLA%20Evidencebased%20policy%20and%20practice_summary%20report_May%2007.pdf [6 September, 2010].

Schuller, T. (2010). *The Hungarian Education Sector Research, Development and Innovation System (ERDIS): an International Perspective* [online]. Available: http://tamop311.ofi.hu/szakmai-program/8-1 [6 September, 2010].

Notes

- 1 It is perhaps worth mentioning in this context that Seamus Hegarty, who later became president of CIDREE, was one of the invited experts at this meeting.
- 2 NESSE website: http://www.nesse.fr/nesse
- 3 EIPEE project website: http://www.eipee.eu/Default.aspx?tabid=2478& language=en-GB
- 4 See the website: 'More about the Innovation Strategy for Education and Training' (http://www.oecd.org/document/56/0,3343,en_2649_33723_42380088_1_1_1_0.html)

9 Building bridges: how research may improve curriculum policies and classroom practices

Jan van den Akker



Jan van den Akker is the current president of CIDREE (Consortium of Institutions for Research and Development in Education in Europe). He is also Director General of SLO, the Netherland's Institute for Curriculum Development, a part-time professor in the University of Twente's Department of Curriculum Design and Educational Innovation, and Chairman of the

Board of ICO, the Netherland's Inter-university School for Educational Research.

He has a broad international orientation, including supervision and consultancy for many research and development projects in various continents – not only Europe, but also sub-Saharan Africa, Asia and Latin America.

His main areas of expertise are curriculum policy-making, curriculum development with teacher learning and school development, design and evaluation of curriculum materials, and research methodology of design research in education.

Email: j.vandenakker@slo.nl

Building bridges: how research may improve curriculum policies and classroom practices

Jan van den Akker

Abstract

Curriculum development is almost notorious for its weak relationship with research. Socio-political arguments usually dominate curriculum decision making (in most, including European, countries, with all their variety). Priorities for curriculum projects seldom arise from systematic monitoring and analysis of practices and outcomes. Available research-based knowledge is often insufficiently used during the development process. And empirical information about actual uptake and implementation of curriculum innovations is often lacking. Altogether, one may conclude that curriculum development is hardly an evidence-based enterprise, in contrast to much policy rhetoric nowadays. Probably, few people would argue for an overly strong evidence-based strategy of curriculum development – this would be in contrast to the often value-driven nature of most curricular decision making. However, many would like to experience a more evidence-informed approach to curriculum problems.

This article will explore how a better cross-fertilisation between educational research and curriculum development could strengthen the information base for curriculum policies and classroom practices.

After an effort to articulate our conceptualisation of curriculum and curriculum development (building on van den Akker (2003) and Thijs and van den Akker (2009)), the exploration's emphasis will be on the potential of curricular 'design and development research' (D&DR), a rapidly emerging research approach that combines three related goals:

- optimisation of curricular interventions and products (for example, curriculum frameworks and educative materials)
- curriculum design principles (as a contribution to the knowledge base)
- professional development (of all participants).

The role of research will be outlined for the various stages of curriculum development, with particular attention given to:

- quality criteria for curriculum interventions
- adequate research methods and procedures
- knowledge growth and generalisation issues.

The problematic fate of most curriculum reforms: could research help?

Curriculum reform has a dubious reputation, with more sobering than real and lasting success stories. One could even say, as a universal experience, that large-scale curriculum reform has a tendency to fail (Cuban, 1992; Fullan, 2007; Leyendecker, 2008). Hargreaves and Fink (2006, p. 6) put this succinctly: "Change in education is easy to propose, hard to implement, and extraordinarily difficult to sustain." And it could be argued that curriculum changes belong to the hardest category.

Notwithstanding big investments in research and development, and in-service education, the target group of teachers often appears poorly informed about an intended innovation, while its practical application remains limited, and its impact on student learning is unclear. Simple explanations for innovation failures are inadequate, but a few gaps are often visible:

- weak connections between the various system levels (national, local, school and classroom)
- lack of internal consistency within the curriculum design
- insufficient cooperation between various actors in educational development.

The general pattern is that the worlds of policy, practice and research are widely separated. A crucial challenge for more successful innovations in education is to build bridges between many levels, factors and actors.

How could research help in addressing educational challenges? The kind of help usually varies across different types of research. Plomp (2009) distinguished various questions, aims and functions of research including to describe, compare, evaluate, explain, predict, design and develop. One may also discern various primary orientations of research: theory, practice and policy. Much policyoriented research in education occurs through surveys, monitoring and assessment, and focuses on (descriptive) measures about actual practices and outcomes. However, the central orientation in this article will be on research that focuses on curriculum *'improvement and innovation'*, under the label of D&DR.

D&DR in education is a relatively new approach, with its roots in the early nineties (for our own efforts in the curriculum domain, see van den Akker and Plomp (1993) and van den Akker (1999)). Since then, they are documented in a

number of special issues of prominent journals (for example: *Educational Researcher*, 32, 1, 2003; *Educational Psychologist*, 39, 4, 2004; *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 13, 1, 2004; *Educational Technology*, 45, 1, 2005), and in a number of books (for example: van den Akker *et al.*, 2006; Richey and Klein, 2007; Kelly *et al.*, 2008; Reinking and Bradley, 2008; Plomp and Nieveen, 2009). For pragmatic reasons, the broader label of D&DR is used here, while recognising that there are a number of related and more specific terms used in the literature (see overviews in van den Akker, 1999; van den Akker *et al.*, 2006; Plomp and Nieveen, 2009).

The initial focus in this article is on summarising a set of concepts and perspectives that help to increase the transparency and balance of curriculum analysis, development and discourse. The focus will then shift towards curricular D&DR.

Curriculum: what's in a name?

When there is a myriad of definitions for a concept in the literature (as is the case with curriculum), it is often difficult to keep a clear focus on its essence. In these cases, it often helps to search for the etymological origin of the concept. The Latin word '*curriculum*', related to the verb currere (running), refers to a '*course*' or 'track' to be followed. In the context of education, where learning is the central activity, the most obvious interpretation of the word curriculum is, then, to view it as a course, trajectory, or "*plan for learning*" (Taba, 1962). This very short definition (reflected in related terms in many languages) limits itself to the core of all other definitions, permitting all sorts of elaborations for specific educational levels, contexts and representations. Obviously, contextual specification is always needed in curriculum conversations to clarify the perspective.

Given this simple definition, a differentiation between various levels of the curriculum has proven to be very useful when talking about curricular activities (policy-making, design and development, evaluation, and implementation). The following distinctions appear to be helpful:

- international/comparative (or 'supra' level)
- system, society, nation and state (or '*macro*' level) (for example, national syllabi or core objectives)
- school and institution (or '*meso*' level) (for example, school-specific curriculum)
- classroom (or 'micro' level) (for example, textbooks and instructional materials)
- individual and personal (or 'nano' level).

The supra level usually refers to international debates or agreements on aims and quality of education, and it is sometimes fuelled by the outcomes of internationally comparative studies. Curriculum development at the supra and macro levels is usually of a 'generic' nature, while 'site-specific' approaches are more applicable for the levels closer to school and classroom practice. Moreover, the process of curriculum development can be seen as either narrow (developing a specific curricular product) or broad (a long-term, ongoing process of curriculum improvement, often including many related aspects of educational change, for example, teacher education, school development and examinations).

In order to understand problems of curriculum decision making and enactment, a broader description of curriculum development is often most appropriate. It is usually a long and cyclical process with many stakeholders and participants in which motives and needs for changing the curriculum are formulated; ideas are specified in programmes and materials; and efforts are made to realise the intended changes in practice.

Moreover, curricula can be represented in various forms. Clarification of these forms is especially useful when trying to understand the problematic efforts to change a curriculum. A common broad distinction is between the three levels of the *'intended'*, *'implemented'*, and *'attained'* curriculum. A more refined typology (van den Akker, 2003) is outlined in Table 9.1.

Intended	Ideal	Vision (rationale or basic philosophy underlying a curriculum)
	Formal/written	Intentions as specified in curriculum documents and/or materials
Implemented	Perceived	Curriculum as interpreted by its users (especially teachers)
	Operational	Actual process of teaching and learning (also, curriculum-in-action)
Attained	Experiential	Learning experiences as perceived by learners
	Learned	Resulting learning outcomes of learners

Table 9.1:	Typology	of curriculum	representations
------------	----------	---------------	-----------------

Traditionally, the intended domain refers predominantly to the influence of curriculum policy-makers and curriculum developers (in various roles). The implemented curriculum relates especially to the world of schools and teachers. And the attained curriculum relates to students.

Besides this differentiation in representations, curriculum problems can be approached from various analytical angles. For example, Goodlad (1994) distinguished three different perspectives:

• *'substantive'*, focusing on the classical curriculum question about what knowledge is of most worth for inclusion in teaching and learning

- *'technical-professional'*, referring to how to address concrete tasks of curriculum development
- *'socio-political'*, referring to curriculum decision-making processes, where values and interests of many different individuals and agencies are at stake.

Some might argue that this list is too limited as it refers specifically to curriculum issues for '*traditional*' planning for learning in schools, and does not include the more '*critical*' perspectives that are amply present in curriculum theory literature (for example, Pinar *et al.*, 1995). However, from a primary interest in curriculum improvement, the three perspectives seem useful and appropriate.

The vulnerable curriculum spider's web

One of the major challenges for curriculum improvement is creating balance and consistency between the various components of a curriculum (*'plan for learning'*). What are these components? The relatively simple curriculum definition by Walker (1990) includes three major planning elements: content, purpose and organisation of learning. However, curriculum design and implementation problems have taught us that it is wise to pay explicit attention to a more elaborated list of components. Elaborating on various typologies, we have come to adhere to a framework (see Table 9.2) of ten components that address ten specific questions about the planning of student learning.

Rationale or vision	Why are they learning?	
Aims and objectves	Towards which goals are they learning?	
Content	What are they learning?	
Learning activities	How are they learning?	
Teacher role	How is the teacher facilitating learning?	
Materials and resources	With what are they learning?	
Grouping	With whom are they learning?	
Location	Where are they learning?	
Time	When are they learning?	
Assessment	How to measure how far learning has progressed?	

Table	9.2:	Curriculum	components
lable	J.Z.	ouniculum	componenta

The 'rationale' (referring to overall principles or central mission of the plan) serves as a major orientation point, and the nine other components are ideally linked to that rationale, and preferably also consistent with one another. For each of the components many sub-questions are possible, not only on substantive issues (see the next section), but, for example, also on '*organisational*' aspects. For example, sub-questions concerning grouping, location and time would include:

- grouping
 - how are students allocated to various learning trajectories?
 - are students learning individually, in small groups, or in whole classes?
- location
 - are students learning in class, in the library, at home, or elsewhere?
 - what are the social and physical characteristics of the learning environment?
- time
 - how much time is available for various subject matter domains?
 - how much time can be spent on specific learning tasks?

Our preferred visualisation of the ten components is to arrange them as a spider's web (Figure 9.1), not only illustrating its many inter-connections, but also underlining its vulnerability. Thus, although the emphasis of curriculum design on specific components may vary over time, eventually some kind of alignment has to occur to maintain coherence. A striking example is the trend of integrating ICT into the curriculum, with initial attention usually on changes in materials, resources and location. Many implementation studies have exemplified the need for a more comprehensive approach and systematic attention given to the other components before one can expect robust changes.

Figure 9.1: Curricular spider's web



The spider's web also illustrates a familiar expression: every chain is only as strong as its weakest link. This seems to be a very appropriate metaphor for a curriculum as it points to the complexity of efforts to improve the curriculum in a balanced, consistent and sustainable manner.

Perspectives on substantive choices

A classic approach to the eternal question of what to include in the curriculum (or even more difficult, as well as urgent, what to exclude from it) is to search for a balance between three major sources or orientations for selection and priority setting.

- Knowledge: what is the academic and cultural heritage that seems essential for learning and future development?
- Society: which problems and issues seem relevant for inclusion from the perspective of societal trends and needs?
- Learner: which elements seem of vital importance for learning from the personal needs, educational needs and interests of the learners themselves?

Answers to these questions usually constitute the rationale for a curriculum. Inevitably, choices have to be made involving compromises between the various orientations (and their respective proponents and pressure groups). Often, efforts fail to arrive at generally acceptable, clear and practical solutions. The result of adding up all kinds of wishes is that curricula tend to become overloaded and fragmented. Implementation of such incoherent curricula tends to lead eventually to student frustration, failure and dropout.

How to create a better curriculum balance? Easy answers are not available, but a few alternatives seem to have some promise. First, in view of the multitude of (academic) knowledge claims, it sometimes helps to reduce the large number of separate subject domains to a more limited number of broader learning areas, combined with sharper priorities in learning aims (focusing on basic concepts and skills).

Second, referring to the avalanche of societal claims, more interaction between learning inside and outside the school may reduce the burden. However, the most effective response is probably to be more selective when reacting to all sorts of societal problems. As Cuban (1992) phrased it clearly: schools should not feel obliged to scratch the back of society every time society has an itch.

And third, looking at the learners' perspective, worldwide, many interesting efforts are going into making learning more challenging and intrinsically motivating by moving from traditional, teacher- and textbook-dominated

instruction towards more meaningful and activity-based learning approaches. Obviously, ICT creates new challenges, but it also offers new opportunities for addressing the substantive dilemmas described.

Development strategies

To sketch curriculum development as a problematic domain is actually an understatement. From a socio-political stance, it often seems more appropriate to describe it as a war zone, full of conflicts and battlefields between stakeholders with different values and interests. Problems manifest themselves in the (sometimes spectacular and persistent) gaps between the intended curriculum (as expressed in policy rhetoric), the implemented curriculum (real life in school and classroom practices), and the attained curriculum (as manifested in learners' experiences and outcomes). A typical consequence of these tensions is various frustrated groups of participants blaming each other for the failure of reforms or improvement activities.

Although such blaming games often seem rather unproductive, there are some serious critical remarks to be made about many curriculum development approaches worldwide. Firstly, many curriculum reform efforts are characterised by overly big innovation ambitions (especially those of politicians) within unrealistically short timelines and with very limited investment in people, especially teachers. Secondly, often there is a lack of coherence between the intended curriculum changes with other system components (especially teacher education and assessment/examination programmes). And lastly, but not least, timely and authentic involvement of all relevant stakeholders is often neglected.

From a strategic point of view, the literature has offered us many (technicalprofessional) models and strategies for curriculum development. Three prominent approaches are Tyler's (1949) *'rational-linear'* approach, Walker's (1990) *'deliberative'* approach, and Eisner's (1979) *'artistic'* approach. As it does not fit within the purpose of this article to explain these models in particular, the reader is referred to the educative text of Marsh and Willis (2003) and the overview of prominent approaches in Thijs and van den Akker (2009).

Obviously, the context and nature of the curriculum development task at hand will determine to a large extent what kind of strategy is indicated. It is noteworthy that we are beginning to see more *'blended'* approaches that integrate various trends and characteristics of recent design and development approaches in education (for an overview and a series of examples see van den Akker *et al.* (1999) and van den Akker and Kuiper (2008)). Some key characteristics of these are:

- Pragmatism: recognition that there is not a single perspective, overarching rationale or higher authority that can resolve all dilemmas for the curriculum choices to be made. The practical context and its users are in the forefront of curriculum design and enactment.
- Prototyping: evolutionary prototyping of curricular products and their subsequent representations in practice is viewed as more productive than quasi-rational and linear development approaches. Gradual, iterative approximation of curricular dreams into realities may prevent paralysis and frustrations. Formative evaluation of tentative, subsequent curriculum versions is essential for such curriculum improvement approaches.
- Communication: a communicative-relational style is desirable in order to arrive at the inevitable compromises between stakeholders with various roles and interests, and to create external consistency between all parties involved.
- Professional development: in order to improve the chances of successful implementation, there is a trend towards more integration of curriculum change and professional learning and development of all individuals and organisations involved.

D&DR is an approach that incorporates some of these characteristics, and it becomes even more promising when knowledge growth is added to it. D&DR can strengthen the knowledge base in the form of design principles that offer heuristic advice to curriculum development teams. It can do this, more than in common development practices, if deliberate attention is paid to the theoretical embedding of design issues, and empirical evidence is offered about the practicality and effectiveness of the curricular interventions in real user settings.

However, there are several persistent dilemmas for curriculum development that cannot easily be resolved, let alone through generic strategies. For example, how can aspirations for large-scale curriculum change and system accountability be combined with the need for local variations and ownership? The tension between these conflicting wishes can be somewhat reduced if one avoids the all too common *'one size fits all'* approach. More adaptive and flexible strategies avoid detailed elaboration and over-specification of central curriculum frameworks. Instead, they offer substantial options and flexibility for schools, teachers and learners. Although struggles about priorities for aims and content remain inevitable, the principle of *'less is more'* should be pursued. However, what is incorporated into a core curriculum should be clearly reflected in examination and assessment approaches.

The 'enactment' perspective (teachers and learners together create their own curriculum realities) is increasingly replacing the 'fidelity' perspective on implementation (teachers faithfully following curricular prescriptions from external sources). That trend puts even more emphasis on teachers as key people in curriculum change. Both individual and team learning is essential (Fullan,

2007). Teachers need to get out of their customary isolation. Collaborative design and piloting of curricular alternatives can be very productive (see, for example, Handelzalts, 2009), especially when experiences are exchanged and reflected upon in a structured curriculum discourse. Interaction with external facilitators can contribute to careful exploration of the '*zone of proximal development*' of teachers and their schools. Cross-fertilisation between curriculum, teachers, and school development is a *conditio sine qua non* for effective and sustainable curriculum improvement. The increasingly popular mission statements of schools to become attractive and inspiring environments for students and teachers can only be realised when such integrated scenarios are practised.

The potential of curriculum D&DR

Various motives for initiating and conducting curriculum D&DR should be mentioned. A basic motive stems from the experience that many research approaches (for example, experiments, surveys and correlational analyses), with their focus on descriptive knowledge, hardly provide prescriptions with useful solutions for a variety of D&DR problems in education. Probably the greatest challenge for professional designers is how to cope with the manifold uncertainties in their complex tasks in very dynamic contexts. If they do seek support from research to reduce these uncertainties, several frustrations often arise: answers are too narrow to be meaningful, too superficial to be instrumental, too artificial to be relevant, and, on top of these, they usually come too late to be of any use. Curriculum designers do appreciate more adequate information to create a solid ground for their choices and more timely feedback to improve their products. Moreover, the professional community of developers, as a whole, would be helped by a growing body of knowledge of theoretically underpinned and empirically tested design principles and methods.

Another reason for curricular D&DR stems from the highly ambitious and complex nature of many curriculum reform policies in education worldwide. These reform endeavours usually affect many system components, are often multi-layered including both large-scale policies and small-scale realisations, and are very comprehensive in terms of factors included and people involved. These radical *'revolutions'*, if promising at all, cannot be realised on the drawing table.

The scope of diverse needs is often very wide, the problems to be addressed are usually ill specified, the effectiveness of proposed interventions is mostly unknown beforehand, and the eventual success is highly dependent on implementation processes in a broad variety of contexts. Therefore, such curriculum reform efforts would profit from more evolutionary (interactive cyclical and spiral) approaches, with integrated research activities to feed the process (both forwards and backwards). Such an approach would provide more opportunities for *'successive approximation'* to the ideals and more strategic learning in general. In conclusion: curricular D&DR seems a wise and productive approach for curriculum development.

Features of curricular D&DR

Curricular D&DR is often initiated for complex, innovative interventions for which only very few validated principles are available to structure and support the design and development activities. Since, in these situations, the image and impact of the curricular intervention to be developed are often still unclear, the research focuses on realising limited, but promising, examples of these interventions. The aim is not to elaborate and implement complete interventions, but to come to (successive) prototypes that increasingly meet the innovative aspirations and requirements. The process is often iterative, cyclic or spiral: analysis, design, evaluation and revision activities are iterated until a satisfying balance between ideals and realisation has been achieved.

To what extent do these D&DR activities differ from what is typical for design and development approaches in professional practices? What are the implications of the accountability of researchers to the *'scientific forum'*? At the risk of exaggerating the differences, let us outline some of them based on what is known about routinised, standard patterns in curriculum development practices. Of course, a lot of activities are more or less common for both approaches, so the focus will be on those additional elements that are more prominent in design research than in common design and development practices.

(1) Preliminary investigation

A more intensive and systematic preliminary investigation of curriculum tasks, problems and context is made, including searching for more accurate and explicit connections of that analysis with state-of-the-art knowledge from literature. Some typical activities include: literature review, consultation of experts, analysis of available promising curriculum examples for related purposes, and study of current practice case studies to specify and better understand the needs and problems in intended user contexts.

(2) Theoretical embedding

More systematic efforts are made to apply state-of-the-art knowledge when articulating the theoretical rationale for curriculum design choices. Moreover, explicit feedback to assertions in the design rationale about essential characteristics of the intervention (substantive design principles) is made after empirical testing of its quality. This theoretical articulation can increase the *'transparency'* and *'plausibility'* of the rationale. Because of their specific focus,

these theoretical notions are usually referred to as '*mini*' or '*local*' theories, although sometimes connections can also be made to '*middle-range*' theories with a somewhat broader scope.

(3) Empirical testing

Clear empirical evidence is delivered about the practicality and effectiveness of the curriculum for the intended target group in real user settings. In view of the wide variation of possible interventions and contexts, a broad range of (direct/indirect and intermediate/ultimate) indicators for '*success*' should be considered.

(4) Documentation, analysis and reflection on process and outcomes

Much attention is paid to systematic documentation, analysis and reflection on the entire design, development, evaluation and implementation process, and on its outcomes in order to contribute to the expansion and specification of the methodology of curriculum design and development.

Typical questions for D&DR are:

- What are the essential features of successful interventions (for complicated challenges or *'wicked'* problems) (Kelly, 2009)?
- How do these interventions operate in real life?
- How can they be designed and implemented?

In view of its aim, D&DR is never a 'quick fix' operation, but it usually takes a long trajectory, where the research is intertwined with continuous development activities, from problem formulation up to and including implementation.

More than most other research approaches, D&DR aims at making both practical and scientific contributions. In the search for innovative 'solutions' for curriculum problems, interaction with practitioners (in various professional roles: teachers, policy-makers, developers, and the like) is essential. The ultimate aim is not to test whether theory, when applied to practice, is a good predictor of events. The interrelation between theory and practice is more complex and dynamic: is it possible to create a practical and effective curriculum for an existing problem or intended change in the real world? The innovative challenge is usually quite substantial, otherwise the research would not be initiated at all. Interaction with practitioners is needed to gradually clarify both the problem at stake and the characteristics of its potential solution. An iterative process of 'successive approximation' or 'evolutionary prototyping' of the 'ideal' intervention is desirable.

Direct application of theory is not sufficient to solve these complicated problems. One might state that a more *'constructivist'* development approach is preferable: researchers and practitioners cooperatively construct and test workable interventions and articulate principles that underpin the effects of those interventions.

Another reason for cooperation is that without the involvement of practitioners it is impossible to gain clear insight into potential curriculum implementation problems and to generate measures to reduce these problems. New interventions, however imaginative their design, require continuous anticipation of implementation issues. Not only for '*social*' reasons to build users' commitment and ownership, but also for '*technical*' benefits to improve their fitness for survival in real life contexts. Therefore, rigorous testing of practicality is a *conditio sine qua non* in D&DR.

Emphasis on formative evaluation

As has become clear in the previous sections, formative evaluation holds a prominent place in curricular design research. The main reason for this central role is that formative evaluation provides the information that feeds the optimisation of the intervention and the cyclical learning process of curriculum developers during the subsequent loops of a design and development trajectory. It is most useful when fully integrated into a cycle of analysis, design, evaluation, revision, etc., and when contributing to a curriculum's improvement.

Thus, the basic contribution of formative evaluation is quality improvement of the curriculum under development. '*Quality*', however, is an abstract concept that requires specification. During development processes, the emphasis in the criteria for quality usually shifts from relevance to consistency, practicality and effectiveness.

'*Relevance*' refers to the extent to which the intended curriculum is perceived to be a relevant improvement to practice, as seen from the varied perspectives of policy-makers, practitioners and researchers. '*Consistency*' refers to the extent to which the design of the curriculum is based on state-of-the-art knowledge and how the various components of the intervention are consistently linked to each other (cf. the curricular spider's web). '*Practicality*' refers to the extent to which users (and other experts) consider the intervention as clear, usable and costeffective in '*normal*' conditions. '*Effectiveness*' refers to the extent to which the experiences and outcomes resulting from the intervention are congruent with the intended aims. Also, issues of scalability and sustainability may be included in a broad interpretation of effectiveness.

The methods and techniques for evaluation will usually be attuned to that shift in criteria. For example, adequate evaluation of consistency can start with comments of critical friends on initial drafts and then move on to more systematic expert appraisal. Practicality is often tested via micro-evaluations and try-outs in real classroom practices. Evaluation of effectiveness usually requires (more large-scale) field tests. In later stages of formative evaluation, methods of data collection will usually be less intensive, but with an increasing number of respondents (for example, an achievement test for many students at the end compared to an in-depth interview with a few experts at the beginning). See Nieveen (2009) for more elaborate explanations and suggestions for these shifts in formative evaluation.

Formative evaluation within D&DR should not only concentrate on locating shortcomings of the intervention in its current (draft) version, but especially generate suggestions on how to improve these weak points. Richness of information – notably salient and meaningful suggestions for how to make an intervention stronger – is therefore more productive than standardising methods for collecting and analysing data. Efficient procedures are also crucial. The lower the costs in time and energy for data collection, processing, analysis and communication will be, the bigger the chances of actual use and impact on the development process. For example, samples of respondents and situations for data collection will usually be relatively small and purposive compared to sampling procedures for other research purposes. The added value of getting 'productive' information from more sources tends to decrease because the opportunities for 'rich' data collection methods (such as interviews and observations) are limited with big numbers. To avoid an overdose of uncertainty in data interpretation, often triangulation (of methods, instruments, sources and sites) is applied. These arguments especially hold true for the early stages of formative evaluation, when the intervention is still poorly crystallised.

Generalisation of curricular design research findings

The most practically relevant outcome of curricular D&DR is its contribution towards optimising the curricular product and its actual use, leading to better instructional processes and learning results. However, a major contribution to knowledge gained from D&DR is in the form of (both substantive and methodological) '*design principles*' for supporting developers in their task. These principles may be captured in (a growing set of) heuristic statements of a format such as:

- *If you want to design intervention* X [for purpose/function Y in context Z]
- *then you are best advised to give that intervention the characteristics* C₁, C₂,..., C_m [substantive emphasis]
- *and to do that via procedures* P₁, P₂, ..., P_n [methodological emphasis]
- because of theoretical arguments T1, T2, ..., Tp
- and empirical arguments E1, E2, ..., Eq.

Thus, the design principles include not only statements about the (substantive) *'what'* and (methodological) *'how'* of the intended interventions, but also offer theoretical explanations and empirical underpinning to justify these knowledge claims. Obviously these heuristic principles cannot guarantee success, but they are intended to select and apply the most appropriate (substantive and methodological) knowledge for specific design and development tasks.

It is not uncommon in D&DR for such knowledge, especially the substantive knowledge about essential curriculum characteristics, to be partially extracted from the resulting prototype itself. That is one of the reasons that make it so profitable to search for and carefully analyse already available curricula to generate ideas for new design tasks. However, the value of that knowledge will strongly increase when justified by theoretical arguments, well articulated in providing directions, and convincingly backed up with empirical evidence about the impact of these principles. Moreover, these heuristic principles will be additionally powerful if they have been validated in the successful design of more interventions in more contexts. Chances for such knowledge growth will increase when D&DR is not conducted through isolated studies, but conducted within the framework of research programmes, because projects can then build upon one another (*'standing on shoulders'*). Such a strategy also increases the chances of achieving a sharper insight into the essence of successful interventions versus variations in other features.

Since data collection in D&DR, especially during formative curriculum evaluation, is often limited to small (and purposive) samples, efforts to generalise findings cannot be based on statistical techniques, focusing on generalisations from sample to population. Instead, one has to invest in *'analytical'* forms of generalisation (Yin, 2003): readers/users need to be supported to make their own attempts to explore the potential transfer of the research findings to theoretical propositions in relation to their own context.

Reports on D&DR can facilitate the task of 'analogy reasoning' through a clear theoretical articulation of the design principles applied, and by reflecting on the results afterwards. Moreover, it is helpful to offer a careful description of both the evaluation procedures as well as the implementation context. This is particularly the case since a detailed description of the process-in-context may increase the 'ecological' validity of the findings. Consequently, others can estimate in what respects and to what extent transfer from the reported situation to their own is possible. Another option, that may stimulate exploration of possibilities for (virtual) generalisation and transfer to various settings, is to organise interactive (network) meetings with experts and practitioners from related contexts to discuss the plausibility of the research findings and recommendations for related tasks and contexts. In view of the rapidly growing, but still relatively modest, familiarity of (curricular) D&DR to the wider audience, it is wise to invest much in the *'transparency'*, *'plausibility'*, *'trustworthiness'* and *'reconstructiveness'* of its arguments and findings. Also at stake is the *'credibility'* (expertise in depth and breadth, and track record) of the research team and its partners.

Last, but not least, curricular D&DR may offer drafts of various relevant curriculum versions (with proven consistency and practicality) that can be compared in more quantitative, large-scale, (quasi-) experimental studies. Obviously, these more summative evaluations are best done by other independent researchers not previously involved in the design stage.

Epilogue: knowledge growth through international cooperation in curricular design and development research

The previous section has already touched upon the promise of (programmatic) cooperation in (curricular) D&DR. The Consortium of Institutions for Development and Research in Education in Europe (CIDREE), with its strong focus on curriculum development and research, seems an excellent forum for international exchange and collaboration in this domain. All CIDREE member institutions have an interest in the high quality of their work and particularly in research-informed approaches for their curriculum activities. However, although there is not a systematic overview of the specific practices of the various institutions, it seems fair to say that, probably for all partners, there is quite some room for improvement in bringing the worlds of (curriculum) development and research closer together. Actually, on a broader level, it is realistic to note that in many countries the worlds of policy, research and practices in schools and classrooms are more separated than is desirable. There are no simple mechanisms to bridge all such gaps, but a few things would help to address some of these challenges. In particular, it would be attractive to invest in:

- creating a systematic overview of relevant D&DR (or related) approaches in curriculum development by CIDREE institutions
- exchanging these findings and stimulating capacity building on D&DR across CIDREE institutions through publications, workshops and seminars
- organising joint symposia within existing conferences; for example, in recent years the annual European Conference on Educational Research (ECER), in particular through its Curriculum Network, has already been used for several such meetings; the best example being a symposium on Curriculum Development Research in European Curriculum Institutes organised by Nienke Nieveen from SLO (the Netherlands institute for curriculum development), on 27 September, 2010 in Helsinki.

Thus, knowledge sharing and distribution through systemic partnerships and networks seems relevant. The impact of such efforts will grow if the cooperation between D&DR professionals is elaborated further (in specific projects or more in general) through the involvement and joint professional development of many other partners, notably teachers, school leaders and teacher educators.

The more these collaborative patterns become reality, the more D&DR will provide a very promising avenue for successful (effective and sustainable) curriculum improvement and innovation.

References

Cuban, L. (1992). 'Curriculum stability and change.' In: Jackson, P. (Ed.) *Handbook of Research on Curriculum*. New York, NY: Macmillan.

Eisner, E. (1979). *The Educational Imagination: on the Design and Evaluation of Educational Programs*. New York, NY: Macmillan.

Fullan, M. (2007). *The New Meaning of Educational Change* (Fourth edn). New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

Goodlad, J. (1994). 'Curriculum as a field of study.' In: Husén, T and Postlethwaite, T. (Eds) *The International Encyclopedia of Education*. Oxford: Pergamon Press.

Hargreaves, A. and Fink, D. (2006). *Sustainable Leadership*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Handelzaltz, A. (2009). *Collaborative Curriculum Development in Teacher Design Teams*. Doctoral dissertation. Enschede, The Netherlands: University of Twente.

Kelly, A. (2009). 'When is design research appropriate?' In: Plomp, T. and Nieveen, N. (Eds). *An Introduction to Educational Design Research*. Enschede, The Netherlands: SLO.

Kelly, A., Lesh, R. and Baek, J. (Eds). (2008). *Handbook of Design Research Methods in Education Innovations in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics Learning and Teaching*. New York, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Leyendecker, R. (2008). *Curriculum Reform in Sub-Saharan Africa; Opportunities and Obstacles*. Doctoral dissertation. Enschede, The Netherlands: University of Twente.

Marsh, C., and Willis, P. (2003). *Curriculum: Alternative Approaches, Ongoing Issues* (Third edn). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill/PrenticeHall.

Nieveen, N. (2009). 'Formative evaluation in educational design research.' In: Plomp, T. and Nieveen, N. (Eds). *An Introduction to Educational Design Research*. Enschede, The Netherlands: SLO.

Pinar, W., Reynolds, W., Slattery, P. and Taubman, P. (1995). *Understanding Curriculum: an Introduction to the Study of Historical and Contemporary Curriculum Discourses*. New York, NY: Peter Lang.

Plomp, T. (2009). 'Educational design research: an introduction. In: Plomp, T. and Nieveen, N. (Eds). *An introduction to Educational Design Research*. Enschede, The Netherlands: SLO.

Plomp, T. and Nieveen, N. (Eds) (2009). *An introduction to Educational Design Research*. Enschede, The Netherlands: SLO.

Reinking, D. and Bradley, B. (2008). *On Formative and Design Experiments: Approaches to Language and Literacy Research*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

Richey, R. and Klein, J. (2007). *Design and Development Research: Methods, Strategies and Issues*. London: Routledge.

Taba, H. (1962). *Curriculum Development: Theory and Practice*. New York, NY: Harcourt, Brace and World.

Thijs, A. and van den Akker, J. (2009). *Curriculum in Development*. Enschede, The Netherlands: SLO.

Tyler, R. (1949). *Basic Principles of Curriculum and Instruction*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Van den Akker, J. (1999). 'Principles and methods of development research.' In: van den Akker, J., Branch, J. R. M., Gustafson, K., Nieveen, N. M. and Plomp, T. (Eds). *Design Approaches and Tools in Education and Training*. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Van den Akker, J. (2003). 'Curriculum perspectives: an introduction.' In van den Akker, J., Kuiper, W. and Hameyer, U. (Eds). *Curriculum Landscapes and Trends*. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Van den Akker, J., Branch, J.R.M., Gustafson, K., Nieveen, N.M. and Plomp, T. (Eds) (1999). *Design Approaches and Tools in Education and Training*. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Van den Akker, J., Gravemeijer, K., McKenney, S. and Nieveen, N. (Eds) (2006). *Educational Design Research*. London: Routledge.

Van den Akker, J. and Kuiper, W. (2008). 'Research on models for instructional design: towards more productive approaches.' In: Spector, J., Merrill, D., van Merrienboer, J. and Driscoll, M. (Eds) *Handbook of Research on Educational Technology and Communications* (Third edn). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Van den Akker, J. and Plomp, T. (1993). 'Development research in curriculum: propositions and experiences.' Paper presented at the American Educational Research Association meeting, Atlanta, Georgia, 12–14 April.

Walker, D. (1990). Fundamentals of Curriculum. Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt Brace.

Yin, R. K. (2003). Case study research: Design and methods. London: Sage.

10 Efficiency in education: 20 years of talk and no progress?

Stefan C. Wolter



Dr Stefan C. Wolter is the Director of the Swiss Coordination Centre for Research in Education (SKBF) in Aarau. He will be president of CIDREE from 2011 to 2012.

He is also Honorary Professor of Economics of Education at the Department of Economics at the University of Bern, where he heads the Centre for Research in Economics of Education. In addition,

he is President of the Council of the Swiss Federal Institute for Vocational Education and Training, and Co-Director of the Swiss Leading House on the Economics of Education, a research joint venture of the Universities of Bern and Zurich, financed by the Swiss Confederation.

His research fields are the economics of education, education policies and labour economics. He has published some forty peer-reviewed, academic journal articles in the fields of economics, education and sociology. He is a research fellow of the Institute for the Future of Labour (IZA) in Bonn and the Centre for Economics Studies (CESifo) in Munich. Past offices include the presidency of the Swiss Society for Research in Education, member of the board of the European Educational Research Association and member of the National Economic Council of Switzerland.

Professor Wolter has worked as an expert consultant for the OECD on a number of country reviews and also at the headquarters of the OECD in Paris (2002). He has represented Switzerland on the Governing Board of the Centre for Educational Research and Innovation (CERI) of OECD since 1999. He is currently one of the Vice-Presidents of the Education Policy Committee of the OECD.

Email: stefan.wolter@skbf-csre.ch

Efficiency in education: 20 years of talk and no progress?

Stefan C. Wolter

Abstract

This article will show, grounded on the different theoretical concepts of efficiency, where the problems in empirically measuring efficiency (or cost-effectiveness) in education lie. With each concept of efficiency, practical examples from the educational system will be cited, helping the reader to understand the difficulties that measuring efficiency present in reality. Thereby, a partial answer will be given to the claim in the title that says we have been talking about efficiency a lot, but we have not made much progress in empirically measuring it. The consequences of this are twofold. Firstly, educational policy-makers will not renounce making statements about the efficiency of the educational system and make decisions based on the assumed efficiency of the system in the absence of verifiable empirical observations. Secondly, therefore, and in the interest of the actors in the educational system, the system itself should make greater efforts in the future to collect data and allow researchers to measure the efficiency of the educational processes, even if some of the outcomes might be disappointing.

Introduction

'Efficiency' is a controversial but, nevertheless, more and more often-used term in educational policy-making. There is hardly a statement of educational ministers nowadays that does not stress the need for more efficiency in educational processes. However, one finds hardly any convincing analyses of efficiency in education in the empirical research literature. Simplifying this, one could say that the frequency of the use of the term 'efficiency' in educational policy statements is inversely proportional to the frequency of research results on 'efficiency'. This might be explained by the seemingly very easy to understand concept of efficiency on the one hand, and the many difficulties and pitfalls that one encounters when trying to apply efficiency concepts to the realities of educational processes, on the other hand. Efficiency measures the extent to which actions and measures (inputs) taken to reach established objectives (outputs) have an impact. In more specific terms, this means that efficiency is an indicator of the relationship that exists between the system inputs and outputs.

This article intends, therefore, to highlight the different concepts of efficiency and their suitability for educational questions. It looks at the difficulties encountered when trying to use these concepts empirically in the educational context. It also looks at the research and data needs that have to be met, if one really wants to progress in the measurement of efficiency in education. It is only if these difficulties are overcome that one can expect efficiency in education to become more than just a rhetorical tool for politicians.

Why should efficiency matter in education?

In general, and in almost all countries, efficiency is not an official objective for education systems. It is not referred to, therefore, in most education laws and administrative documents. So why does efficiency appear more and more in policy statements of education ministers – not to mention those of finance ministers?

When allocating resources or introducing incentives into the education system, education administrations and researchers have, if anything, focused on whether the resources or incentives lead to the achievement of the established objectives. This is the so-called '*effectiveness*' educational measure. However, the effective use of resources does not always equate to the efficient use of resources and, as far as the education system is concerned, efficiency is essential for at least three reasons.

First, even the education system is subject to the imperative of achieving a maximum with a minimum of resources. This does not mean that the education system needs to emulate the private sector's profit motive. Since resources are limited everywhere, they must always be used carefully. The reason for the need for an efficient use of resources is the fact that the same resources (both time and money) used in education could also be used to address other social or individual needs. For example, if students in compulsory education are able to acquire pre-determined levels of skills in mathematics or foreign languages with a smaller number of lessons, then sufficient time will be available to educate them in music, sports and other disciplines as well. If pupils or students attain their competence levels in less time, more time is available for either more education or non-educational activities. These may not be undertaken if all the available time was inefficiently spent on achieving the initial goals.

Secondly, efficiency is an attractive proposition because the higher returns also have a positive effect on outcomes (either social or individual ones), at the same time as increasing outputs per resource unit. If the education system is able to produce more competent students using the given resources, the resulting improvement in skills will then have a positive effect upon other areas, such as health, social behaviour and many other areas besides. Last but not least, bearing in mind the most recent research findings, one must be aware of the impact of the '*felt*' degree of efficiency in the educational system on the individual, and the collective willingness to finance education. In other words, the higher the subjective belief that the education system uses public resources efficiently, the higher the willingness to grant the educational system even more resources (and vice versa).

Definition of the most common concepts of efficiency

The available literature draws distinctions between various concepts of efficiency and it is of the utmost importance to clarify these before talking about efficiency and which concept one has in mind. The results, for instance, could be the converse, depending on the concept one has used to determine efficiency.

The correlation between inputs and the specific outputs of the education system (for example, skills) is referred to as the *'internal'* efficiency. It describes the efficiency of the use of resources within the education system. The influence that education has on social (for example, economic growth) or individual objectives (for example, salary, health and social status) is referred to as the *'external'* efficiency. This describes the degree of efficiency in achieving these outcomes through the channels of education.

The result of efficiency calculations based on real inputs (for example, number of teachers and number of school hours or years) is referred to as the 'technical' efficiency. The result of a monetary-based calculation of inputs (that is the multiplication of real inputs with cost prices), is referred to as the 'economic' efficiency.

Education system performance is never achieved on the basis of a single input. However, combinations of inputs (such as teaching staff and teaching materials) are not rigidly defined and can be varied, and are, therefore, also a source of a more or less efficient combinations of inputs. This form of efficiency is called the *'allocation'* efficiency.

All of these efficiency indicators can be used to assess an education system's performance. Therefore, it is important to know which advantages and disadvantages are associated with the different concepts and also what interrelations might exist between them.

Problems in determining internal efficiency

A major challenge to measuring efficiency in an education system is the fact that no unequivocal theoretical concept has been devised to determine how resources (inputs) in the education process affect outputs (the imparting of skills). As no such conceptual framework exists, it is not possible to calculate a theoretical, maximum efficiency level. This means that the efficiency of the education system can only be assessed over time or by comparing education systems (or education providers). Such comparisons will then yield information only about the *'relative efficiency'* of a specific education system or education providers (for example, schools). Once this has been done, it then becomes possible to make statements regarding whether or not the system and/or providers are becoming more or less efficient over time. We can also gain insights into efficiency gaps between a given education system and the most efficient education system known (although, from a theoretical standpoint, other more efficient education systems may also exist).

If we examine our education systems in this way, it becomes immediately clear that the quality of an efficiency assessment hinges on whether both inputs and outputs can be recorded in a sufficiently standardised form to enable full comparability either over time or between individual providers. A problem is apparent when we realise that in order to compare the efficiency of resource use over time, it must also be possible for outputs to be compared over time. If student skills are defined as an output, then this presupposes, on a practical level, that skills determined on the basis of a variety of tests must remain comparable over long periods of time.

Finally, we must also take into account that any comparison of input–output relationships will only be meaningful or useful for policy-makers if the general conditions in which education is provided are comparable (the same holds true when assessing effectiveness and equity). Specifically, this means that in order to compare the efficiency of School A and School B, the general conditions must be roughly the same (for example, they should have the same resources and similar types of students and parents). In other words, for School A to be truly more efficient than School B, it would need to be capable of achieving greater levels of efficiency in resource use than School B under the conditions that the latter operates. Since equal conditions are usually not the case, extensive statistical processes, which are again conditioned on many assumptions, must first be applied to adjust the input and output of Schools A and B to ensure the comparison is valid. In other words, one does not compare the actual input-output relations between School A and School B. Rather the comparison is between the actual relation of input and output of School A to a hypothetical input–output relation of School B, had the latter been producing it under the same conditions as school A. As one can easily see from this example, even relative measures of efficiency are not as straightforward as many politicians, bureaucrats and journalists might like to believe.
External efficiency and causality

A great many objectives that serve the interests of individuals and society (for example, good health, happiness and democracy) are at least statistically positively correlated to the levels of education of individuals or a whole society. If efficiency is to be transposed to education objectives (outcomes), it is important to understand that the mere existence of a positive correlation between the level of education and outcome does not necessarily mean that the outcome was actually caused by education.¹

In some cases, considerable time has passed between the moment when an individual has completed his/her studies and the moment when the outcome manifests itself. This would be one reason for a limited causal relationship or no causal relationship whatsoever. If individuals who receive a good education actually live longer, so much more time will have passed between the provision of that education and the age reached by the individuals concerned that it would be extremely difficult to prove the existence of a direct correlation between education and life expectancy.

Problems of interpretation can also arise when factors that have a positive influence upon the outcome (in this case, a long life expectancy) also enable the same individual to remain in education and training for a longer period. In such cases, there may very well be a positive correlation between the increase in life expectancy and the level of education achieved. However, there will be no, or only a minor, causal relationship. Such considerations have a direct bearing on efficiency. If a causal relationship between education and outcome (and the same also applies to education system outputs) is overestimated, the efficiency of resource use will also be overestimated.

Finally, it is possible that education may also affect desirable outcomes in a number of indirect ways (for example, individual remuneration level). After all, if people on higher incomes can afford to pay for better healthcare and, therefore, remain in better health, there will be a positive correlation between their health and their level of education, as more highly educated individuals tend to earn more on average. In this case, the effect of the level of education on life expectancy would be an indirect one. As far as external efficiency is concerned, the additional question raised would, therefore, be: is education definitely the most efficient means of improving health or could the same effect be more efficiently achieved by means of social transfers to the needy?

The important difference between technical and economic efficiency

When devising educational policy, it is important to draw a distinction between technical and economic efficiency. This is particularly important when deciding which sectors of the education system should be the target of efficiency measures. In analysing the technical efficiency in the teaching of mathematics, for example, the main focus is on determining whether students will acquire the same level of mathematical skills in all schools with the same number of mathematics lessons. In order to calculate economic efficiency, we would multiply the actual input quantity (in this case, the number of lessons) by the price (the salaries of teaching staff) and then perform our analysis. In this example, it is clear that the ranking of the most efficient schools or education systems is not always the same from a technical and economic efficiency standpoint.

If schools that achieve the highest skills in mathematics with a given number of mathematics lessons (and therefore the highest technical efficiency) also pay the highest salaries to their teaching staff, then these schools will not necessarily achieve the highest economic efficiency levels. If *'cheaper'* teachers prove to be less effective, then there is a trade-off between the technical and the economic efficiency, such that only one could be maximised at a time.

Details regarding technical efficiency are important because they enable us to determine which teaching staff, schools or education systems use the most efficient teaching methods and teaching programmes. But economic efficiency must also be taken into account when deciding whether the actual inputs provide good value for money.

Regarding economic efficiency, one important element for the correctness of the efficiency measurement is that input and output cover the same quantities. If the total quantity of the output is taken (rather than the corresponding input measure), this will lead to an overestimation of efficiency. A frequent example is the case where only the last observed input(s) are taken, but the output is a result of a stream of input(s) over time. For instance, if the competences of pupils of a certain age are determined only by taking the last educational spending, the fact that measured output is a cumulative result of a longer investment is neglected. In this case, only the difference of competences before and after the observed investment period should be taken into account. A similar problem arises if, for example, educational institutions have not had the same pattern of investments over time, but due to limited availability of data on investments, only the last measures would be taken as input.

Conversely, if the inputs are used for more than just the observed output, measurement errors and biases can arise. The classic example is the case of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) trying to measure the efficiency of educational systems, using (correctly) the cumulated educational expenditure per pupil until the time when pupils were measured at age 15, but using the PISA results as the only output measure. Even if one could assume that all the unmeasured parts of the curriculum have the same quality as the measured ones, the error in this case lies in the definition of the quantity of the output. Whereas the input covers quantitatively all inputs made, the output covers a varying part of the total curriculum. Consequently, countries that have, for instance, invested much of their inputs in the learning of foreign languages, are not comparable to countries that have invested the totality of their inputs in the measured competences. Assuming that the investments have been effective in all countries, the former ones will be penalised with a low efficiency result.

Distinguishing between economic and technical efficiency is also important when assessing efficiency trends over time. Empirical research has shown that a system's declining efficiency trend can largely be attributed to a rise in input costs at a time when output has stagnated (see, for example, Hanushek and Rifkin, 1997). Even if the number of teaching hours, teaching materials or infrastructure used – and hence technical efficiency – remained constant, economic efficiency would actually decline because the actual cost of these inputs increased. When examining the situation in Europe, distinguishing between economic and technical efficiency is especially important. If we were to view economic efficiency in isolation, it would be possible for the information to be misinterpreted, as input costs not only vary over time, they also vary considerably from one country to another.

Inputs must be combined

All things considered, efficiency is not solely a matter of comparing the quantity and cost of inputs to output. It is also a matter of finding the right combination of inputs. Achieving an efficient mix of inputs (for example, teaching staff and teaching materials), and, thus, maximising allocation efficiency is just as important as the individual inputs themselves and the effect achieved by inputs in isolation.

To illustrate this point, let us consider a hypothetical situation where an education authority needs to decide whether to allocate additional resources to reduce class size (in effect, hire more teachers) or to purchase technical aids such as new learning software. Though the cost of each of the inputs (teaching staff and learning software) could be exactly the same, the available funds could well be allocated more efficiently if they were used, for example, to purchase more

learning software instead of hiring additional teachers. This basically means that it is the combination of inputs that plays a decisive role, and not the quantity alone.

Comparing the efficiency of education systems or education providers is not a simple matter since each operates on the basis of different quantities and combinations of inputs. From a technical perspective, analyses of this type can still be carried out, provided an appropriate method is used (in this case, the so-called data envelopment analysis (DEA)).

An additional factor that hampers any attempt to analyse allocation efficiency has to do with the potential interactions between individual inputs. In many cases, not enough is known about such interactions. It stands to reason, therefore, that the effectiveness of deploying learning software will depend to a considerable degree on the quality of training provided to the teaching staff in a given school, since such training will enable them to use the software in the optimal way. If such training is not provided, or is only provided to a limited number of teachers, then the large-scale deployment of learning software in the classroom will have only a limited impact. In other cases, however, the interaction between individual inputs may well be less obvious; and the state-ofthe-art in empirical educational research cannot be judged sufficient to provide the insight necessary to draw the right conclusions from efficiency calculations using combined inputs.

Efficiency is also a matter of perspective

Efficiency considerations can be applied at '*macro*', '*meso*' and '*micro*' levels within an education system. On a macro level, all inputs can be related to the overall output of an education system. On a meso level, this interrelationship can be established for individual entities (for example, schools). At a micro level, it is then possible to apply the same evaluation method to individual teaching staff or students. In addition, the efficiency of individual stakeholders within the education system can also be assessed.

With regard to specific objectives at the macro level, society itself must decide whether the resources used within the education system may be more effectively allocated elsewhere. At the meso level, schools and teaching staff are required to use the resources at their disposal in the most efficient manner and combination possible in order to ensure student success in the classroom. And, finally, at the micro level, the students themselves also consider the efficiency factor when allocating their time to different tasks and goals. Although students have little control over the main output-related factors within the education system (for example, the quality of teaching staff and learning resources), students are still required on a daily basis to think about how to use their time and the available resources most efficiently. But, although education system performance also depends on the participation of students in the learning process, most efficiency analyses either fail to monitor student behaviour, or do so only in a rudimentary fashion.

Averages and marginal analyses

Thus far, empirical analysis of the relationships between inputs and outputs has generally been limited to comparing averages of different systems or institutions. However, only rarely is the difference between two averages useful for demonstrating how the output would change, all other parameters remaining equal, if the input were to increase by one unit (marginal analysis).

If a school that uses twice the number of mathematics lessons than the average used by all other schools enables its students to acquire mathematical skills that are more than twice as advanced as those achieved by the other schools, then that school not only deploys the additional number of lessons in an effective manner, but does so with greater efficiency. But we cannot automatically conclude that a subsequent doubling of the number of lessons by this efficient school would once again give rise to a similar doubling of the skill levels attained. Most probably it would not because, when allocating inputs, we must assume that these generate an always decreasing additional return (the '*marginal return*'). For this reason, increasing the inputs often gives rise to a decrease in average efficiency, even if student output also increases as a result.

No firm pronouncements on this issue can be made, despite the fact that it is of crucial importance in terms of educational policy, since relatively few controlled experiments (which would be the only convincing empirical strategy) have been conducted with the specific aim of acquiring knowledge for strategic planning purposes. We can only assume that, in general, more of already efficiently used resources usually decreases the level of efficiency, while using other resources or using existing resources differently, has a chance to improve given levels of efficiency.

A look into the future

The main argument of this article is that research has not been able to provide many convincing examples of efficiency analysis. This is due to the complexity of measuring efficiency, the scarcity of empirical data, the lack of trustworthy analyses of causality, and the variety of sometimes conflicting concepts of efficiency. As a result, bureaucrats and politicians should be very careful when using the term '*efficiency*'. Due to the difficulties in determining and calculating efficiency, it is not possible to make either general pronouncements as to the efficiency of the system as a whole, or specific statements about individual education providers today. This, however, does not mean that efficiency, as one of the main criteria with which to assess the educational system, is useless because in the absence of scientifically proven measures of efficiency, it will be substituted by individual and collective subjective measures. Irrespective of whether or not these are wrong or right, these subjective measures will then influence policy-making and the general willingness of policy-makers to finance and support education.

Although it would be overconfident to expect scientifically valid measures of efficiency in a short period of time, this does not relieve us of the need to double our efforts and come up with some solid and valid measures. In the end, progress in the measurement of efficiency will be for the benefit of all stakeholders in education, and a lack of progress here is likely to hamper our room for manoeuvre as political and public pressure on educational spending increases.

Reference

Hanushek, E. and Rifkin. J. (1997). 'Understanding the twentieth-century growth in U.S. school spending', *Journal of Human Resources*, **1**, 35–68.

Note

1 Causality is essential for all concepts of efficiency. The reason for highlighting causality in the context of external efficiency is that the causal relation between input and outcome is, in general, much more difficult to prove than the relation between input and output in the educational process. However, the danger of calculating senseless measures of efficiency is also common in the context of internal efficiency, as this example for technical efficiency should highlight. Suppose that it is difficult to measure the real input in the educational production of a school and that, therefore, assuming that the richness of the school buildings is a good proxy for the real inputs, the researchers takes the number of trees in the school yard as the input. Technically, this is not a problem and the researcher will be able to calculate measures of efficiency using the number of trees as the input and the pupils' performances as the output. The nonsense of this procedure becomes apparent when realising that the results predict that by chopping down the trees the schools could improve their efficiency. This drastic example of possible mistakes in empirical efficiency analyses should demonstrate that every time a causal relation between the input and the output is only assumed but not proven, the derived efficiency measures are near to worthless.

Previously published in this CIDREE yearbook series:

- 1. Turning the Perspective. New Outlooks for Education
- 2. A Europe of Differences. Educational Responses for Interculturalism
- **3.** Becoming the Best. Educational Ambitions for Europe
- 4. The Integrated Person. How Curriculum Development Relates to New Competencies
- 5. Different Faces of Citizenship. Development of Citizenship Education in European Countries
- **6.** Schools for Quality. What Data-based Approaches Can Contribute
- 7. The Education of 4 to 8 Year-Olds -Re-designing School Entrance Phase
- 8. A toolkit for the European citizen The implementation of Key Competences. Challenges and opportunities.
- **9.** Many Voices Language Policy and Practice in Europe Emerging challenges and innovative responses

ISBN: 978 1 906792 70 1





